
Democratic Service
Swyddfa’r Cyngor

CAERNARFON
Gwynedd
LL55 1SH

www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru

Meeting

SACRE

Date and Time

1.00 pm, WEDNESDAY, 12TH JUNE, 2019

Location

Siambr Hywel Dda - Swyddfeydd y Cyngor, Caernarfon

Contact Point

Rhonwen Jones
01286 679780

RhonwenJones@gwynedd.llyw.cymru
(DISTRIBUTED 04/06/19)

Complete Agenda

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/


SACRE

MEMBERSHIP (7)

Plaid Cymru (4)

Councillors

Paul John Rowlinson Elin Walker Jones Menna Baines
Judith Mary Humphreys

Independent (3)

Councillors

Richard Medwyn Hughes Dewi Wyn Roberts
Mike Stevens

Ex-officio Members
Chair and Vice-Chair of the Council 

Christians and Other Religions 

Awaiting Nomination Methodist Church
Awaiting Nomination The Independents
Dr W Gwyn Lewis Presbyterian Church of Wales
Eirian Bradley Roberts Catholic Church
Anest Gray Frazer Yr Eglwys yng Nghymru
Vacant Seat Union of Welsh Baptists

Teachers

Alwen Watkin ASCL
Miriam A. Amlyn NAS/UWT
Cathryn Davey UCAC
Heledd Jones NUT
Awaiting Nomination ATL

Co-Opted Members:

Parchedig Aled Davies



A G E N D A

1.  PRAYER

Quiet reflection or prayer.

2.  ELECTION OF CHAIR

To elect a Chairman for this Committee for 2019-20.

3.  ELECTION OF VICE-CHAIR

To elect a Vice-Chairman for this committee for 2019-20..

4.  WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS

5.  APOLOGIES

6.  DECLARATION OF PERSONAL INTEREST

7.  MINUTES 5 - 9

The Chairman shall propose that the minutes of the previous meeting of this 
committee held on the 7th November 2018 be signed as a true record.

8.  MATTERS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES 10 - 11

 Bangor University Proposal ‘Re-connect’.
 Kirsty Williams, letter of response.

9.  CABINET REPORT ON CHANGES TO THE SACRE MEMBERSHIP  
02/04/19

12 - 17

10.  PRESENTATION ON THE NEW CURRICULUM FOR WALES 2022 18 - 105

With particular attention to Humanities’ and Religious Education aspects.
 
Presented by:
 

         Nia Clwyd Jones, Ysgol Bodedern.
         Helen Bebb, Temporary Professional Officer.

11.  RESPONSES TO THE NEW  CURRICULUM FOR WALES  2022 
CONSULTATION

106 - 115



12.  GWYNEDD SCHOOLS SELF EVALUATIONS - SPRING TERM 
2019

116 - 130

13.  GWYNEDD SCHOOLS SELF EVALUATIONS - SUMMER TERM 
2019

131 - 144

14.  SACRE ANNUAL DRAFT  REPORT 2017-18 145 - 170

To consider a draft annual report for 2017/18 prior to publishing a final copy.

15.  HIGHLIGHT ISSUES FOR INFORMATION 171 - 185

 Collective Worship session questionnaire – Llanllechid.
 WASACRE Minutes 26/03/19.
 Response to the ESTYN Thematic Review of Religious Education at 

KS2 and KS3.
 Humanities newsletter – September Work Shops.



SACRE 07.11.18

1

S.A.C.R.E – STANDING ADVISORY COUNCIL
ON RELIGIOUS EDUCATION 

07/11/18

Present: Councillor Paul Rowlinson (Chair)
Councillor Elin Walker Jones (Vice-chair) 

Gwynedd Council Members: Councillors Menna Baines, Judith Humphreys, Dewi Wyn Roberts, 
Mike Stevens.

 
Christians and Other Faiths: Eirian Bradley-Roberts (The Catholic Church), Tracy Ann Richards 
Jones (Bangor Diocese), Elisabeth M Roberts (Union of Welsh Baptists)

Teachers: Cathryn Davey (Ysgol Llanystumdwy), Miriam Amlyn (NASUWT)

Officers:  Mai Bere (Assistant Education Officer and SACRE Clerk), Siôn Huws (Senior 
Corporate Solicitor) and Einir Rh. Davies (Members’ Support Officer).

Apologies:     Cllr R. Medwyn Hughes, Anest Gray Frazer (Church in Wales), Alwen Watkin and 
Heledd Jones (Teachers Unions)   
 
1. PRAYER

The meeting was opened with a prayer from Councillor Paul Rowlinson.   

2. ELECTION OF CHAIR

Resolved: To elect Councillor Paul Rowlinson as Chair of this Committee for 2018/19.

3. ELECTION OF VICE-CHAIR

Resolved: To elect Councillor Elin Walker Jones as Vice-chair of this Committee for 
2018/19.

4. APOLOGIES

The above-mentioned apologies were received. 

5. DECLARATION OF PERSONAL INTEREST 

There were no declarations of personal interest.

6. URGENT ITEMS

No urgent items were received.

7. MINUTES

The Chair signed the minutes of the previous meeting of this Committee that took place on 
8 November 2017 and 20 June 2018, as a true record.  

Page 5

Agenda Item 7



SACRE 07.11.18

2

8. AGREED SYLLABUS CONFERENCE  

Miriam Amlyn expressed her disappointment as the material continued to be unavailable in 
Welsh, despite it being available in English. It was noted that this was a problem in other 
subjects as well. It was confirmed that a letter had already been written to Kirsty Williams, 
noting the above concern. 

Concern was expressed amongst the Members again as the material was only available in 
English. It was suggested that the Chair should consider writing another clear and strongly 
worded letter for the attention of the Cabinet Member, Kirsty Williams, the Language 
Commissioner, Siân Gwenllïan, Garem Jackson, with a copy to be sent to Dyfrig Siencyn, 
Eluned Morgan and Dilwyn Williams. 

In was noted that there could possibly be further changes in 2020 and in light of this, 
consideration should be given to adhering to the exemplar Framework for the time being. 

Recommended: To ask the Chair to write to the above to express the concern of 
SACRE about the lack of Welsh-medium materials, and to keep to the current 
Framework for the time being. 

9. SACRE CONSTITUTION 

(a) A request had been received from the Humanists to serve as voting members on the 
Gwynedd SACRE.  

(b) The Senior Solicitor explained that local authorities had a statutory responsibility to 
create SACREs and the Constitution was the responsibility of the Cabinets of those 
Authorities; however, the SACRE could co-opt members.  Reference was made to a 
letter dated 3 May 2018 from Kirsty Williams, noting that Welsh Government's current 
view was:  

"to ensure compatibility with the Human Rights Act 1998 the provisions relating to the 
constitutions of SACREs and ASCs in the 1996 Act are to be interpreted as permitting 
the appointment of persons who represent holders of non-religious beliefs in the same 
way as they permit the appointment of persons who represent holders of religious 
beliefs..." She went on to note, "an appointment is dependent on the relevant local 
authority's opinion as to whether such a representative would help ensure that the 
relevant traditions in the local authority's area are appropriately reflected in Group A."

(c) It was noted that the membership / constitution had not been reviewed since 1996. It 
was questioned whether the relevant traditions of the area were being reflected 
appropriately in Group A, and views were sought on the Humanists' request to be 
members of Group A.  

(ch) The following points were raised when discussing the above: 

i. What happened in other Authorities? 
ii. The guidance in the GCSE course was that Humanists could be invited to 

schools to speak. 
iii. Was Humanism a belief system, rather than a religion? 
iv. Shouldn't we welcome as much diversity as possible in Group A, bearing in mind 

the recent situation where there was no quorum at a meeting? 

Page 6



SACRE 07.11.18

3

Reference was also made to the following observations -  

- The Committee would benefit from hearing the voices of various religions in their 
discussions which was essential for the Religious Education Learning Field 
curriculum.

- It would promote contact between Headteachers, Teachers and Pupils of various 
beliefs directly face-to-face. 

- It would be an opportunity to build bridges and promote a society that is more 
tolerant of various beliefs. 

- It was confirmed that Humanism was introduced in some of Gwynedd's schools

It was confirmed that the Wales Association of SACREs had appointed a Humanist on its 
Working Committee and shouldn't SACRE reflect what was being taught? 
There was a need to be careful in case of giving priority to some beliefs and such requests 
needed to be managed carefully.   
Were there any criteria? 
This was an opportunity to learn and share expertise. 

Recommended: That the SACRE Committee would be favorable to evidence-based 
requests, with the condition that non-religious beliefs be taught in Gwynedd 
Schools. Referring to the specific application, it was confirmed that the inclusion of 
the Humanists to Group A.

It was reported that a discussion had arisen at the previous meeting regarding the possibility 
of inviting school pupil(s) to be a part of the current membership in order to hear the voice 
of the pupil. The principle was discussed for the purposes of being inclusive; however, it 
was noted that practical matters existed that meant that this would not be possible, such as 
co-travelling to meetings. Some highlighted their concern that they were not certain of their 
purpose as the voice of any pupil was clear in the school and it was questioned in what 
context the pupil would be involved in any decisions? 

Recommended: To withdraw the proposal. 

10. GWYNEDD SCHOOLS' SELF-EVALUATION 

Mr Rhys Glyn (Headteacher of Ysgol Cefn Coch, Penrhyndeudraeth), was welcomed to the 
meeting to discuss the relationship he had developed between the curriculum, personal 
education and religious education.   

He shared examples of the pupils' work and he confirmed that Religious Education was not 
taught as a subject, however, the school developed children holistically, with  Religious 
Education filtering into this naturally.   

Very positive comments were received from the Committee and Rhys Glyn was 
congratulated for the work. It was noted that it was burdensome to do everything separately 
and that multi-sensory experiences with children leading the work. He noted that the role of 
governors had been developed with the governors taking part in all aspects, including 
scrutinising the work once the portfolio had been collected.   

It was noted, since Donaldson, that there was a need to develop in every field, but that the 
creative element, the voice of the children and the emphasis on experiences was to be 
welcomed. 

Page 7



SACRE 07.11.18

4

11. OVERVIEW OF GWYNEDD SCHOOLS’ SELF-EVALUATIONS

Recommended:  To note and accept the contents of the Report.

12. PROFESSIONAL RE OFFICER FOR SACRE 

The content of Libby Jones's letter, requesting a representative from Gwynedd, was 
noted. Miriam Amlyn was asked to consider this. 

Recommended:  To give Miriam Amlyn an opportunity to consider the request. 

13. ASSEMBLY WORKSHOPS TO CONSIDER RELIGIOUS EDUCATION AND THE NEW 
WELSH CURRICULUM  

It was confirmed that the Primary, on the whole, was looking forward to the new period, 
however, major concern had been expressed from the Secondary. 

An outline was given of the new recommendation such as combining Religious Education, 
History, Geography and Business to the humanities field, with one lesson for each 
subject; however, it was not currently clear how many hours this would entail. A question 
was raised immediately about how SACRE would monitor the humanities?   

If changing by 2020 was the intention, it was noted that there would be a lot of preparatory 
work - the current document was vast but only referred to concepts and skills that required 
collaboration between departments. At present, it was noted that it was not clear whether 
the course would combine or whether the subjects would be treated as five separate 
subjects? Another concern noted was that individuals without expertise in the specific 
subject would possibly give one of the lessons.  A question was asked about whether 
each of the five subjects would have equal status, in particular if the Headteacher saw no 
value in a specific subject. The number of hours earmarked for each subject was also 
questioned.   

It was questioned what SACRE would be able to do as the process was going ahead.   
Libby Jones was the only Religious Education advisor in Wales. 

Recommended: To accept and note the above.

14. BANGOR UNIVERSITY OFFER - 'RE-CONNECT'  

A concern was raised following a recent report regarding the lack of teachers and the 
issue of bilingual teaching in Gwynedd. A real concern was expressed about the merger 
between the Universities of Bangor and Chester. It was suggested that perhaps the Chair 
could send a letter to the University to enquire about the following: 

i. Was there a missing link? - real concern had been expressed by SACRE 
regarding the shortcomings in the field of Religious Education, and the link with the 
University of Chester, as well as the break between GCSE and a degree course.   
Also there was a need to note that an English only letter had been sent by the 
University. 

Page 8



SACRE 07.11.18

5

A question was asked about whether an A Level in Religious Education was being offered 
in Gwynedd. Did the College offer Religious Education?  What about Coleg Meirion-
Dwyfor? 

Recommended: To ask the Chair to write to the University in line with the above.   
To ask the Assistant Education Resources Officer to look into 
the Religious Education A Level provision in Gwynedd. 

15. MINUTES OF THE ANNUAL MEETING OF WALES SACRES - ANGLESEY 6/7/18 - FOR 
INFORMATION 

Recommended: To accept and note the content.  

16. DIVERSITY OF RELIGION AND BELIEF - FOR INFORMATION  

Submitted - for information, a copy of the above-mentioned document that had been 
published recently.

Recommended: To accept and note the content.  

The meeting commenced at 2.00 pm and concluded at 4.10 pm.

Page 9



 
Eich cyf/Your ref 2018 11 27 Llyth Gweinidog Add  
Ein cyf/Our ref KW/02658/18  
 
Garem Jackson  

Head of Education 
Council Offices 
Caernarfon  
Gwynedd  
LL55 1SH  
 
Cllr Paul Rowlinson  
Chair 
Gwynedd SACRE 
 
omaibere@gwynedd.llyw.cymru   

12 December 2018  

 
Dear Garem Jackson, Cllr Paul Rowlinson  
 
Thank you for your letter dated 27 November 2018 regarding your concerns about the 
lack of Welsh-medium revision materials for the new GCSE Religious Studies course. 
 
As you may know already, publishers in England publish the English-language lesson 
books to support the WJEC qualifications as a commercial enterprise. Welsh 
Government allocates a grant to the WJEC in order to ensure that the Welsh versions 
are published. Neither Welsh Government nor the WJEC has any influence over the 
publication date of these resources nor which resources will be available as the decision 
to venture to create a resource or not is a matter for the publishers. However, my officers 
and WJEC officers work closely with the publishers who have ventured in order to 
ensure that the material is available as soon as possible and have put a number of new 
processes in place to speed things up.  
 
The ‘CBAC TGAU Astudiaethau Crefyddol Uned 2 Crefydd a Themâu Moeseg’ revision 
book will be available in print in February, three months after the equivalent English 
book was published. Once the books are available, copies will be distributed free of 
charge to the schools in preparation for the revision period. Publishers have also agreed 
to release the latest digital files of the books on the WJEC secure website to help 
subject teachers. These digital files are already available to teachers since the beginning 
of November. Also, the WJEC has developed free digital resources on its website: 
http://resources.wjec.co.uk/Pages/ResourceByArgs.aspx?subId=26&lvlId=2  
 
I have committed to improving the provision of relevant and timely resources in Welsh 
and English for our learners. A group of key stakeholders is looking at ways of ensuring 
this, bringing together the main providers in the field together with the regional education 
consortia. My intention is to ensure that infrastructure exists in Wales to provide 
resources in both languages for the curriculum and qualifications in the future. 
 
The group will make recommendations on the way forward in spring next year. 
 

Yours sincerely 

Page 10

Agenda Item 8

http://resources.wjec.co.uk/Pages/ResourceByArgs.aspx?subId=26&lvlId=2


 

 

Kirsty Williams AC/AM  
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Addysg  

Cabinet Secretary for Education 

Page 11



GWYNEDD COUNCIL CABINET

Report for a meeting of Gwynedd Council Cabinet

Date of meeting: 2 April 2019
Cabinet Member: Councillor Gareth Thomas
Contact Officer: Garem P Jackson
Contact Telephone 
Number:

01286 679089  ext 32089

Title of Item: REVIEW OF THE GWYNEDD STANDING ADVISORY 
COUNCIL ON RELIGIOUS EDUCATION (SACRE) 
CONSTITUTION

1. THE DECISION SOUGHT

(i) The recommendation of the Education Department and the Gwynedd SACRE Committee is 
to change the membership of Group A :

- Group A - Christianity - keep at 6
Propose to invite one representative from the beliefs
Buddhism, Islam, Hinduism, Judaism, Sikhism and the Humanists

- Group B - representation of Teachers and Headteachers - keep at 5

- Group C - Elected Members - keep at 7

- Co-opted - SACRE Committee to retain the right to co-opt members

(there are 3 votes, which is 1 for each Group. The Co-opted members do not have a vote)

(ii) The recommendation of the Education Department and the Gwynedd SACRE Committee is 
to allow the application of the Humanists to become part of Group A on the Gwynedd 
SACRE Committee.

2. THE REASON FOR THE NEED FOR A DECISION

2.1. The Council has not considered the constitution since 1996.
2.2. The Education Minister's letter on 03/05/18 confirms that representatives from non-religious 

beliefs can be appointed to Group A in order to ensure that SACRE reflects the beliefs of the 
communities it serves in full, and in order to conform to current legislation.  This letter specifically 
supersedes paragraph 103 of Circular 10/94 [Appendix].

2.3. A request from Bangor Humanists to join as member(s) of Group A on the Gwynedd SACRE 
Committee.

Page 12

Agenda Item 9



2.4 In considering the request of the Humanists to join as a member of Group A, it is timely to give 
consideration to other beliefs in order to give attention to a variety of the beliefs of Gwynedd on 
the SACRE committee.   

2.5 The SACRE must be inclusive, containing a variety of broader religious traditions than we currently 
have and the advantages of having a variety of this broader diversity when developing the religious 
education curriculum which prepares our young people to become ethical, informed citizens of 
Wales and the world.

3. PRESENTATION AND RELEVANT CONSIDERATIONS 

Background
The Education Act 1996 places a duty on the local authority to establish a standing council to advise it 
on religious education.

SACRE Functions
 Advise the Local Authority on worship in schools and the the religious education to be provided 

in accordance with the agreed syllabus, including teaching methods, advice on materials and 
the provision of training for teachers;

 Consider whether it should be recommended that the Local Authority's current agreed syllabus 
should be reviewed by calling an Agreed Syllabus Conference (ASC);

 Consider requests from schools to come to a decision (to be excluded from the requirement 
that religious worship should be "Christian"):

 Report back to the Local Authority and Welsh Government on its activities annually.

SACRE Membership
The Act notes that SACRE should include representatives from among the following:

 A group of persons to represent the Christian denominations and other religions as, in the 
opinion of the authority, will appropriately reflect the principal religious traditions in the area 
('Group A')

 A group of persons to represent such associations representing teachers as, in the opinion of 
the authority, ought to be represented, having regard to the circumstances of the area

 A group of persons to represent the authority

Only the above representative groups have the right to vote, and each group will have one vote.

SACRE itself could also co-opt members (but they would not have a vote)

Circular 10/94
In addition to the statutory provision, in 1994 the former Welsh Office published guidance on Religious 
Education and Collective Worship on the form of Circular 10/94, which includes provisions involving the 
implementation of SACRE.

Gwynedd Council SACRE 
The SACRE membership was determined by the Gwynedd Council Education Committee in 1996, and 
the current membership is as follows:

Page 13



Christians and Other Faiths (Group A)
The Methodist Church (1) - awaiting a nomination
The Congregationalists (1) - awaiting a nomination
Presbyterian Church of Wales (1)
Union of Welsh Baptists (1)
Catholic Church (1)
Church in Wales (1)

Teachers representing the following Unions
ASCL (1)
NAS/UWT (1)
UCAC (1)
NUT (1)
ATL (1) – awaiting a nomination

Elected Members Membership (7)
(based on political balance)
Plaid Cymru (4)
Independent (3)
(Ex-officio Members, the Chair and Vice-chair of the Council)
The SACRE has not been reviewed since then.

Recent Developments 
Humanists have been eager to be represented on SACREs as members of Group A. Whilst many include 
them as co-opted members, the general custom is not to permit them to become full members.  This is 
based on the guidance in the legislation and in the interpretation and guidance given in Circular 10/94, 
where paragraph 103 states:

“Including the representatives of belief systems such as Humanism, that are not tantamount to religion 
or a religious denomination, on... SACRE A Group, would be contrary to the legal provisions referred to in 
paragraph 102 of the circular."   

The issue has been the subject of considerable discussions on a national level, including a legal 
challenge from Humanists UK against Glamorganshire Council on the basis that refusing to include 
humanists as a full member is contrary to the Human Rights Act and the European Convention on 
Human Rights.  

Consequently, the SACREs Association wrote to Kirsty Williams AM, Cabinet Secretary for Education in 
Welsh Government, earlier this year to ask for clear advice and guidance in light of this conflict between 
two legal systems.  

In response, the Education Director of Local Authorities wrote on 3 May 2018 to confirm Welsh 
Government's opinion, that representatives from non-religious beliefs can be appointed to Group A in 
order to ensure that SACRE reflects the beliefs of the communities it serves in full, and in order to 
conform to current legislation. This letter specifically supersedes paragraph 103 of Circular 10/94 
[Appendix]

In relation to non-religious beliefs, it states "...that non-religious beliefs cultivated by the individual to be 
appointed must be compatible with a religious belief, such as humanism. In order to be "compatible", we 
consider that the non-religious beliefs, in accordance with the case law under the European Convention 
of Human Rights and the Human Rights Act 1998, must reach the required level of force, seriousness, 
coordination and importance to ensure protection under the Convention Rights.

Page 14



A request was received from Bangor Humanists to appoint a humanist as a full member of the SACRE. 
Recent guidance from Welsh Government means that the authority may consider the application 
[Appendix]

There has been review of SACRE membership since 1996, and it would also be appropriate and timely, 
therefore, to consider the constitution of the SACRE in its entirety.

Considerations 
The number of representatives appointed to Group A to represent each denomination or religion 
required to represent, briefly reflects the denomination or religion's proportional strength in the local 
area. The letter dated 3 May 2018 explains:

 an appointment depends upon the opinion of the relevant local authority regarding whether 
such a representative would help ensure that the relevant traditions in the local authority's area 
are reflected appropriately in Group A. The local authority is responsible for determining 
appointments, as it is the best situation to assess whether SACRE has the required expertise and 
experience to deliver its function appropriately."

Evidence 
SACRE's constitution was determined in 1996 based on the following information 

The Roman Catholic Church 11.1%
Church in Wales 18.4%
Presbyterian Church of Wales 43.3%
The Methodist Church 5.6%
Congregationalist Union 16.3%
Baptist Union 4.3%
Other Denominations 1%

The latest figures we have are the figures from the 2011 Gwynedd Census, and a summary of these are 
seen below.  No specific category is noted for Humanists in the census, however, they could be 
incorporated in any of the following categories - Other religion, No religion or Religion not noted.

COUNTY ARFON DWYFOR MEIRIONNYDD
Christianity 59.5% 55.6% 64.6% 62.3%
Buddhism 0.3% 0.4% 0.3% 0.3%
Hinduism 0.2% 0.3% 0.1% 0.1%
Judaism 0.0% 0.1% 0.0% 0.0%
Islam 1.1% 1.9% 0.4% 0.3%
Sikhism 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Other religion 0.5% 0.5% 0.4% 0.6%
No religion 29.7% 32.5% 25.8% 27.8%
Religion not noted 8.6% 8.6% 8.4% 8.6%

4.    NEXT STEPS AND TIMETABLE

4.1 Submit the decision to the SACRE Committee.
4.2 Act on the change to the Constitution in accordance with the decision of the Cabinet.

Page 15



5. ANY CONSULTATIONS UNDERTAKEN PRIOR TO RECOMMENDING THE DECISION

5.1   The opinion of Gwynedd's Education Department and the Supporting Improvement Adviser (with    
   Religious Education expertise):

- The Education Department wishes to ensure that the religious education presented in our 
schools reflects the nature of the local community and the views of Gwynedd residents.  
The diverse religious community in Gwynedd needs to be reflected.

- The committee would benefit from hearing the voices of various religions in their 
religions which are essential for the Religious Education Learning Field curriculum.

- It would promote contact between Head teachers, Teachers and Pupils with different 
beliefs directly face to face, rather than just from books.

- It would be an opportunity to create bridges and promote a more tolerant community of 
various beliefs.

- The current agreed syllabus (based on the National Exemplar Framework for Religious 
Education) refers to the need to give pupils opportunities to "draw on their own 
experiences and on a variety of informed religious and non-religious sources, including 
other disciplines, in order to gather evidence and develop appropriate arguments" (KS3).

- The current specification for GCSE Religious Studies refers to the need to present non-
religious beliefs to pupils.  Getting input from local Humanists will ensure that the views 
of Humanists are correctly represented in the lessons.

5.2 The Gwynedd SACRE Committee's opinion on inviting other religions - It would be an opportunity 
for Gwynedd SACRE to be more inclusive by containing a wider variety of traditional religions than we 
currently have, and these advantages of having this broader diversity when developing the religious 
education curriculum is what prepares our young people to become ethical, informed citizens of 
Wales and the world.  

5.3 The Gwynedd SACRE Committee's opinion on inviting religions compatible with a religious belief - 
that non-religious beliefs cultivated by the individual to be appointed must be compatible with a 
religious belief, such as humanism (in accordance with the opinion of Welsh Government), with the 
condition that these non-religious beliefs are taught at Gwynedd Schools. It was confirmed that 
Humanism is presented in some Gwynedd schools and therefore, that the Gwynedd SACRE 
Committee supported the Humanists' bid for a seat in Group A.

5.3 Wales Association of SACREs, the Association has enquired about the guidance from the Education 
Minister that is in her letter dated 03/05/18, confirming that representatives from non-religious 
beliefs can be appointed to Group A in order to ensure that SACRE reflects the beliefs of the 
communities it serves in full, and in order to conform to current legislation. This letter specifically 
supersedes paragraph 103 of Circular 10/94 [Appendix]

5.4 Views of the Statutory Officers: 

i. Monitoring Officer: The Legal Service has had input into the report and therefore nothing 
further to add in terms of propriety.
ii. Head of Finance Department: Nothing to add to the report from a Financial propriety 
perspective.

Page 16



Background Document

Welsh Office Circular 10/94

Relevant Appendices to the Recommendation 

Application letter from Bangor Humanists October 2017

Kirsty Williams's letter, Welsh Government 

Religion Statistics of the Gwynedd 2011 Census

Page 17



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   01

Humanities
AREA OF LEARNING AND EXPERIENCE

Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: April 2019

DRAFT STATUTORY GUIDANCE

Page 18

Agenda Item 10



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   02Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   02Contents

CONTENTS

Introduction to the Humanities Area of Learning and Experience    03

What Matters in Humanities

Developing an enquiring mind enables learners to explore and investigate 
the world, past, present and future, for themselves.          20

Events and human experiences are complex, and are perceived, interpreted 
and represented in different ways.           32

Our natural world is diverse and dynamic, influenced by physical processes 
and human actions.             46 

Human societies are complex and diverse, and are shaped by human 
actions and beliefs.            58

Informed, self-aware citizens engage with the challenges and opportunities that 
face humanity, and are able to take considered, ethical and sustainable action.   70

Glossary              82

Page 19



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   03Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   03

INTRODUCTION TO THE HUMANITIES 
AREA OF LEARNING AND EXPERIENCE

The Humanities Area of Learning and 
Experience is all about asking questions 
about the human condition. 

As such, studying human experiences in the past and present, at local, national and 
global levels, will help learners answer those questions, encouraging them to contribute 
to their communities, imagine possible futures and benefit from a sense of belonging.

Humanities encompasses geography, history, religious education, business studies and 
social studies. These disciplines share many common themes, concepts and transferable 
skills, while also having their own body of knowledge and skills. Likewise, learners and 
teachers may reference other complementary disciplines, such as classics, economics, 
law, philosophy, politics, psychology and sociology, if and where appropriate.

Humanities will provide opportunities for all learners to learn about their heritage 
and sense of place through a study of their cynefin and of Wales. It will promote an 
understanding of how the people of Wales, its communities, culture, landscape, resources 
and industries interrelate with the rest of the world. Promoting an understanding of the 
ethnic and cultural diversity within Wales will also help learners appreciate the extent to 
which it is part of a wider international community. Consequently, Humanities will help 
learners see how their personal story is part of a wider picture of the past and present.

In the Humanities Area of Learning and Experience, learners will enquire and investigate; 
evaluate diverse views of the world and form their own interpretations; engage with 
issues including sustainability and social change; and be invited to take social action in 
response to their learning. This will help develop learners’ resilience, build independence, 
and raise levels of self-confidence and self-esteem. Experiences in Humanities, both in 
and out of the classroom, will encourage learners to be ambitious and to solve problems 
confidently, while considering always the ethical implications of their choices.

Introduction

Page 20



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   04Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   04Introduction

A transformational curriculum
The White Paper Our National Mission: A Transformational Curriculum1 set out the detailed 
legislative proposals for Curriculum for Wales 2022. 

The proposal is that funded non-maintained settings and schools will be required to provide a 
broad and balanced curriculum that meets the four purposes of the curriculum, and comprises 
the six areas of learning and experience. There will be statutory duties to teach Welsh, English, 
religious education, relationships and sexuality education, and the three cross-curricular 
responsibilities of literacy, numeracy and digital competence. Further information on how the 
Humanities Area of Learning and Experience can support this is provided in the ‘Developing a 
broad and balanced curriculum’ section of this document.

Funded non-maintained settings and schools will have discretion as to how they design their 
school-level curriculum to meet their curriculum duties. However, in considering the exercise of 
that discretion, they must have regard to statutory guidance issued by Welsh Ministers. In practice, 
that means they should follow the statutory guidance unless they have good reason not to.

This statutory guidance for the Humanities Area of Learning and Experience, which forms part 
of the wider Curriculum for Wales 2022 statutory guidance, is intended to provide a national 
framework that funded non-maintained settings and schools can build on to develop their own 
curriculum. It is not intended to be a comprehensive or exhaustive syllabus, nor a guide for 
organising timetables. It sets out:

• what funded non-maintained settings and schools should take into account in designing their 
curriculum and how it could be structured

• the broad expectations for learners for the Humanities Area of Learning and Experience at 
each progression step.

1  beta.gov.wales/our-national-mission-transformational-curriculumPage 21

http://beta.gov.wales/our-national-mission-transformational-curriculum


Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   05Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   05

How the area of learning and experience 
supports the four purposes of the curriculum
The Humanities Area of Learning and Experience is central to learners becoming ethical, 
informed citizens of Wales and the world through engaging with contemporary and 
historical issues, exploring human experiences on their own doorstep and across the 
globe, and contemplating different perspectives. They will be asked to consider the impact 
of their actions and the actions of others, and how these are shaped by interpretations of 
human rights, values, ethics, religious and non-religious views, and philosophies. Through 
this they will come to understand, respect and challenge a variety of world views, knowing 
how to exercise their democratic rights and to make informed choices, conscious of the 
importance of a sustainable future for all.

As they explore their locality, Wales and the wider world, past and present, learners 
will establish a solid base of knowledge and understanding of geographical, historical, 
religious, non-religious, business, and social studies concepts. During this process, they 
will learn different methods of enquiry, evaluate the evidence that they find, and apply 
and communicate their findings effectively, all of which will help them become ambitious, 
capable learners, ready to learn throughout their lives. 

Learners will have the opportunities to become enterprising, creative contributors, 
ready to play a full part in life and work, as well as opportunities to become responsible 
citizens, as they engage critically with local, national and global challenges and 
opportunities past and present, and seek to imagine possible futures. All the while, they will 
be encouraged to think about how they themselves can take positive action to improve the 
lives of people in their cynefin, in Wales and in the wider world. 

Learners will have the safe space for discussion and reflection which allows time to explore 
their personal perspectives on religious and non-religious world views, ethical challenges 
and social inclusion issues. They will also be asked to explore the natural world, locally, 
across Wales and beyond, which will nurture a sense of place and well-being. These 
experiences will help support the development of healthy, confident individuals, ready 
to lead fulfilling lives as valued members of society in Wales and the wider world. 

Introduction

Page 22



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   06

Events and human experiences are complex, 
and are perceived, interpreted and represented 
in different ways.  

Learners in Wales are forever trying to make sense of the world around them, a world 
they encounter though a variety of perspectives. Humanities encourages them to 
critically review the ways the events and experiences of that world are represented and 
interpreted, using this information to construct their own informed perspectives.  

Learners understand how various factors can influence their own and others’ perceptions 
and interpretations, while also developing an appreciation of how narratives and 
representations are constructed, and exploring how and why interpretations may differ. 
As they develop a critical understanding of a range of interpretations and representations, 
they will be better placed to evaluate their validity, and to foster a more holistic 
understanding of events, experiences and the natural world. This will enable learners in 
Wales to develop self-awareness as they create their own informed viewpoints.

WHAT MATTERS STATEMENTS 
FOR HUMANITIES

Developing an enquiring mind enables learners 
to explore and investigate the world, past, 
present and future, for themselves. 

Learners’ journey through Humanities will be characterised by enquiry and discovery, as 
they are encouraged to be curious and to question, to think critically and to reflect upon 
evidence. Through such enquiry, learners gain a deeper understanding of the concepts 
underpinning Humanities, and their application in local, national and global contexts. An 
enquiring mind stimulates new and creative thinking. Engaging with questions empowers 
learners to understand human experiences and the natural world. 

Learners use appropriate disciplinary approaches, including digital humanities, to gather, 
analyse, and evaluate a range of evidence and to communicate and present their 
findings. Learners interpret and synthesise information to build upon what they have 
already learned and further inform their understanding of the world. By thinking critically 
about their discoveries, learners draw informed conclusions, but also understand that 
some conclusions can only be partial or inconclusive and open to different interpretations. 
Learners carefully reflect in order to improve their methodology and extend or deepen 
their enquiry. Learners will also understand that, as well as being a process, enquiry is a 
quest to understand the human condition. Indeed, enquiry enables self-reflection which 
adds meaning to their own lives and contributes to their sense of place in the world.

Introduction

Page 23



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   07

Our natural world is diverse and dynamic, 
influenced by physical processes and human actions. 

Learners will have opportunities to nurture curiosity about the natural world and understand 
how and why it changes. This in turn helps learners to identify what makes a place distinct 
and develop an awareness of the interconnections between humans and their environment. 
Consequently, learners are in a better position to make connections between the past and 
present, and to imagine possible futures. 

Through understanding a variety of physical processes, and their causes and effects, learners 
will appreciate how places, environments and landscapes change within Wales and the wider 
world. They will also develop their understanding of how human actions in the past and today 
affect the natural world and how the natural world impacts on humans. This will heighten 
learners’ awareness of how the future sustainability of our world is influenced by the impact 
of human actions. It will also encourage learners in Wales to understand, as producers and 
consumers, their impact on the natural world.   

Learners will explore a range of beliefs and philosophies about the natural world, and how they 
influence people’s interactions with the world. They will learn also how experiencing the wonder 
of the natural world can contribute to their spiritual development and well-being, and cultivate a 
sense of place and sense of belonging, as embodied in the Welsh word cynefin.

Human societies are complex and diverse, 
and shaped by human actions and beliefs.

An appreciation of identity, heritage and cynefin can influence learners emotionally and 
spiritually, and help build a sense of self and of belonging. Through an understanding 
of themselves, learners develop their own identity and an awareness of how they, as 
individuals, can shape the communities in which they live. Consequently, learners will come 
to realise that the choices we all make, individually and collectively, can have major impacts.

Learners will develop an understanding of the complex, pluralistic and diverse nature 
of societies in Wales and the wider world. Over time, these societies have evolved, 
experiencing continuity and change that has affected, and continues to affect, their own 
and other people’s lives. This evolution is driven by the interplay between a range of 
factors, including human actions and beliefs, and physical forces. Humanities builds an 
understanding of the causes, consequences and significance of the changes and forces that 
have shaped societies.

Introduction Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   07

Page 24



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   08

Humanities encourages a critical understanding of how societies in Wales and the wider world 
are organised, structured and led. Societies are characterised by a range of cultural, economic, 
legal and political norms and values. They are also dynamic, both driving and reacting to 
changes on a local, national and global scale. Learners will explore the connections between 
such societies in the past and present. They will also be encouraged to explore – and develop a 
tolerant and empathetic understanding of – the varied beliefs, values, traditions and ethics that 
underpin and shape human society.

Informed, self-aware citizens engage with the challenges 
and opportunities that face humanity, and are able to take 
considered, ethical and sustainable action. 

Learners will develop an understanding of their roles as citizens and the importance 
of creating a just and sustainable future for themselves and their communities in an 
interconnected world. It encourages learners to be active, informed, and responsible citizens, 
who are able to identify with and contribute to their local, national and global communities, 
now and in their future lives.  

Humanities will invite learners to identify and engage with past, contemporary and anticipated 
challenges and opportunities facing themselves, their local community, Wales and the wider 
world. They will also come to understand the nature of economic, environmental and social 
sustainability, justice, interconnectedness and authority, and realise the significance of living 
in and contributing to a fairer and more inclusive society. Learners will develop not only an 
awareness of their own rights, but also of the rights, needs, concerns and feelings of others in 
creating a sustainable and interconnected world.  

Questioning and evaluating existing responses to challenges and opportunities will help 
learners develop as self-aware, informed, ethical global citizens who critically reflect on their 
own beliefs and values. They will be able to consider the impact of their actions when making 
choices and exercising their democratic rights and responsibilities. Learners will also be able 
to justify their decisions when acting socially, politically, economically and entrepreneurially. 
This will enable learners to take committed social action as caring, participative citizens of 
their local and global communities, showing a dedication to justice, diversity and the protection 
of the environment. What is more, by responding to challenges, and taking opportunities for 
social and sustainable action, they can create meaning and purpose in their own lives.

Introduction Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   08

Page 25



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   09Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   09

Relationships between what matters statements 
in Humanities
School curricula should promote a thorough understanding of what matters statements in 
Humanities. These should not be seen or taught in isolation: the content, concepts and skills 
outlined in them are interconnected, placing emphasis on an interdisciplinary approach and a 
holistic view of the humanities.  

The first what matters statement champions enquiry and discovery within Humanities, while 
the second encourages learners to explore and consider how they and others view, interpret 
and represent human experiences. What matters statements three and four focus on the 
key aspects of understanding in Humanities, namely of people’s relationship with the natural 
world and with each other. The final what matters statement places a new emphasis on the 
individual’s role and action in response to the challenges and opportunities facing humanity.

Introduction

Page 26



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   10Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   10Introduction

Progression within this area of learning and experience
The what matters statements for the Humanities Area of Learning and Experience offer a holistic 
and integrated approach. Each what matters statement draws on essential material and concepts 
from several or all the Humanities disciplines. Progression in Humanities is underpinned by 
the idea that subject content does not get intrinsically more complex. However, it is possible to 
study the same topic or content area at different ages and expect different levels of depth and 
complexity in learners’ understanding and responses.  

Achievement outcomes identify the specific disciplinary and interdisciplinary concepts in which 
learners can show progression. These are areas of procedural knowledge in which learners could 
be expected to develop their thinking and understanding, and thus show progression.

Progression in understanding in Humanities is made through a combination of: 

• increased depth of knowledge, by linking new learning to existing knowledge and developing 
a more sophisticated understanding and resolving the conflicts that can emerge from different 
points of view

• increased sophistication of conceptual understanding, which helps learners see beyond a list 
of facts, to the conceptual ideas that underpin the disciplines that make up the Humanities Area 
of Learning and Experience, and how these interrelate to each other in different contexts.

In addition, progression in Humanities is demonstrated through: 

• an ability to work with an increasing number and sophistication of sources of information

• more sophisticated use of relevant skills 

• increasing independence and self-regulation.

Page 27



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   11Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   11

Developing a broad and balanced curriculum

Literacy, numeracy and digital competence

The cross-curricular responsibilities of literacy, numeracy and digital competence support almost 
all learning and are essential for learners to be able to participate successfully and confidently in the 
modern world.

Literacy
Humanities provides a range of rich contexts where learners’ literacy skills can be reinforced, 
extended and applied. As a vital building block for developing life skills and accessing the 
curriculum, learners should be provided with opportunities to communicate their ideas and 
viewpoints orally. For example, learners can develop their oracy through discussion, role play, 
questioning and presentations, and, in discussing Ultimate questions, they can adapt these skills for 
audience and purpose as they listen to and debate different viewpoints. 

Learners’ reading skills should be developed by accessing a range of materials from a variety 
of places and times to analyse evidence, to think critically, to infer meaning, and to evaluate 
interpretations and viewpoints.

Humanities provides rich contexts for developing all styles of writing. For example, describing, 
explaining, discussing, evaluating and creative writing combined with the use of subject-specific 
terminology will see learners develop their writing. 

Numeracy 
Humanities provides learners with a wide range of opportunities to develop their numeracy skills 
in real-world contexts. For example, learners can collect numerical data, through primary and 
secondary research methods, and represent data in a variety of ways. 

Learners can give accurate directional instructions when map reading, and, after going on a walk, 
learners can write up the route, including paragraphs, photos, diagrams, etc.

Learners can develop their data-handling, analysis and evaluation skills. Concepts such as 
chronological awareness and scale can be developed and discussed, as you look at how human 
relationships have impacted upon the natural world. Developing simple questionnaires to analyse 
large data sets can all be supported and developed across Humanities as learners collect and 
record data.

Digital competence
Humanities give learners the context to plan and create using a range of digital skills as learners 
work independently or collaborate on the development materials. 

Many digital sources of information could be used to examine various themes within Humanities.  
Learners should show an understanding of purpose and audience as they use a range of software 
and media to communicate their own knowledge, understanding and personal responses. 

Learners should also make use of digital sources of information as a way of enabling them to think 
about the kinds of future that they would like to see for their locality, Wales and the wider world. 

Introduction

Page 28



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   12Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   12

For example, the use of digital information systems as a way of illustrating human–environment 
relations, or the digital sources that illustrate business commitment to ideas of corporate social 
responsibility.

As learners increasingly use digital technology to enquire and investigate, ensuring the reliability of 
these sources is critical as they look to support conclusions.

Welsh dimension and international perspective

The Welsh dimension and international perspective are integral to all disciplines within the 
Humanities Area of Learning and Experience. An exploration of Welsh businesses, cultures, history, 
geography, politics, religions, societies, and world views should form a central part of a learners’ 
entitlement and include an understanding of the links between these and wider national, European 
and international contexts. Through Humanities, learners develop a sense of identity and of their 
own cynefin, as well as an understanding of Wales and its place in the wider world. 

The Humanities Area of Learning and Experience plays an important role in allowing learners to 
engage in rich learning experiences in the Welsh context. School curriculum design should provide 
detailed and regular coverage of examples, relevant topic areas and case studies to allow learners 
to explore the Welsh dimension and international perspective. 

Humanities supports learners to:

• develop an understanding of Wales and their own understanding of what it means to be Welsh

• study the history, geography, cultures, values, languages and beliefs of Wales, which helps them 
to make sense of their identity

• examine the connections between different places, humans and the environment 

• understand their own place and role as an ethical, informed citizen within Wales and the 
wider world 

• understand what is meant by global citizenship, including their roles and responsibilities as global 
citizens planning for a sustainable future

• build an understanding of world events and how they have influenced human lives and societies

• understand that, in a diverse, dynamic and changing world, they can make a positive difference 
helping to build a fairer, safer and more secure world for everyone 

• develop a commitment to social justice and social action, within Wales and the wider world. 

In Humanities, learners of all ages should be able to engage in learning related to local, national 
and international dimensions. It should not be the case that the youngest learners should focus 
exclusively on local studies and only the oldest learners focus on the international perspective. All 
learners should have opportunities to ground their understanding of an issue in their locality and 
then relate it to the international context. 

Wider skills

The Humanities Area of Learning and Experience will aim to encourage learners to:  

• think about themselves, and their own process of learning, in reflective and critical ways 

Introduction

Page 29



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   13Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   13

• appreciate that an understanding of others coupled with an understanding of oneself is central 
to what matters statements in Humanities

• develop personal effectiveness which includes reflecting on and understanding oneself 
and others.

Critical thinking and problem-solving
Critical thinking is central to Humanities. Humanities develops learners’ abilities to think analytically 
and understand the past and present as well as to imagine possible futures. Problem-solving could 
be developed by encouraging learners to collect, and reflect upon, sources of evidence in order 
to explain the characteristics of a society during a particular time period, or to examine possible 
solutions to inequalities among social groups.  

Creativity and innovation
In Humanities, learners convey information and findings in creative and innovative ways. Learners 
are encouraged to be open to different ideas and ways of thinking, enabling them to express 
reasoned opinions about these differences. 

Planning and organising, and Personal effectiveness
In Humanities, learners will work with others as they plan investigations involving gathering and 
utilising a range of evidence. They will develop their own personal effectiveness as important 
members of a team who are relied upon to contribute by organising and carrying out enquiries. 
They will also develop this skill as independent learners who are required to evaluate, justify and 
express their own considered responses in a variety of ways.

Careers and work-related experiences

Learning from careers and labour market information
It is vital for learners to access high-quality careers and labour market information and have an 
understanding of what this means to them, in order to make well-informed, sustainable career 
decisions. 

The Humanities Area of Learning and Experience comprises the areas of history, geography, 
religious education, business studies and social studies. While there are many careers that 
link directly to these areas, the skills developed within Humanities, such as problem-solving, 
communication, critical thinking, and the ability to evaluate differing perspectives and weigh up 
consequences, are valued by a wide range of employers and therefore provide a wide range of 
opportunities for learners.

Linking the area of learning and experience to careers and work-related experiences 
Learners should be encouraged to undertake research and to explore the links between Humanities 
and the career paths these would open to them. Humanities equips learners with the skills and 
knowledge necessary to pursue careers related to these disciplines. There are many careers that 
directly relate to Humanities, such as museum curator, archaeologist, religious leader, diplomat, 
teacher, meteorologist, geologist, manager, financial adviser and business analyst. More importantly, 
the transferable skills which sit at the heart of Humanities contribute to the preparation of a 
workforce for professions and jobs that do not yet exist in order to meet the needs of new and 
emerging careers.

Introduction

Page 30



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   14Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   14

The skills developed within the Humanities Area of Learning and Experience are transferable, highly 
valued and sought after in the wider employment market. Humanities enables learners to become 
ethically informed citizens who are ready for life and work, contributes to learners’ readiness for 
working life by developing skills and techniques, including the use of geographical information 
systems, using and creating maps, conducting surveys, analysing data, carrying out investigations, 
analysis of evidence and argument, detecting bias and prejudice, and constructing an argument or 
interpretation of events based on evidence.

Humanities help learners to understand diversity and to challenge stereotypes in order to raise 
learners’ aspirations and belief in their potential future. 

Learner progression relating to careers and work-related experiences is part of a continuum of 
learning for learners aged 3 to 16. Success for a young primary school learner could include:

• acting a variety of different jobs through role play

• belief that they can do any job – tackling gender stereotyping

• communicating with people in their community about the different jobs they do and the rewards 
that a job can bring.

By progressing learning, success for 16-year-old learners could include: 

• demonstrating and applying the skills learned in relation to the world of work

• identifying interests, strengths and skills to make informed post-16 choices

• understanding and demonstrating the behaviours an employer looks for in a good employee

• evaluating risks when developing a business idea and exploring different methods of setting up 
and sustaining an enterprise.

Work-related experiences
Learners develop interests, strengths, skills and aspirations through experiences as part of the 
curriculum and life beyond school. A range of partners support these exciting journeys through 
co-design and co-delivery and together shape children and young people’s decisions about their 
future and the pathways they follow. Opportunities, such as visits, guest speakers and practical 
activities, can help enhance and contextualise learning.

Humanities helps learners foster an understanding of employment rights, ethical entrepreneurship, 
business ethics, money lending/borrowing, and promoting sustainable green industrial processes 
and practices.

Collaboration and access to individuals and employers, for example in local government, hospitality, 
law practitioners, banks and building societies, teaching, health and safety, can provide learners with 
opportunities to learn about work, employment and the skills valued in the workplace. 

Learners can use the knowledge and skills gained in taking part in work-related experiences 
to develop successful enterprise activities. In Humanities these can provide authentic learning 
experiences that develop learners as creative, enterprising contributors, and enable them to form 
links to the world of work.  

Introduction

Page 31



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   15Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   15

Understanding post-16 and higher education opportunities
It is essential for learners to be aware of all opportunities available to them post-16. Therefore, as 
well as understanding about employment, training and apprenticeships, learners should be provided 
with information and the opportunity to engage with a range of learning providers. Opportunities 
for engagement should include attending careers and skills fairs, talks from and visits to further 
and higher education providers, as well as presentations from students in further or higher 
education. Learners should be directed to online research tools that provide course and progression 
information to support their understanding of the range of learning opportunities available, to help 
raise their aspirations and form a basis on which informed decisions can be made.

Relationships and sexuality education

The Humanities Area of Learning and Experience will be a natural place to embed content relating 
to relationships and sexuality education. Enquiry within Humanities enables critical questioning 
and provides opportunities to seek and find meaning about human experiences and the world. 
This includes exploring personal relationships, rights, shared values, gender and sexuality. 
Humanities enables learners to consider issues from a variety of perspectives. It also provides a 
safe environment to explore equality and non-discrimination, and opportunities to discuss sensitive 
issues, e.g. gender-based violence and female genital mutilation/cutting (FGM/C). In Humanities 
there will be opportunities to develop understanding of the United Nations Convention on the Rights 
of the Child (UNCRC) and for encouraging learners to recognise their own and others’ rights.

Relationships
Humanities encourages positive attitudes toward other people whereby others are treated 
respectfully regardless of their ethnicity; race; social, economic or immigration status; religion; 
disability; sexual orientation; gender identity or expression; or sex characteristics. 

Values, rights, culture and sexuality
The Humanities Area of Learning and Experience explores attitudes, values and laws within 
societies including discussion of sexuality and sexual behaviour, gender equality, diversity 
and human rights. There will be opportunities to explore rights and their history and the social, 
psychological, spiritual, religious, political, legal, historic, ethical and cultural dimensions that 
influence sexuality over a lifespan. Humanities addresses discrimination based on sexual orientation 
or gender identity and offers learners opportunities to explore their own and others’ cultures.

Understanding gender
Humanities enables learners to build awareness of the centrality and diversity of gender and to 
understand how gender norms have been shaped by society, culture and beliefs. 

Violence and staying safe
Humanities provides learners with the opportunity to understand the challenges facing people in 
Wales and the wider world. In Humanities there is a focus upon commitment toward social action as 
caring, participative citizens of local, national and global communities. Learning within Humanities 
will examine commitment to justice and diversity, the importance of responding appropriately 
to violence, staying safe, and promoting peace and security for others within communities and 
societies. Digital humanities can focus on the positive and harmful effects of social media, and how 
people can portray themselves safely and securely online.

Introduction

Page 32



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   16Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   16

Skills for health and well-being
Humanities includes discussions about individuals, societies and the world which includes the need to 
become empathetic, ethical, informed citizens who contribute to safe, healthy, positive relationships. 
Humanities experiences, knowledge and skills promote good health and well-being. Humanities 
explores social and gender norms and how peer influence can affect sexual decision-making and 
behaviour. Enquiry in Humanities gives opportunities for understanding that there are different forms 
of media, which present information and interpretations which may or may not be entirely valid. This 
will show that media can positively or negatively influence values, attitudes and norms about sexuality 
and gender.

The human body and development 
In Humanities there is an opportunity to explore how all cultures have different ways of understanding 
sex, gender, well-being, including body image, reproduction, and when it is appropriate to become 
sexually active.

Sexuality and sexual behaviour
Humanities could consider how sexuality is complex and includes biological, social, psychological, 
spiritual, ethical and cultural dimensions that evolve over the lifespan.

Sexual and reproductive health
Every society, culture and generation has its own beliefs about sexual behaviours and it is important 
to know the facts. 

Religious education

Religious education is a mandatory part of the current basic curriculum for 5 to 16-year-olds.
Community schools, foundation schools and voluntary schools without a religious character must 
follow the agreed syllabus. An agreed syllabus conference develops the curriculum content for 
religious education in each local authority area.

Foundation schools and voluntary controlled schools with a religious character must also provide 
religious education in accordance with the agreed syllabus unless parents/carers request that their 
child be provided with religious education in accordance with the trust deed for the school or, if there 
is no trust deed, in accordance with the tenets of the religion.

Foundation schools and voluntary aided schools with a religious character must provide religious 
education in accordance with the trust deed for the school or, if there is no trust deed, in accordance 
with the tenets of the religion. However, if the parents/carers request it, and if no other local school 
is able to provide it, the governing body of the school shall, as far as reasonably possible, provide 
religious education in accordance with the agreed syllabus.

In proposals for Curriculum for Wales 2022, religious education will continue to be compulsory. 
There is currently an exemption from religious education for registered learners in Nursery classes. 
It is proposed that the exemption be repealed. We do not propose that funded non-maintained 
settings will be required to teach the agreed syllabus but they will have to have regard to guidance 
as to how best this could be taught.

Introduction

Page 33



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   17Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   17

We do not intend to make any change to the requirement for schools to deliver the agreed 
syllabus. Voluntary aided schools with a religious character will continue to be able to deliver 
their denomination syllabi and parents/carers of learners attending voluntary controlled schools 
can continue to request that their child studies the denominational syllabus rather than the locally 
agreed syllabus if they wish.

A new supporting framework is being developed to provide further detail about the relationship 
between religious education, the agreed syllabus, and the areas of learning and experience. 
This is being taken forward by a group of religious education practitioners, curriculum pioneers, 
academics, and representatives from Standing Advisory Councils on Religious Education 
(SACREs) and the National Advisory Panel for Religious Education (NAPFRE).

It is our intention also that religious education reflects our historical and contemporary relationship 
in Wales to philosophy and religious views, including non-religious beliefs. Therefore the current 
legislation will be amended to ensure the agreed syllabus for religious education takes account of 
non-religious world views which are analogous to religions (e.g. humanism).

Enrichment and experiences

Learners should have access to a broad range of experiences and enrichment opportunities. The 
Humanities Area of Learning and Experience should encourage all learners to feel engaged in 
and have ownership of their learning. 

Meaningful engagement with communities can be enjoyable and memorable. For example, 
experiential learning gives learners opportunities to engage in role play or to participate in 
activities such as celebrations or re-enactments. Learners should have opportunities to consider 
what influences people as they respond to ethical dilemmas, solve real and present problems or 
explore past events.

Learners should experience the wonder and mystery of the natural world, historical locations, and 
religious and cultural sites. They should experience playing and learning in and exploring rich 
indoor and outdoor environments. Humanities uses field trips and visits within the local community 
and further afield as a starting point to teach key concepts or to enhance learning through 
first-hand experience. Speaking to visitors and experts, using observation and participation in 
experiential learning, such as cultural activities, helps all children and young people to learn about 
human experiences.

Introduction

Page 34



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   18Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   18Introduction

Putting the area of learning and experience into practice
The four purposes of the curriculum are the key drivers for developing the Humanities curriculum. 
Therefore, teachers must consider how their teaching and programmes of learning contribute to the 
development of these characteristics within learners in Wales.

As a matter of principle, practitioners should be free to decide on the organisation of this area 
of learning and experience, and the choice of content to be covered. This autonomy allows for 
content to be adapted to suit the differing needs of learners. This allows for flexibility and greater 
opportunities to ensure that learners’ input can help shape their learning. It is also worth bearing in 
mind that any content or topic area can be taught at any point on the continuum.

Key concepts and ideas should regularly and explicitly be revisited in order to consolidate and 
deepen understanding. Schools should select content to ensure there is increasing range as 
learners progress through school so that the key concepts can be explored more thoroughly. 
Revisiting concepts should not be repetitive, however, but should provide ever more complex 
challenges, allowing learners to access new experiences, knowledge and skills. 

School curriculum design should ensure that learners’ locality and Welsh contexts and experiences 
are seen as significant and central to planning.  

Content should also be selected to ensure that learners are able to make connections within 
and between the what matters statements in this area of learning and experience, and to ensure 
progression in the skills identified in the progression steps. Schools and teachers should also 
ensure that they select content that: 

• allows learners to gain a thorough understanding of their locality, of Wales and the wider world

• is intrinsically interesting, relevant and stimulating for learners  

• meets the purposes of the curriculum and the wider purposes of education in terms of life skills 
and work skills, and essential social, economic, political and cultural understanding  

• covers events, people and processes that have had considerable effects 

• promotes higher-order thinking, conceptual development and enquiry skills 

• facilitates authentic experiences that support the development of the types of knowledge and 
skills learners are likely to need in the future   

• provides opportunities for both broad topic areas, and more detailed studies

• provides opportunities for links between what matters statements in Humanities and other areas 
of learning and experience.

At ages 14 to 16, this area of learning and experience will allow learners to follow their interests 
in more depth as they progress, so that they can specialise in one or more discipline, while also 
maintaining a broad humanities entitlement. Individual disciplines will naturally become more visible 
in Progression steps 4 and 5, and such specialisation will involve an increase in depth of disciplinary 
knowledge, complex skills and enriched experiences.

Page 35



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   19Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   19

This will also pave the way for further specialisation during further and higher education, and in the 
world of work. Greater specialisation in individual disciplines should not lead to a narrowing of the 
curriculum, however. All what matters statements remain central to those disciplines.

The continuation of a degree of breadth at ages 14 to 16 takes the statutory nature of religious 
education into account. 

Introduction

Page 36



WHAT MATTERS IN 
HUMANITIES

Developing an enquiring mind enables 
learners to explore and investigate the world, 
past, present and future, for themselves. 

Learners’ journey through Humanities will be characterised by enquiry and 
discovery, as they are encouraged to be curious and to question, to think critically 
and to reflect upon evidence. Through such enquiry, learners gain a deeper 
understanding of the concepts underpinning Humanities, and their application in 
local, national and global contexts. An enquiring mind stimulates new and creative 
thinking. Engaging with questions empowers learners to understand human 
experiences and the natural world. 

Learners use appropriate disciplinary approaches, including digital humanities, 
to gather, analyse, and evaluate a range of evidence, and to communicate and 
present their findings. Learners interpret and synthesise information to build upon 
what they have already learned and further inform their understanding of the world. 
By thinking critically about their discoveries, learners draw informed conclusions, 
but also understand that some conclusions can only be partial or inconclusive and 
open to different interpretations. Learners carefully reflect in order to improve their 
methodology and extend or deepen their enquiry. Learners will also understand 
that, as well as being a process, enquiry is a quest to understand the human 
condition. Indeed, enquiry enables self-reflection which adds meaning to their own 
lives and contributes to their sense of place in the world.

Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   20

Page 37



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   21Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   21

Learning

Principles of progression are the basis on which the achievement outcomes have been developed 
and should guide the progression of learning within the area of learning and experience.

This area of learning and experience will help learners gain:

• increased sophistication of conceptual understanding, whereby learners see beyond a list of 
facts and engage with those ideas that underpin the disciplines that make up Humanities, and 
how these interrelate in different contexts

• increased depth of knowledge, characterised by linking new learning to existing knowledge, 
developing a more sophisticated understanding and resolving the conflicts that can emerge from 
different points of view  

• an ability to work with an increasing number of more sophisticated sources of information

• more sophisticated use of relevant skills, including appropriate use of subject-specific terminology 

• increasing independence and self-regulation.

Principles of progression

What Matters in Humanities

Achievement outcomes

I can ask and respond to a range of questions as part of enquiries.

I can make suggestions for possible enquiries.

I can make and record my observations in a variety of ways. 

I can collect and record information and data from given sources in order to answer specific 
questions.

I can sort and group evidence, using more than one criterion relating to an enquiry.

I can give simple explanations for my findings.

I can draw simple conclusions. 

Progression step 2

Achievement outcomes

I can ask simple questions and offer possible answers based on previous experiences.

I can begin to record my observations in simple ways and communicate my findings.

I have shown curiosity about the world around me.

Progression step 1

Page 38



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   22Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   22

I have had opportunities to participate in enquiries, focusing on my locality, Wales and the 
wider world.

I have used a range of stimuli and evidence, including visual, physical and oral sources, that 
have been provided for me. 

I have had a range of opportunities to collaborate with others to explore and engage in primary 
research, including fieldwork and visits, and to investigate local environments or issues.

Achievement outcomes

I can use my experiences and knowledge to frame appropriate enquiries.

I can generate ideas, make predictions, and plan several different ways to approach a given 
situation or task, as well as experiment with a range of options when putting these ideas into 
action. 

I can explore the differences between facts, opinions and beliefs. 

I can find and collect a range of evidence to support my enquiry with some independence.

I can present my findings in a range of ways, using appropriate methods.

I can evaluate the significance and usefulness of the evidence I am exploring.  

I can interpret data and information and use this to inform my conclusions, giving reasons.

I can draw and present conclusions for my findings, and can describe an evidence-supported 
decision or conclusion based on the enquiry process I have undertaken. 

I can evaluate and reflect on my enquiry, describing the steps I have taken, and identify areas 
for improvement.  

I have actively engaged in enquires, both independently and collaboratively. 

I have undertaken enquiries focusing on interdisciplinary themes.

I have experienced enquiries focusing on my locality, Wales and the wider world in the past 
and present.  

I have experienced enquiries focusing on my own beliefs, values and world views, and those 
of others. 

I have used a range of sources and evidence, including written, visual, physical and oral 
sources that have been gained from my research. 

I have experienced opportunities for undertaking primary research in my local area and 
beyond.

Progression step 3

What Matters in Humanities

Page 39



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   23Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   23

Achievement outcomes

I can formulate and respond to open-ended and complex questions.

I can consider a range of known strategies to conduct an enquiry and independently select the 
most effective approach. 

I can independently identify and select a variety of relevant evidence, and I can infer meaning 
to draw reasoned conclusions. 

I can select the appropriate research methods.

I can gather a variety of relevant evidence, including quantitative and qualitative data.

I can present my findings and data, utilising a range of increasingly sophisticated methods.

I can analyse my findings, describing patterns and explaining relationships across data sets.

I can describe the decision or conclusion I have come to. 

I can understand that others can draw different conclusions even when using the same 
evidence.

I can evaluate the usefulness and analyse the reliability of evidence.

I can reference the sources I have used to reach my conclusions.

I can effectively evaluate the success of the enquiry process used, and suggest some 
improvements.

I can understand that each of the above are required elements of a process of enquiry, which 
can be applied to a variety of Humanities questions.

I can identify and explain some differences between the process of enquiry in the different 
Humanities disciplines.

I have undertaken independent and collaborative enquiries in Humanities. 

I have had the opportunity for reflection on how my enquiry may add meaning to my own life 
and may contribute to my sense of place in the world. 

I have undertaken enquiries focusing on questions relating to specific Humanities subject 
areas, as well as interdisciplinary themes and questions. 

I have developed and led my own enquiries focusing on my locality, Wales, and the wider 
world, now and in the past.

I have developed and led my own enquiries focusing on my own beliefs, values and world 
views, and those of others.

Progression step 4

What Matters in Humanities

Page 40



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   24Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   24

Achievement outcomes

I can independently formulate and respond to complex open-ended questions.  

I can independently select the appropriate research methods and types of evidence, 
depending on the disciplinary context of the enquiry.

I can gather a variety of relevant evidence, including quantitative and qualitative data. 

I can independently select the appropriate method of presenting my findings and conclusions, 
and I can reference my work appropriately. 

I can communicate the results of my enquiry using a variety of methods appropriate to the 
subject matter, purpose and audience. 

I can interpret evidence, infer meaning and draw conclusions, synthesising a range of 
evidence.

I can evaluate the usefulness and reliability of qualitative and quantitative evidence, 
considering its content, provenance, purpose, context and limitations. 

I can understand the impact of sources of authority and analyse how they are interpreted 
and used. 

I can make coherent, substantiated responses and judgements that are balanced and take into 
consideration a range of viewpoints.   

I can independently evaluate the success of my enquiries, suggest improvements and refine 
my methodology for future enquires.

I can make considered reflections for further research or extension of the enquiry.

I can explain the similarities and differences between enquiries in the subject areas within 
Humanities.

I have taken a leading role in developing enquiries focusing on my locality, Wales, and the 
wider world in one or more of the disciplines in Humanities.

I have utilised a range of sources, including those from my own research, to add depth to my 
enquiries. 

I have had the opportunity for self-reflection, considering how my enquiry might add meaning 
to my own life and might contribute to my sense of place in the world.

Progression step 5

What Matters in Humanities

Page 41



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   25Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   25

When learners are engaged in discipline-specific enquiries, the following should be added 
to Progression step 5.  

Geography
I can predict possible outcomes to geographical research. 

I can collect relevant quantitative and qualitative primary and secondary data accurately. 

I can interpret and present data in a graphical or cartographical form. 

I can draw conclusions from geographical data using statistical skills where appropriate.   

History
I can understand the subjective and incomplete nature of historical evidence. 

I can analyse and evaluate the reliability, utility and validity of primary and secondary historical 
evidence in context of the specific enquiry. 

I can fully justify and support my conclusions, while acknowledging the limitations of judgements 
about the past based on the available evidence.  

Religious education
I can engage in philosophical enquiry considering the diversity, complexity and plurality of religious 
and non-religious world views. 

I can understand that Ultimate questions are complex, and answers are often partial and 
inconclusive. 

I can appreciate, empathise with and critically evaluate sources of wisdom and authority, and 
religious and non-religious world views, in order to form my own reasoned conclusions. 

I can observe and investigate forms of religious expression, and can critically evaluate how aspects 
of religion and belief impact upon me, other individuals, local society and global society.  

Business studies and social studies
I can plan and follow appropriate social studies or business studies methodologies, using primary 
and secondary social research methods when appropriate. 

I can collect, collate and analyse primary data using appropriate sampling techniques. 

I have considered and acted upon my ethical responsibilities as a social studies and business 
studies researcher.

What Matters in Humanities

Page 42



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   26Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   26

Planning for learning

Links within this area of learning and experience
This section suggests where learning can be enriched through drawing links between other what 
matters statements across the Humanities Area of Learning and Experience. It also suggests where 
different elements of learning could be considered together in order to support more holistic learning. 
Developing an enquiring mind and experiencing enquiries allows learners to investigate and consider 
all aspects of Humanities.

Events and human experiences are complex, and are perceived, interpreted and 
represented in different ways.
• Enquiries with a focus on exploring different interpretations.  

• Secondary evidence used in enquiries can illustrate varied viewpoints, interpretations and 
representations.  

Our natural world is diverse and dynamic, influenced by physical processes and 
human actions. 
• Enquiries with a focus on human relationships and impact upon the natural world. 

Human societies are complex and diverse, and are shaped by human actions and beliefs.
• Enquiries with a focus on how societies are diverse and plural.

• Enquiries with a focus on change and continuity.

Informed, self-aware citizens engage with the challenges and opportunities that face 
humanity, and are able to take considered, ethical and sustainable action. 

• Through enquiry, learners develop their understanding of challenges and opportunities facing 
humanity.

What Matters in Humanities

Page 43



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   27Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   27

Links with other areas of learning and experience
This section suggests where learning can be enriched through drawing links between other what 
matters statements across all the areas of learning and experience. It also suggests where different 
elements of learning could be considered together in order to support more holistic learning.

Expressive Arts
• Art, music, theatre, literature as evidence for and a focus of enquiries.  

Health and Well-being
• Using Humanities methodology to consider aspects of health and well-being such as mental, 

physical and emotional health.  

Languages, Literacy and Communication 
• Literature as evidence for and a focus of enquiries.  

Mathematics and Numeracy
• Use of qualitative data as evidence for enquiries.  

• Collection of primary data. 

• Sampling methods and statistical techniques of analysing data.   

• Representation of data in graphical form.  

• Interpreting a range of graphs. 

• Sorting and classifying. 

• Spotting trends and anomalies.

Science and Technology
• The nature of enquiry as it relates to Science and Technology.

What Matters in Humanities

Page 44



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   28Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   28

Experiences, knowledge and skills
In this what matters statement, learners should explore the concepts of questioning, evidence, 
evaluation, validity, reliability, bias, ethics and judgements.

Learners need to experience:
• a range of stimuli that aim to enthuse and inspire them to imagine and be curious, and to 

explore, discover and question 

• a range of ongoing opportunities for exploration and discovery through play 

• a range of opportunities to enquire and to learn outdoors, as well as indoors, including both 
physical and digital learning 

• using a range of different visual, oral, written and physical sources 

• engagement in enquiries, individually and collaboratively 

• engagement with philosophical questioning 

• enquiries focusing on learners’ locality, Wales and the wider world in the past and present. 

Learners need to know how to and be able to: 
• explore, observe and question  

• gather, sort and group different types of evidence  

• make and record observations and findings, using digital and other methods

• draw and explain a simple conclusion 

• undertake enquires relating to a range of interdisciplinary themes 

• explore philosophical questions about life.

Progression step 2

Learners need to experience:
• a range of stimuli that aim to enthuse and inspire them to imagine and be curious, and to 

explore, discover and question 

• a range of ongoing opportunities for exploration and discovery through play  

• a range of opportunities to enquire and to learn outdoors, as well as indoors, including both 
physical and digital learning 

• using a range of different visual, oral, written and physical sources 

• enquiries focusing on learners’ locality, Wales and the wider world in the past and present.

Learners need to know how to and be able to: 
• explore, observe and question 

• make and record observations and findings, using digital and other methods.

Progression step 1

What Matters in Humanities

Page 45



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   29Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   29

Learners need to experience:
• a range of stimuli that aim to enthuse and inspire them to imagine and be curious, and to 

explore, discover and question 

• a range of opportunities to enquire and to learn outdoors, as well as indoors, including both 
physical and digital learning

• using a range of different visual, oral, written and physical sources

• engagement in enquiries, individually and collaboratively 

• engagement with philosophical questioning 

• enquiries focusing on learners’ locality, Wales and the wider world in the past and present. 

Learners need to know: 
• the methodology used in Humanities enquiries and how this may differ between disciplines

• the difference between facts, opinion, beliefs and how this contributes to the relevance and 
use of evidence.

Learners need to know how to and be able to: 
• undertake enquiries relating to both interdisciplinary and disciplinary themes 

• select enquiry methods appropriate to the specific enquiry 

• observe and use prior knowledge to formulate appropriate questions  

• gather evidence from a range of sources

• interpret findings in order to draw a conclusion or make a judgement 

• identify the relevance of the information collected   

• arrange and present findings appropriately, using digital techniques when appropriate  

• reflect on enquiries, ask questions about the learning process, and also look forward to 
where an enquiry is leading next

• reflect on and evaluate the application of digital tools in enquiries.

Progression step 3

Learners need to experience:
• a range of stimuli that aim to enthuse and inspire them to imagine and be curious, and to 

explore, discover and question 

• a range of opportunities to enquire and to learn outdoors, as well as indoors, including both 
physical and digital learning 

• using a range of different visual, oral, written and physical sources 

• engagement in enquiries, individually and collaboratively 

• engagement with philosophical questioning 

Progression step 4

What Matters in Humanities

Page 46



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   30Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   30

• enquiries focusing on learners’ locality, Wales and the wider world in the past and present 

• opportunities for self-reflection as they consider how their enquiry may add meaning to their 
life and may contribute to their sense of their place in the world.

Learners need to know: 
• appropriate methodologies for the collection of data and evidence

• the similarities and differences between enquiry methods in each subject area. 

Learners need to know how to and be able to: 
• undertake enquiries that are focused on interdisciplinary as well as subject-focused 

questions and issues

• observe and use prior knowledge to ask and frame appropriate questions

• gather evidence from a range of sources gained from outdoor learning, and primary and 
secondary research

• identify the relevance of the information collected to the specific context of the enquiry

• use various methods to present evidence from enquiries, including using digital techniques 
where appropriate

• interpret, critically analyse and evaluate a wide range of written, visual, physical and oral 
evidence, including factual, philosophical and interpretative evidence 

• interpret findings in order to draw, present and justify substantiated conclusions 

• reflect on and evaluate the effectiveness of enquiries 

• reflect on and evaluate the application of digital tools in enquiries.

Learners need to experience:
• a range of stimuli that aim to enthuse and inspire them to imagine and be curious, and to 

explore, discover and question 

• a range of opportunities to enquire and to learn outdoors, as well as indoors, including both 
physical and digital learning 

• using a range of different visual, oral, written and physical sources 

• engagement in enquiries, individually and collaboratively 

• engagement with philosophical questioning 

• enquiries focusing on learners’ locality, Wales and the wider world in the past and present 

• opportunities for self-reflection as they consider how their enquiry may add meaning to their 
life and may contribute to their sense of their place in the world. 

Learners need to know: 
• appropriate methodologies for the collection of data and evidence  

• the similarities and differences between enquiry methods in each subject area. 

Progression step 5

What Matters in Humanities

Page 47



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   31Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   31

Learners need to know how to and be able to: 
• undertake enquiries that are focused on interdisciplinary as well as subject-focused 

questions and issues

• observe and use prior knowledge to ask and frame appropriate questions

• gather evidence from a range of sources gained from outdoor learning, and primary and 
secondary research

• identify the relevance of the information collected to the specific context of the enquiry

• use various methods to present evidence from enquiries, including using digital techniques 
where appropriate

• interpret, critically analyse and evaluate a wide range of written, visual, physical and oral 
evidence, including factual, philosophical and interpretative evidence 

• interpret findings in order to draw, present and justify substantiated conclusions 

• reflect on and evaluate the effectiveness of enquiries 

• reflect on and evaluate the application of digital tools in enquiries.

In addition to the above at Progression step 5, in their discipline-specific enquiries learners 
should have opportunities to undertake the following. 

Geography
• Enquiries linked to environmental and geographic events and themes, which includes fieldwork 

and learning outside the classroom, use of geographical information systems, gathering 
quantitative and qualitative data, and statistical analysis of numerical data.

History
• Historical enquiries that would include developing an understanding of the use and value of 

written, visual, and physical evidence (including first-hand or primary evidence, as well as 
secondary sources) to explain how and why historical interpretations are formed.

Religious education
• Enquiries exploring complex philosophical questions about the meaning and purpose of life. 

This includes engaging with Ultimate questions raised by the world around them, their own life 
experiences and aspects of religion, as well as using sources of wisdom and philosophy. 

Business studies and social studies
• Enquiries linked to business and economic themes, using forms of media, data, case studies and 

market research.

• Enquires exploring contemporary and controversial social issues, people’s views and 
perspectives on social issues, and the ways that people participate in society and social action.

What Matters in Humanities

Page 48



WHAT MATTERS IN 
HUMANITIES

Events and human experiences are complex, 
and are perceived, interpreted and represented 
in different ways.

Learners in Wales are forever trying to make sense of the world around 
them, a world they encounter though a variety of perspectives. Humanities 
encourages them to critically review the ways the events and experiences 
of that world are represented and interpreted, using this information to 
construct their own informed perspectives.  

Learners understand how various factors can influence their own and others’ 
perceptions and interpretations, while also developing an appreciation of 
how narratives and representations are constructed, and exploring how and 
why interpretations may differ. As they develop a critical understanding of 
a range of interpretations and representations, they will be better placed to 
evaluate their validity, and to foster a more holistic understanding of events, 
experiences and the natural world. This will enable learners in Wales to 
develop self-awareness as they create their own informed viewpoints.

Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   32

Page 49



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   33Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   33

Learning

Principles of progression are the basis on which the achievement outcomes have been developed 
and should guide the progression of learning within the area of learning and experience.

This area of learning and experience will help learners gain:

• increased sophistication of conceptual understanding, whereby learners see beyond a list of 
facts and engage with those ideas that underpin the disciplines that make up Humanities, and 
how these interrelate in different contexts

• increased depth of knowledge, characterised by linking new learning to existing knowledge, 
developing a more sophisticated understanding and resolving the conflicts that can emerge from 
different points of view  

• an ability to work with an increasing number of more sophisticated sources of information

• more sophisticated use of relevant skills, including appropriate use of subject-specific terminology 

• increasing independence and self-regulation.

Principles of progression

Achievement outcomes

I can recognise other people’s viewpoints about familiar events or experiences.  

I can recognise that not everything will stay the same and that time can cause opinions to 
change. 

I can understand that other people explain things in different ways, and I can consider the 
merits of these different viewpoints and explanations. 

Progression step 2

Achievement outcomes

I can communicate my ideas about my own experiences.  

I can recognise that my feelings, actions and opinions can be different from those of others. 

I can understand personal events in the past, present and future are significant to me.  

I can form and express my opinion about familiar issues and recognise that my opinion has 
value to me. 

I have had opportunities to discuss my opinions about things I have experienced with other 
people.

Progression step 1

What Matters in Humanities

Page 50



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   34Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   34

I can describe my feelings, actions and opinions, and explain how they are different from those 
of others. 

I can form an opinion about something that is important to me, considering my own ideas and 
those of others.

I have had opportunities to discuss my opinions and ideas with other people.

Achievement outcomes

I can explain reasons people may have or may use to explain events and issues in different 
ways.

I can understand that interpretations are influenced by a range of factors. 

I can explain some reasons why people have different opinions about the significance of 
people, events and experiences in the past and present, and can form my own opinions of 
their significance.

Progression step 4

Achievement outcomes

I can give evidence for an argument or viewpoint and present counterarguments.

I have been able to infer people’s opinions, viewpoints and interpretations from sources and 
evidence.

I can recognise that people have different opinions about the significance of people, events 
and experiences in the past and present.

I can recognise, accept and understand that people have different opinions and viewpoints 
about an issue, and am able to compare different interpretations of the same issue. 

I can recount the evidence people use to interpret events and issues in different ways.  

I have been able to form, express and discuss my own opinion on issues, after considering 
some evidence and the views of others.

I have discussed my own and others’ responses to questions about life, experiences and the 
world, including consideration of Ultimate questions, and I have discussed these issues with 
people who do not always have the same opinion as I have.

I understand that people’s views and opinions may change over time.

I can explain how some aspects of the past have been represented and interpreted in 
different ways.

Progression step 3

What Matters in Humanities

Page 51



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   35Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   35

I can infer and evaluate interpretations and viewpoints from a range of sources and evidence.  

I can draw on a range of interpretations to come to a reasoned personal perspective. 

I can express, justify and discuss my personal opinions in debates and in writing. 

I can appreciate that my interpretations are influenced by my identity, experiences and beliefs.

I can understand that interpretations, including my own, can change over time, especially in 
the light of new evidence or when approached from a different perspective.

I can see that some interpretations and opinions have greater validity than others.  

I can explain how interpretations can influence people’s actions, traditions and forms of 
expression.

Achievement outcomes

I can accept that questions about life, experiences and the world are complex and that 
responses are often partial and inconclusive, and I can discuss accordingly. 

I can analyse the impacts of different perspectives in response to questions about life, 
experiences and the world on my own life and on the lives of others. 

I can explain and analyse a range of reasons why people have different opinions about the 
significance of people, events and experiences in the past and present, and can form, defend 
and justify my own opinions of their significance.  

I can critically evaluate the validity of interpretations by considering how they are shaped and 
influenced by place and belief, and how they can change over time.  

I have investigated what influences and shapes my own interpretations, and I can explain how 
my views are influenced by social, cultural and historical contexts.  

I can appreciate the varied lenses through which one views the world and recognise the 
limitations of my own perspective.  

I have begun to challenge my own values and perspectives.   

I can evaluate the credibility and validity of a range of perspectives and use this evaluation to 
support the development of my own informed, justified and balanced judgements about life, 
events and experiences. 

I can integrate new or revised perspectives into my own thinking.  

I can infer subtle interpretations from sources and evidence.  

I have explored how people’s interpretations and views have led to certain actions.   

I have had opportunities to form, express and discuss personal opinions about a range of 
issues across the Humanities.

Progression step 5

What Matters in Humanities

Page 52



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   36Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   36

I can form, justify, and support my own interpretations.  

I have had opportunities to discuss, analyse and evaluate the interpretations offered by others.  

I have explored the complexity of local, national and global issues, and engaged with multiple 
perspectives relating to these issues.  

I have used different perspectives to explore issues.

I have had opportunities to engage in formal and informal debates on a range of current and 
controversial topics.

When learners are engaged in discipline-specific enquiries, the following should be added 
to Progression step 5.  

Geography
I can understand and describe how geographical interpretations are influenced by a range of 
factors.  

I can explain how interpretations of place, landscapes, environments and cultures may change 
over time.  

I can understand how people’s interpretations of place, landscapes, environments and cultures 
influence their actions.  

I can express and justify my viewpoints about a variety of places, landscapes, environments and 
cultures in Wales and the wider world, and understand that my views may change over time. 

History
I can explain how and why interpretations of historical events have changed over time and explain 
why historians form different interpretations of events.

I can form, express and support my own interpretations of historical events. 

I can understand how my own identity, experiences, opinions, and beliefs can affect my own 
interpretations and understanding of historical events. 

I can adapt or change my interpretations of historical events in the light of new evidence. 

Religious education
I can critically evaluate specific aspects of religion and world views, considering the different 
interpretations of religious teachings and the impact of these upon me, other individuals, local and 
global society. 

I can analyse, interpret and evaluate layers of meaning in religious expression, e.g. symbolism, 
pilgrimage, rituals, rites of passage, ceremonies, literature, art, dance and music. 

I have been able to form, express and support my opinion on a range of Ultimate questions. 

I can express and justify my feelings with integrity and maturity, demonstrating clearly how what 
I have learned has impacted on my own beliefs and values. 

What Matters in Humanities

Page 53



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   37Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   37

Business studies and social studies
I can understand how political, economic and social ideologies influence my own and other people’s 
interpretations of the roles and functions of business in society.

I can understand that there is a range of interpretations of social issues that inform how society is 
structured.

I have engaged with diverse viewpoints and perspectives on social issues and used these insights 
to strengthen my own decisions and opinions.

What Matters in Humanities

Page 54



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   38Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   38

Planning for learning

Links within this area of learning and experience
This section suggests where learning can be enriched through drawing links between other what 
matters statements across the Humanities Area of Learning and Experience. It also suggests where 
different elements of learning could be considered together in order to support more holistic learning.

Developing an enquiring mind enables learners to explore and investigate the world, past, 
present and future, for themselves.
• Understanding that interpretations and viewpoints can develop from specific enquiries. 

• Interpretations presented by specific sources and evidence. 

Our natural world is diverse and dynamic, influenced by physical processes and 
human actions. 
• Interpretations and viewpoints on the relationship between humans and the natural world, 

e.g. climate change.

Human societies are complex and diverse, and are shaped by human actions and beliefs.
• Historical interpretations of people and events.

• Interpretations linked to political ideologies.

• Interpretations linked to religions and world views.

Informed, self-aware citizens engage with the challenges and opportunities that face 
humanity, and are able to take considered, ethical and sustainable action. 
• An individual’s viewpoint of their own role and responsibility as a citizen. 

• Differing interpretations of the key challenges and opportunities facing humanity.

What Matters in Humanities

Page 55



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   39Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   39

Links with other areas of learning and experience
This section suggests where learning can be enriched through drawing links between other what 
matters statements across all the areas of learning and experience. It also suggests where different 
elements of learning could be considered together in order to support more holistic learning.

Expressive Arts
• Expressive arts act as mediums for the expression of interpretations and viewpoints.  

Health and Well-being
• How individuals perceive and interpret events and experiences in different ways. 

• How citizenship is linked to and impacted by social influences. 
• How the values and norms of individuals form a collective identity and collective values.

Languages, Literacy and Communication 
• Literature as a medium of expression for interpretations. 

• Identity and language. 

Mathematics and Numeracy
• Interpreting data, i.e. economic trends.

Science and Technology
• Interpretations of scientific discoveries and their impact on the world.

• Perceptions of the natural world.

What Matters in Humanities

Page 56



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   40Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   40

Experiences, knowledge and skills
In this what matters statement, learners should explore concepts including seeking meaning, 
Ultimate and philosophical questions, representations, perspectives, historical interpretations, 
significance, validity and making judgements.

Learners need to experience:
• opportunities to engage with a range of issues in their local community to develop their own 

perspective on their locality 

• stimuli that inspire and enthuse them to be curious about, engage in, and explore complex 
and controversial issues in order to make sense of the world   

• a range of opportunities to form and express opinions 

• a range of opportunities to hear and discuss alternative opinions 

• a range of opportunities to access interpretations of issues, e.g. through engaging with 
guest speakers and visiting places of interest 

• accessing interpretations and perspectives through a variety of physical and digital media 

Progression step 2

Learners need to experience:
• opportunities to engage with a range of issues in their local community to develop their own 

perspective on their locality 

• stimuli that enthuse and inspire them to be curious about, engage with and explore their 
locality 

• a range of opportunities to form and express opinions 

• a range of opportunities to hear and discuss alternative opinions 

• a range of opportunities to access interpretations of issues, e.g. through engaging with 
guest speakers and visiting places of interest 

• accessing interpretations and perspectives through a variety of physical and digital media 

• a range of symbolic stories, rituals, artefacts, art, dance, drama, music and food. 

Learners need to know: 
• what opinions are, and recognise that they and others have opinions.

Learners need to know how to and be able to: 
• discuss and express their opinions about their experiences or issues that are familiar 

to them

• recognise that their opinions, and the opinions of others, have value

• use words, signs or symbols to communicate observations, thoughts and feelings.

Progression step 1

What Matters in Humanities

Page 57



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   41Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   41

• a range of opportunities to engage with Ultimate questions  

• a range of symbolic stories, rituals, artefacts, art, dance, drama, music and food.  

Learners need to know how to and be able to: 
• offer their own ideas and make connections  

• explore, find out about and discuss issues and events from within and across the 
Humanities disciplines  

• to form and express their own opinions on issues  

• communicate their observations, thoughts and feelings using words, signs or symbols 

• recognise that people have different opinions and viewpoints and that they may differ from 
their own.

Learners need to experience:
• opportunities to engage with a range of issues in their local community to develop their own 

perspective on their locality 

• stimuli that inspire and enthuse them to be curious about, engage in, and explore complex 
and controversial issues in order to make sense of the world 

• a range of opportunities to form and express opinions

• a range of opportunities to hear and discuss alternative opinions 

• collaborative discussion on a wide range of varied viewpoints and interpretations, including 
opportunities for formal and informal debates 

• a range of opportunities to access interpretations of issues, e.g. through engaging with 
guest speakers and visiting places of interest   

• accessing interpretations and perspectives through a variety of physical and digital media 

• a range of opportunities to engage with Ultimate questions 

• a range of symbolic stories, rituals, artefacts, art, dance, drama, music and food. 

Learners need to know: 
• that people have different opinions and recount the evidence used for these opinions  

• how sources and evidence can provide interpretations  

• how sources and evidence are used to form and justify people’s interpretations.  

Learners need to know how to and be able to: 
• explore local, national and global issues, and engage with multiple perspectives relating to 

these issues 

• engage with a range of issues and compare different interpretations of the same event or 
issue, and consider how people differ in their views of significant people, events or changes

• form, express and discuss opinions  

Progression step 3

What Matters in Humanities

Page 58



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   42Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   42

• engage with interpretations presented in sources, and use these interpretations to support 
their own interpretations  

• explore layers of meaning within symbolic representations.

Learners need to experience:
• opportunities to engage with a range of issues in their local community to develop their own 

perspective on their locality 

• stimuli that inspire and enthuse them to be curious about, engage in, and explore complex 
and controversial issues in order to make sense of the world  

• a range of opportunities to form and express opinions 

• a range of opportunities to hear and discuss alternative opinions 

• collaborative discussion on a wide range of varied viewpoints and interpretations, including 
opportunities for formal and informal debates  

• a range of opportunities to access interpretations of issues, e.g. through engaging with 
guest speakers and visiting places of interest  

• accessing interpretations and perspectives through a variety of physical and digital media 

• a range of opportunities to engage with Ultimate questions

• a range of symbolic stories, rituals, artefacts, art, dance, drama, music and food. 

Learners need to know: 
• what makes an interpretation valid

• how interpretations are shaped and formed

• how selection of evidence influences interpretations and opinions.  

Learners need to know how to and be able to: 
• explore the complexity of local, national and global issues, and engage with multiple 

perspectives relating to these issues  

• explore different interpretations of people, societies, periods of time and events; the role of 
businesses; religious and non-religious world views, beliefs, values, sources and sacred 
texts; places, landscapes, cultures and environments  

• form, express and discuss personal opinions about a range of issues across the Humanities

• draw on a range of interpretations and opinions to come to a reasoned personal perspective  

• use different perspectives to explore issues 

• engage with interpretations found within a range of sources and use these to support or 
contradict their own interpretations and responses  

• explore how people have differing interpretations relating to the significance of events, 
people, changes and experiences

• explore layers of meaning within symbolic representations.

Progression step 4

What Matters in Humanities

Page 59



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   43Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   43

Learners need to experience:
• opportunities to engage with a range of issues in their local community to develop their own 

perspective on their locality 

• stimuli that inspire and enthuse them to be curious about, engage in and explore complex 
and controversial issues in order to make sense of the world  

• a range of opportunities to form and express opinions 

• a range of opportunities to hear and discuss alternative opinions 

• collaborative discussion on a wide range of varied viewpoints and interpretations, including 
opportunities for formal and informal debates  

• a range of opportunities to access interpretations of issues, e.g. through engaging with 
guest speakers, and visiting places of interest 

• accessing interpretations and perspectives through a variety of physical and digital media 

• a range of opportunities to engage with Ultimate questions  

• a range of symbolic stories, rituals, artefacts, art, dance, drama, music and food.  

Learners need to know: 
• the range of factors that contribute to the validity of interpretations

• how interpretations are shaped and formed

• how selection and judgements about the validity of evidence influences interpretations and 
opinions.  

Learners need to know how to and be able to: 
• explore the complexity of local, national and global issues and engage with multiple 

perspectives relating to these issues  

• explore a wide range of different interpretations of people, societies, periods of time, and 
events; role of businesses; religious and non-religious world views, beliefs, values, sources, 
sacred texts; places, landscapes, cultures and environments 

• investigate and understand what influences and shapes their own interpretations and 
opinions and be able to draw on a range of interpretations and opinions to come to a 
reasoned personal perspective 

• explore how and why interpretations are shaped and formed and how they can change 
over time  

• explore how and why people have differing interpretations relating to the significance of 
events, people, changes and experiences  

• evaluate the validity and credibility of interpretations through discussion of how 
interpretations are shaped and how they can change over time

• explore how people’s interpretations and viewpoints have impacted upon their actions.   

• form, express and discuss personal opinions about a range of issues across the Humanities

• discuss, analyse and evaluate the interpretations offered by others

Progression step 5

What Matters in Humanities

Page 60



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   44Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   44

• use different perspectives to explore issues 

• explore multiple perspectives and alternative visions for the future 

• engage with interpretations found within a wide range of sources, and use these to support 
and defend their own interpretations and responses.

When planning discipline-specific learning, the following should be added to the above at 
Progression step 5. 

Geography

Learners need to know: 
• different interpretations of geographical themes

• how interpretations may vary depending upon an individual’s culture, socioeconomic status, age, 
gender, education, travel experiences, etc. 

• how representations of place, cultures and environments change through time, e.g. in cultural 
geography, the representation of place, environments and cultures through music, literature, 
films, etc.  

• how people’s perceptions influence how they interact with places, environments and cultures

• the significance of different viewpoints and perceptions in understanding change in physical and 
human environments at all scales from Wales to the wider world.   

History

Learners need to know: 
• how people and past events in Wales and the wider world have been interpreted in different ways

• how and why historians have come to their interpretations

• how and why historians can form different interpretations of the same event or person 

• how different viewpoints and interpretations have impacted upon events in history.  

Learners need to know how to and be able to: 
• apply appropriate methods of evaluating the validity of historical interpretations. 

Religious education

Learners need to know: 
• perceptions, interpretations and representations of religious and non-religious world views, beliefs 

and practices, symbolism, pilgrimage, rituals, rites of passage, ceremonies, literature, art, rituals, 
dance and music

• about interpreting and evaluating texts, sources of wisdom and authority and other evidence.  

Learners need to know how to and be able to: 
• articulate clearly and coherently personal beliefs, ideas, values and experiences while respecting 

the right of others to differ.

What Matters in Humanities

Page 61



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   45Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   45

Business studies and social studies

Learners need to know: 
• political, economic, business ideologies and perspectives

• the contributions made by Welsh, the United Kingdom, European and global business individuals 
in the past and present

• how the economic decisions of business and industries has impacted on experiences and 
perspectives

• interpretations of social issues and social inequality

• viewpoints and interpretations of society through the ‘lenses’ of identity, multiculturalism, gender 
and sexuality.

What Matters in Humanities

Page 62



WHAT MATTERS IN 
HUMANITIES

Our natural world is diverse and dynamic, influenced 
by physical processes and human actions. 

Learners will have opportunities to nurture curiosity about the natural world and 
understand how and why it changes. This in turn helps learners to identify what 
makes a place distinct and develop an awareness of the interconnections between 
humans and their environment. Consequently, learners are in a better position to 
make connections between the past and present, and to imagine possible futures. 

Through understanding a variety of physical processes, and their causes and 
effects, learners will appreciate how places, environments and landscapes change 
within Wales and the wider world. They will also develop their understanding 
of how human actions in the past and today affect the natural world and how 
the natural world impacts on humans. This will heighten learners’ awareness of 
how the future sustainability of our world is influenced by the impact of human 
actions. It will also encourage learners in Wales to understand, as producers and 
consumers, their impact on the natural world. 

Learners will explore a range of beliefs and philosophies about the natural world, 
and how they influence people’s interactions with the world. They will learn also 
how experiencing the wonder of the natural world can contribute to their spiritual 
development and well-being, and cultivate a sense of place and sense 
of belonging, as embodied in the Welsh word cynefin.

Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   46

Page 63



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   47Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   47

Learning

Principles of progression are the basis on which the achievement outcomes have been developed 
and should guide the progression of learning within the area of learning and experience.

This area of learning and experience will help learners gain:

• increased sophistication of conceptual understanding, whereby learners see beyond a list of 
facts and engage with those ideas that underpin the disciplines that make up Humanities, and 
how these interrelate in different contexts

• increased depth of knowledge, characterised by linking new learning to existing knowledge, 
developing a more sophisticated understanding and resolving the conflicts that can emerge from 
different points of view  

• an ability to work with an increasing number of more sophisticated sources of information

• more sophisticated use of relevant skills, including appropriate use of subject-specific terminology 

• increasing independence and self-regulation.

Principles of progression

Achievement outcomes

I can describe the distinct physical features of places, environments and landscapes in Wales 
and the wider world.

I can recognise some religious and non-religious beliefs about the natural world and how this 
could influence the way people interact with the world.  

I can identify some significant spaces, places and phenomena within the natural world. 

I can describe how people’s actions and the natural world impact upon each other, both in the 
past and present.

Progression step 2

Achievement outcomes

I can recognise where places are and how they are distinct from and similar to each other. 

I can communicate my feelings about the natural world.

Progression step 1

What Matters in Humanities

Page 64



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   48Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   48

Achievement outcomes

I can explain the complex features of places, environments and landscapes at a variety of 
scales, using map skills where appropriate.  

I can describe the distribution and changing patterns of places, spaces and environments over 
time, and the connections between them.  

I can explain the causes and effects of change on places, environments, landscapes and 
people over time, considering interconnections between factors.  

I can explain patterns of continuity and change in the natural world in different periods of 
history.  

I can explain the significance of the impact of physical processes upon human societies in the 
past and present.  

I can understand the responsibility that humans have to create a sustainable natural world. 

Progression step 4

Achievement outcomes

I can describe and locate places, environments and landscapes, including distinctive features 
and landforms, using map skills where appropriate. 

I can describe patterns of distribution of features in the natural world and begin to give reasons 
for these patterns. 

I can show understanding of the causes and effects of the events and physical processes that 
shape places, environments, landscapes and people.

I can describe how human actions have led to both continuity and change in the natural world 
in different periods of history.

I can describe how physical processes have impacted upon human societies in history and 
how they have led to change and continuity.

I can show understanding of the concept of sustainability. 

I can describe a range of religious and non-religious world views about the natural world. 

I can describe some religious and non-religious practices associated with significant spaces, 
places and phenomena within the natural world. 

I can describe how beliefs can impact on human action on the natural world. 

I can communicate my views and feelings about the natural world and the part I play in it.

Progression step 3

What Matters in Humanities

Page 65



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   49Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   49

I can examine a broad range of religious and non-religious world views about the natural world 
and the responsibility humanity has towards it. 

I can describe a range of religious and non-religious practices associated with significant 
spaces, places and phenomena within the natural world. 

I can explain some religious and non-religious world views about the nature of life and death 
and beliefs about life after death and the concept of Ultimate Reality.

Achievement outcomes

I can give comprehensive descriptions and explanations of places, environments and 
landscapes, including distinctive features and landforms, and apply this knowledge to 
unfamiliar environments. 

I can create maps, select and utilise a variety of appropriate complex map skills to accurately 
locate places, environments and landscapes, including use of sophisticated digital 
geographical information systems. 

I can account for distinctive patterns of distribution, at different scales, of features within the 
natural world. 

I can select and evaluate the suitability of digital and other methods used to locate places, 
environments, landscapes and spatial patterns of distribution. 

I can evaluate the environmental cost of business activity and suggest strategies as to how 
different businesses can respond to environmental issues.  

I can comprehensively explain a broad range of physical processes that have contributed to 
the formation of the natural world. 

I can explain and critically evaluate connections between the causes and effects of change on 
places, environments, landscapes and people.

I can critically evaluate the sustainability of strategies to reduce the risk and impact of physical 
processes on people and their environment. 

I can evaluate and explain the patterns of continuity and change in the relationship between 
humans and the environment in the past and present, and the impact each has upon the other 
in a range of contexts and at a range of scales, and can suggest possible strategies to reduce 
these impacts. 

I can understand and explain how environments can become threatened.  

I can understand and explain the consequences of living in an unsustainable way and suggest 
possible sustainable futures.  

I can critically evaluate a broad range of religious and non-religious world views on the nature 
of the natural world and the responsibility humanity has towards it. 

Progression step 5

What Matters in Humanities

Page 66



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   50Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   50

I can evaluate a range of religious and non-religious practices associated with significant 
spaces, places and phenomena within the natural world. 

I can explain and evaluate a range of significant religious and non-religious world views about 
the concepts of Ultimate Reality, the nature of life and death, and beliefs about life after death.

What Matters in Humanities

Page 67



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   51Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   51

Planning for learning

Links within this area of learning and experience
This section suggests where learning can be enriched through drawing links between other what 
matters statements across the Humanities Area of Learning and Experience. It also suggests where 
different elements of learning could be considered together in order to support more holistic learning.

Developing an enquiring mind enables learners to explore and investigate the world, past, 
present and future, for themselves.
• Enquiries focusing on the relationship between humans and the natural world.

Events and human experiences are complex, and are perceived, interpreted and 
represented in different ways.
• Interpretations of changes to the natural world.

• Interpretations of human responsibility towards the natural world.

Human societies are complex and diverse, and are shaped by human actions and beliefs.
• The relative impact of different societies at different times on the natural world.

• How the natural world has impacted upon the evolution of human societies and contributed 
towards change.

Informed, self-aware citizens engage with the challenges and opportunities that face 
humanity, and are able to take considered, ethical and sustainable action. 
• Environmental challenges facing humanity, including climate change.

• An individual’s role and responsibility in environmental protection. 

What Matters in Humanities

Page 68



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   52Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   52

Links with other areas of learning and experience
This section suggests where learning can be enriched through drawing links between other what 
matters statements across all the areas of learning and experience. It also suggests where different 
elements of learning could be considered together in order to support more holistic learning.

Expressive Arts
• The natural world as a stimulus for Expressive Arts. 

Health and Well-being
• The contribution of the natural world to our health and well-being. 

• Environmental factors that affect health and well-being. 

• Food production and sustainability.

Languages, Literacy and Communication 
• The natural world as a stimulus for literature and creative writing. 

• Cultural empathy and sensitivity. 

Mathematics and Numeracy
• Use of appropriate equipment to measure accurately. 

• Scale. 

• Time and chronological ordering.

Science and Technology
• The role of science in explaining the world around us and how it was formed. 

• The impact of scientific and technological development on the natural world.  

• Living things and their place in the natural world.  

What Matters in Humanities

Page 69



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   53Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   53

Experiences, knowledge and skills
In this what matters statement, learners should explore the concepts of place, space, environment, 
physical processes, significance, cause and effect, and change and continuity.

Learners need to experience:
• outdoor learning, which includes exploration and first-hand experiences of places, 

environments and landscapes, to help them understand how the natural world works (this 
should include the learner’s own locality)  

• opportunities to develop a curiosity about and an appreciation of the natural world

• opportunities to experience a sense of awe and wonder, and to reflect upon the natural 
world and their connection to it. 

Learners need to know how to and be able to: 
• locate places, environments and landscapes using a variety of resources 

• recognise distinctive physical features of environments, and identify the similarities and 
differences between them  

• recognise that places change over time and suggest some reasons for this   

• show awareness of some religious and non-religious world views about the natural world, 
including about the origins of the natural world 

• describe how people’s beliefs influence the way they act towards the world 

Progression step 2

Learners need to experience:
• outdoor learning, which includes exploration and first-hand experiences of places, 

environments and landscapes, to help them understand how the natural world works (this 
should include the learner’s own locality) 

• opportunities to develop a curiosity about and an appreciation of the natural world

• opportunities to experience a sense of awe and wonder, and to reflect upon the natural 
world and their connection to it.

Learners need to know how to and be able to: 
• identify the distinctive features of places, environments and landscapes through first-hand 

exploration 

• communicate their feelings and ideas about the features of familiar places 

• recognise change within familiar places at different times of year 

• recognise some of the effects that humans have on places, environments and landscapes

• express their feelings about the natural world.

Progression step 1

What Matters in Humanities

Page 70



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   54Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   54

• describe some of the effects that humans as consumers and producers have on places, 
environments and landscapes

• describe how the natural world has impacted on people and their environments in the past 
and present 

• express their feelings about the natural world.

Learners need to experience:
• outdoor learning, which includes exploration and first-hand experiences of places, 

environments and landscapes, to help them understand how the natural world works (this 
should include the learner’s own locality) 

• opportunities to develop a curiosity about and an appreciation of the natural world 

• opportunities to experience a sense of awe and wonder, and to reflect upon the natural 
world and their connection to it. 

Learners need to know how to and be able to: 
• show understanding of the physical features of places, environments and landscapes in 

Wales and the wider world 

• use annotated maps and diagrams when appropriate

• create simple maps and utilise a variety of map skills to accurately locate places, 
environments and landscapes, using digital and other methods 

• describe the distribution and changing patterns of places, spaces and environments over 
time, using appropriate digital and other map skills  

• identify significant past events and describe how they have changed places, environments 
and landscapes 

• identify how the natural world has impacted on humans in the past and present in both 
positive and negative ways  

• explain how physical processes have contributed to the formation of physical landscapes  

• describe what sustainability means in a variety of contexts, such as how our actions may 
lead to the creation of threatened environments if we do not live in a sustainable way in 
Wales and the wider world 

• describe a range of religious and non-religious beliefs about the natural world and how 
these could influence the way people form beliefs and interact with the world  

• describe religious and non-religious beliefs about the interconnection between humans and 
the environment, and about human responsibility for the natural world  

• communicate their feelings and viewpoints about their interactions with the natural world.

Progression step 3

What Matters in Humanities

Page 71



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   55Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   55

Learners need to experience:
• outdoor learning, which includes exploration and first-hand experiences of places, 

environments and landscapes, to help them understand how the natural world works (this 
should include the learner’s own locality)

• opportunities to develop a curiosity about and an appreciation of the natural world 

• opportunities to experience a sense awe and wonder, and to reflect upon the natural world 
and their connection to it. 

Learners need to know: 
• about a range of themes and concepts, including agricultural and industrial change, climate 

change, consumerism, economic and environmental sustainability, employment, nature, 
natural hazards and disasters, migration, myths, legends and stories, pilgrimage, pollution, 
population, resource scarcity, sacred places, settlements, trade, war and conflict 

• about the impact of businesses and of people’s actions as producers and consumers on 
the natural world

• about the influence of political groups and institutions on the natural world

• the causes and effects of physical processes that shape places, environments and 
landscapes

• the causes and effects of change to places, environments, landscapes and people over 
time, including economic, political, technological and social factors

• that a range of physical processes interact to develop distinctive landscapes at a range 
of scales

• about sustainability in the context of strategies to reduce the risk and impact of physical 
processes on people and their environment

• about a variety of factors that have and continue to have a positive and negative impact on 
the environment in Wales and the wider world.

Learners need to know how to and be able to: 
• give detailed descriptions of place, environments and landscapes, including distinctive 

features and landforms, and type and nature of human communities 

• create and utilise a variety of maps, using their map skills to accurately locate places, 
environments and landscapes, and exploiting digital and other methods, including 
geographical information systems

• describe and explain patterns and reasons for changes in spatial distribution of settlements 
and features, such as migration, population or industrialisation

• explain a range of religious and non-religious practices associated with significant spaces, 
places and phenomena in the natural world  

• describe some religious and non-religious world views about the concepts of Ultimate 
Reality, the nature of life and death, and beliefs about life after death

• describe religious and non-religious world views about change, cause and effect, and the 
interconnection between humans and the natural world  

Progression step 4

What Matters in Humanities

Page 72



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   56Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   56

• explain how a range of world views inform opinions about the sustainability of the world, 
including religious and non-religious world views 

• explore a range of beliefs, ethics and philosophies about the natural world and how they 
influence people’s interactions with the world 

• articulate their experiences and appreciation of interacting with the natural world and the 
effect this has had upon them  

• use annotated maps and diagrams appropriately 

• explore a range of local environments and experience opportunities to develop their 
curiosity about and appreciation of them.

Learners need to experience:
• outdoor learning, which includes exploration and first-hand experiences of places, 

environments and landscapes, to help them understand how the natural world works (this 
should include the learner’s own locality) 

• opportunities to develop a curiosity about and an appreciation of the natural world 

• opportunities to experience a sense of awe and wonder, and to reflect upon the natural 
world and their connection to it. 

Learners need to know: 
• about a range of themes and concepts, including agricultural and industrial change, climate 

change, consumerism, economic and environmental sustainability, employment, nature, 
natural hazards and disasters, migration, myths, legends and stories, pilgrimage, pollution, 
population, resource scarcity, sacred places, settlements, trade, war and conflict 

• about the impact of businesses and of people’s actions as producers and consumers on 
the natural world

• about the influence of political groups and institutions on the natural world

• the concept of sustainability in the context of strategies to reduce the risk and impact 
of physical processes on people and their environment, such as the way governments, 
businesses and other organisations respond to environmental issues

• about a range of religious and non-religious beliefs, teachings and practices associated 
with significant spaces, places and phenomena in the natural world

• about religious and non-religious world views about change, cause and effect regarding 
the natural world, which may include ideas about interconnectedness and dependent 
origination

• about the positive and negative impacts of humans on the natural world in the past and 
present, in Wales and the wider world

• about the impact of the natural world on humans, in the past and present, in Wales and the 
wider world.

Progression step 5

What Matters in Humanities

Page 73



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   57Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   57

Learners need to know how to and be able to: 
• give comprehensive descriptions and explanations of place, environments and landscapes, 

including distinctive features and landforms, and type and nature of human communities  

• create, utilise and evaluate the appropriateness of a variety of complex maps and use their 
map skills to accurately locate places, environments and landscapes, through methods 
which include sophisticated digital geographical information systems  

• evaluate the suitability of digital and other methods used to locate spatial patterns of 
distribution  

• explain the causes of distinctive patterns of distribution, at different scales, of features in 
the natural world 

• describe the distribution and changing patterns of places, spaces and environments over 
time and the connections between them

• describe and explain the development of a range of physical features, environments and 
landscapes in Wales and the wider world  

• explain that a range of physical processes interact to shape distinctive landforms at a range 
of different scales 

• develop a critical understanding of the impact of human actions on a range of places, 
environments and landscapes 

• critically evaluate a range of strategies to reduce the risk and impact of physical processes 
on people and their environment  

• explain how human actions may lead to the creation of threatened environments if we do 
not live in a sustainable way  

• critically evaluate a variety of factors that have and continue to have an impact on the 
environment in Wales and the wider world, such as climate change and the consequences 
of living in an unsustainable way  

• evaluate the causes and effects of change to places, environments, landscapes and people 
over time, including economic, business, political, technological and social factors, having 
an understanding of how these link to sustainability

• evaluate a range of religious and non-religious world views about the concepts of Ultimate 
Reality, the nature of life and death, and beliefs about life after death 

• evaluate a range of religious and non-religious beliefs, ethics and philosophies about 
change, cause and effect, and the interconnection between human experience, behaviour 
and the natural world, taking into account how they influence people’s interactions with it

• explain how a range of world views inform opinions about the sustainability of the world, 
including religious and non-religious world views  

• explain and assess the significance of historical changes and events on the natural world 

• explore a range of environments and experience opportunities to develop their curiosity 
about and appreciation of them 

• articulate their experiences of interacting with the natural world and the effect this has had 
upon them.

What Matters in Humanities

Page 74



WHAT MATTERS IN 
HUMANITIES

Human societies are complex and diverse, 
and shaped by human actions and beliefs.

An appreciation of identity, heritage and cynefin can influence learners 
emotionally and spiritually and help build a sense of self and of belonging. 
Through an understanding of themselves, learners develop their own identity 
and an awareness of how they, as individuals, can shape the communities in 
which they live. Consequently, learners will come to realise that the choices we 
all make, individually and collectively, can have major impacts.  

Learners will develop an understanding of the complex, pluralistic and diverse 
nature of societies in Wales and the wider world. Over time, these societies have 
evolved, experiencing continuity and change that has affected, and continues to 
affect, their own and other people’s lives. This evolution is driven by the interplay 
between a range of factors, including human actions and beliefs, and physical 
forces. Humanities builds an understanding of the causes, consequences and 
significance of the changes and forces that have shaped societies.   

Humanities encourages a critical understanding of how societies in Wales and 
the wider world are organised, structured and led. Societies are characterised 
by a range of cultural, economic, legal and political norms and values. They 
are also dynamic, both driving and reacting to changes on a local, national and 
global scale. Learners will explore the connections between such societies in 
the past and present. They will also be encouraged to explore – and develop a 
tolerant and empathetic understanding of – the varied beliefs, values, traditions 
and ethics that underpin and shape human society.

Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   58

Page 75



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   59Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   59

Learning

Principles of progression are the basis on which the achievement outcomes have been developed 
and should guide the progression of learning within the area of learning and experience.

This area of learning and experience will help learners gain:

• increased sophistication of conceptual understanding, whereby learners see beyond a list of 
facts and engage with those ideas that underpin the disciplines that make up Humanities, and 
how these interrelate in different contexts

• increased depth of knowledge, characterised by linking new learning to existing knowledge, 
developing a more sophisticated understanding and resolving the conflicts that can emerge from 
different points of view  

• an ability to work with an increasing number of more sophisticated sources of information

• more sophisticated use of relevant skills, including appropriate use of subject-specific terminology 

• increasing independence and self-regulation.

Principles of progression

Achievement outcomes

I can sequence events and understand that the past can be divided into periods of time.  

I can recognise similarities and differences between people’s lives in both the past and present.

I can identify aspects of my community, and how some of them may have been different in 
the past.

Progression step 2

Achievement outcomes

I can sequence events that happened over a short period of time to show I understand that 
some things change over time. 

I can identify special times, events and traditions in my community and in the wider world. 

I can identify significant events that have happened to me in the past.

I can show an awareness of who I am and that I am similar and different to others. 

I can talk about similarities and differences between people in my community.

I can show an awareness that I am part of different communities.

Progression step 1

What Matters in Humanities

Page 76



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   60Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   60

I can identify some causes and consequences of events and changes in the past and present.

I can recognise some factors that contribute to my identity and the ways I am similar and 
different to others. 

I can describe special times, events, traditions and people in my community and in the wider 
world, and can explain their importance.

I can understand that societies in Wales and the wider world are made up of diverse groups of 
people. 

I can show an awareness of the different beliefs that people have. 

I can recognise the importance of the different rules, roles and responsibilities within the 
various communities to which I belong.

Achievement outcomes

I can use scaled timelines to order events, and use these to describe how societies have 
changed or stayed the same over time in Wales and the wider world. 

I can use common terms to describe periods and passage of time.

I can link and order multiple causes or consequences of significant events.

I can demonstrate that the consequences of decisions and events can be both positive and 
negative. 

I am aware of my identity and respect that others have a different identity.

I can recognise some factors that contribute to my identity and appreciate the ways I am 
similar and different to others. 

I can explain the importance of special times, events and traditions in my community and in the 
wider world, and can communicate my feelings about them. 

I can understand that different experiences, religions, world views, beliefs and practices 
contribute to the diverse societies in Wales and the wider world. 

I can understand the diversity of cultures and societies that exist beyond my own experience, 
and appreciate the importance of language, beliefs and values in the formation of cultural 
identities.

I can respond sensitively to ideas about communities and cultures.

Progression step 3

What Matters in Humanities

Page 77



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   61Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   61

Achievement outcomes

I can use my understanding of chronology to explain and analyse how different societies have 
changed or stayed the same over time in Wales and the wider world.

I can identify significant turning points that influence change in society and explain how these 
can have positive and negative effects on people’s lives.

I can categorise and explain causes and consequences of past events, recognising the 
complex and contested nature of explanation. 

I can explain ways in which my own and others’ identity is expressed, 

I can explain the impact that the actions and decisions of those in positions of authority and 
power can have on people’s lives.

I can understand that there are tensions within communities and societies, and I can respond 
sensitively when discussing them.

I can explain and evaluate people’s contributions to Welsh society and the wider world.

I can understand that past human behaviour and relationships influence cultural diversity.

I can explain ways in which diverse communities can live together cooperatively for the 
common good.

I can make meaningful connections and comparisons between societies.

Progression step 4

Achievement outcomes

I can use my detailed understanding of the nature and extent of change and continuity over an 
extended period of time to critically analyse how cultures have adapted and changed.

I can compare and contrast significant turning points, using various criteria that examine the 
positive and negative on people’s lives.

I can analyse and explain how various causal factors interrelate over a range of time scales, 
and how the significance of these factors may be contested.  

I can analyse and explain the significance and consequences of changes in a range of 
societies in the past and present. 

I can explain the complex nature of my own and others’ identity, how these identities are 
formed and how they impact on people’s behaviour.

I can critically analyse a range of complex similarities and differences between diverse 
societies in the past and present, including through reference to geographical location, culture, 
religion, politics, world views and the economy. 

Progression step 5

What Matters in Humanities

Page 78



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   62Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   62

I can evaluate the significance of the relationships between a wide range of societies, 
their connections and interdependencies. 

I can explain the causes and nature of inequalities between and within societies.

What Matters in Humanities

Page 79



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   63Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   63

Planning for learning

Links within this area of learning and experience
This section suggests where learning can be enriched through drawing links between other what 
matters statements across the Humanities Area of Learning and Experience. It also suggests where 
different elements of learning could be considered together in order to support more holistic learning. 

Developing an enquiring mind enables learners to explore and investigate the world, past, 
present and future, for themselves.
• Enquiries focusing on how societies are diverse and plural.  

• Enquiries focusing on social sameness and difference.  

• Enquiries focusing on change and continuity.   

Events and human experiences are complex, and are perceived, interpreted and 
represented in different ways.
• Historical interpretations.  

• Interpretations linked to political ideologies.  

• Interpretations linked to religions and world views.  

Our natural world is diverse and dynamic, influenced by physical processes and 
human actions. 
• The relative impact of different societies at different times on the natural world.

• How the natural world has impacted upon the evolution of human societies and contributed 
towards change.

Informed, self-aware citizens engage with the challenges and opportunities that face 
humanity, and are able to take considered, ethical and sustainable action. 
• Justice and fairness in societies. 

• Economic development of societies.

• Political structures in societies.

• The nature of citizenship.

• Social roles and responsibilities.

What Matters in Humanities

Page 80



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   64Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   64

Links with other areas of learning and experience
This section suggests where learning can be enriched through drawing links between other what 
matters statements across all the areas of learning and experience. It also suggests where different 
elements of learning could be considered together in order to support more holistic learning.

Expressive Arts
• The importance of expressive arts in shaping culture and societies in the past and present.  

• Explore the arts from various times, cultures and societies. 

• Explore our own and other cultures.

• The role of expressive arts as a media for expression of interpretations and representations. 

Health and Well-being
• Social values and norms in societies.  

• Social influences on individuals. 
• How individuals perceive and interpret events and experiences in different ways.   

Languages, Literacy and Communication 
• Literature from a range of cultures and societies.  

• The influence of literature in shaping culture in societies.  

Mathematics and Numeracy
• Data to illustrate social differences and inequalities.  

Science and Technology
• The role of digital technology in modern societies.  

• The influence of science and technology on economies of different societies now and in the past.

• The influence of inventions and discoveries on the evolution of human societies.

What Matters in Humanities

Page 81



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   65Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   65

Experiences, knowledge and skills
In this what matters statement, learners should have opportunities to explore concepts including 
chronology, change and continuity, diversity, cause and effect, interconnectedness, community, 
identity and belonging, authority and governance.

Learners need to experience:
• opportunities to explore and observe aspects of the communities they are a part of, such as 

their classroom, school, family and local area, through stories, celebrations, objects, events 
and traditions, and to communicate their feelings about them

• opportunities to explore and appreciate key celebrations, traditions and ways of life in 
Wales and the wider world 

• opportunities to use digital technology to participate in virtual visits and to communicate 
with a range of people in a global community

• outdoor learning and opportunities to visit museums; historical sites; places of political, 
religious or spiritual significance; geographical features or sites; and businesses or retailers.

Learners should know: 
• that there are some features which are characteristic of certain periods in history  

Progression step 2

Learners need to experience:
• opportunities to explore and observe aspects of the communities they are a part of, such as 

their classroom, school, family and local area, through stories, celebrations, objects, events 
and traditions, and to communicate their feelings about them

• opportunities to explore and appreciate key celebrations, traditions and ways of life in 
Wales and the wider world 

• outdoor learning and opportunities to visit museums; historical sites; places of political, 
religious or spiritual significance; geographical features or sites; and businesses or retailers.

Learners should be able to:
• use simple timelines to sequence events that they are familiar with over a short timescale, 

and use appropriate key words to estimate, measure and describe the passage of time

• recognise themselves and familiar people

• observe and explore aspects of their community and local area

• recall and communicate information about events in their lives

• identify some of the ways that children and young people in the past have had different 
lives to them.

Progression step 1

What Matters in Humanities

Page 82



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   66Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   66

• the similarities and differences between the way people live and have lived in different times 
and different places, including a specific understanding of how children and young people in 
the past may have had different lives from children and young people today.

Learners should know how to and be able to:  
• show an awareness of time and of change over time, and use common terms for the 

passing of time 

• sequence events and show an understanding that the past can be divided into periods of 
time

• recall and communicate information about events in their lives or the lives of others

• compare and contrast aspects of their lives with a time in the past or people in a different 
place.

Learners need to experience:
• opportunities to explore and engage with their communities and beyond, through stories, 

celebrations, objects, events and traditions, and to communicate their feelings about them

• opportunities to explore and engage with key celebrations, traditions and ways of life in 
Wales and the wider world 

• opportunities to use digital technology to participate in virtual visits and to communicate 
with a range of people in a global community

• outdoor learning and opportunities to visit museums; historical sites; places of political, 
religious or spiritual significance; geographical features or sites; and businesses or retailers.

Learners should know:
• about the history and diversity of the communities of which they are part 

• that societies are diverse and change over time, and that these changes can be positive 
and negative for different groups and in different situations

• that societies have been and continue to be organised and led in different ways 

• how people’s lives differ within societies, and in different places and at different times, 
and be able to give reasons for these differences 

• about ways in which diverse communities can live together cooperatively for the 
common good

• about ways in which commitment and identity are expressed 

• how businesses and economies have been shaped and changed over time, and the 
impact they have had on societies

• the main causes and effects of changes in societies past and present 

• about a variety of individuals and groups of people, both celebrated and less well known, 
who have had an impact on societies 

• that not everyone shares the same beliefs and that this can cause conflict and disagreement.

Progression step 3

What Matters in Humanities

Page 83



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   67Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   67

Learners should know how to and be able to:  
• develop a chronological map of the past and compare and contrast characteristic features of 

different periods

• recognise the impact of different religions and world views on societies in the past and present

• respond sensitively to ideas about communities and cultures. 

Learners need to experience:
• opportunities to explore and engage with their communities and beyond, through stories, 

celebrations, objects, events and traditions, and to communicate their feelings about them

• opportunities to explore and engage with key celebrations, traditions and ways of life in 
Wales and the wider world 

• opportunities to use digital technology to participate in virtual visits and to communicate 
with a range of people in a global community

• outdoor learning and opportunities to visit museums; historical sites; places of political, 
religious or spiritual significance; geographical features or sites; and businesses or retailers.

Learners need to know: 
• about the history and diversity of the communities and societies of which they are part

• the variety of ways in which societies are and have been organised and governed 

• connections and comparisons between periods of time in order to develop a chronological 
map of the past 

• how and why societies and people’s lives have changed or stayed the same, and be able 
to explain and make judgements about the significance of change and continuity 

• about the diverse nature of religions and world views, beliefs, practices and customs in 
different societies, and their impact

• how and why people’s lives differ within societies and in different places and at different 
times, including a focus on the lives, experiences and beliefs of ordinary people in a range 
of different societies at different times 

• the causes, effects and nature of a range of changes in societies

• about a range of ways in which diverse communities can live together cooperatively for the 
common good

• about ways in which commitment and identity are expressed

• about people and groups of people who have had an impact on societies 

• about the diverse nature of societies, including about their beliefs, practices and customs; 
cultural institutions; ethnicity; equality and inequality; justice; religion and world views; 
rights; migration; population; religious, political, social, cultural, business, community and 
charity figures of all genders and orientations; social, political and economic ideologies, 
organisations and structures 

Progression step 4

What Matters in Humanities

Page 84



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   68Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   68

• about the nature and extent of change over time, including about changing political systems 
and leadership, along with democracy and devolution; industrial and agricultural change; 
innovation and technological development; invasion, protest and rebellion; peace and 
conflict; population change and migration; trade.

Learners should be able to:
• describe and explain characteristics of a range of different societies, including their 

similarities and differences, both in the past and present, in Wales, the United Kingdom, 
Europe and other parts of the world

• respond sensitively and insightfully to ideas about communities and cultures, including unity 
and plurality within and across religions, world views and politics.

Learners need to experience:
• opportunities to explore and engage with their communities and beyond, through stories, 

celebrations, objects, events and traditions, and to communicate their feelings about them

• opportunities to explore and engage with key celebrations, traditions and ways of life in 
Wales and the wider world 

• opportunities to use digital technology to participate in virtual visits and to communicate 
with a range of people in a global community

• outdoor learning and opportunities to visit museums; historical sites; places of political, 
religious or spiritual significance; geographical features or sites; and businesses or retailers.

Learners need to know: 
• about the history and diversity of the communities of which they are part

• about ways in which commitment and identity are expressed within a wide range of 
societies and cultures

• the similarities and differences between societies in the past and present in Wales, the 
United Kingdom, Europe and in other parts of the world 

• how and why people’s lives differ in different places and at different times, ensuring a focus 
on the lives, experiences and beliefs of ordinary people in a range of different societies at 
different times, including those who may traditionally have been under-represented in the 
study of the Humanities

• about the diverse nature of societies, including about their beliefs, practices and customs; 
cultural institutions; ethnicity; equality and inequality; justice; religion and world views; 
rights; migration; population; religious, political, social, cultural, business, community and 
charity figures of all genders and orientations; social, political and economic ideologies, 
organisations and structures 

• about the nature and extent of change over time, including about changing political systems 
and leadership, along with democracy and devolution; industrial and agricultural change; 
innovation and technological development; invasion, protest and rebellion; peace and 
conflict; population change and migration; trade.

Progression step 5

What Matters in Humanities

Page 85



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   69Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   69

Learners need to know how to and be able to: 
• use an increasingly detailed chronological map or framework to make meaningful 

connections and comparisons between characteristics of different periods of time, which 
will allow learners to recognise the dynamics of continuity and change over periods of 
varying lengths, and relate patterns and trends to larger historical processes

• analyse and evaluate causes and consequences of decisions and events, and of change 
and continuity, including economic, political, technological, religious and non-religious world 
views, cultural and social factors 

• critically analyse a range of ways in which diverse communities can live together 
co-operatively for the common good 

• respond sensitively and insightfully to religious and non-religious world views about society, 
communities and cultures, and understand how these can be interpreted in different times, 
cultures and places.

What Matters in Humanities

Page 86



WHAT MATTERS IN 
HUMANITIES

Informed, self-aware citizens engage with 
the challenges and opportunities that face 
humanity, and are able to take considered, 
ethical and sustainable action.

Learners will develop an understanding of their roles as citizens and the importance 
of creating a just and sustainable future for themselves and their communities in an 
interconnected world. It encourages learners to be active, informed, and responsible 
citizens, who are able to identify with and contribute to their local, national and global 
communities, now and in their future lives.  

Humanities will invite learners to identify and engage with past, contemporary and 
anticipated challenges and opportunities facing themselves, their local community, 
Wales and the wider world. They will also come to understand the nature of economic, 
environmental and social sustainability, justice, interconnectedness and authority, 
and realise the significance of living in and contributing to a fairer and more inclusive 
society. Learners will develop not only an awareness of their own rights, but also 
of the rights, needs, concerns and feelings of others in creating a sustainable and 
interconnected world.  

Questioning and evaluating existing responses to challenges and opportunities will help 
learners develop as self-aware, informed, ethical global citizens who critically reflect on 
their own beliefs and values. They will be able to consider the impact of their actions 
when making choices and exercising their democratic rights and responsibilities. 
Learners will also be able to justify their decisions when acting socially, politically, 
economically and entrepreneurially. This will enable learners to take committed social 
action as caring, participative citizens of their local and global communities, showing a 
dedication to justice, diversity and the protection of the environment. What is more, by 
responding to challenges, and taking opportunities for social and sustainable action, 
they can create meaning and purpose in their own lives.

Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   70

Page 87



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   71Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   71

Learning

Principles of progression are the basis on which the achievement outcomes have been developed 
and should guide the progression of learning within the area of learning and experience.

This area of learning and experience will help learners gain:

• increased sophistication of conceptual understanding, whereby learners see beyond a list of 
facts and engage with those ideas that underpin the disciplines that make up Humanities, and 
how these interrelate in different contexts

• increased depth of knowledge, characterised by linking new learning to existing knowledge, 
developing a more sophisticated understanding and resolving the conflicts that can emerge from 
different points of view  

• an ability to work with an increasing number of more sophisticated sources of information

• more sophisticated use of relevant skills, including appropriate use of subject-specific terminology 

• increasing independence and self-regulation.

Principles of progression

Achievement outcomes

I can describe basic morals and rules in a range of contexts.  

I can describe the positive and negative effect of my actions and those of others.  

I can talk about challenges and opportunities faced by myself, people in Wales and the wider 
world, and describe how people respond to them.

I can understand the difference between wants, needs and rights.  

I can recognise some ways that I and others have a positive and negative impact on the 
environment and a range of communities.

Progression step 2

Achievement outcomes

I can recognise basic morals and rules in communities that are familiar to me. 

I can recognise that my actions and those of others have consequences. 

I can show some awareness of challenges and opportunities faced by myself, my family 
and friends.

I can take care of the environment and other people in a variety of ways.

Progression step 1

What Matters in Humanities

Page 88



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   72Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   72

I can recognise how responding to challenges and opportunities can be of benefit to me and 
others.

I have developed enterprising attitudes and skills when responding to a variety of challenges 
and opportunities.

I have been part of a group engaged in responsible social action, in my local community, to 
effect positive change.

Achievement outcomes

I can understand the causes and consequences of injustice and inequality.

I can explain the impacts of decisions made at local, national or global levels on people and 
the environment.

I can explain how people’s different beliefs and experiences impact upon moral and ethical 
decision-making.

I can explain the connections between past, contemporary and anticipated challenges and 
opportunities faced by people in Wales and the wider world.

Progression step 4

Achievement outcomes

I can recognise that people have the same rights, but that some are not treated equally and 
that there are organisations that campaign on their behalf.

I can understand how people’s behaviour, actions and decisions are influenced by their 
viewpoint.

I can understand the consequences of my actions, and the actions of others, and how these 
affect local, national and global issues. 

I can identify how challenges and opportunities can link different people and countries.

I can understand the causes and effects of past, contemporary and anticipated challenges and 
opportunities in a variety of contexts, and the responses to them.  

I can describe the potential impact of my actions on myself and future generations.

I have planned and taken an active role as a responsible citizen, in response to challenges 
and opportunities within my local community, Wales or the wider world.  

I have been part of a group engaged in responsible social action, in my local community or in 
Wales, to effect positive change.

Progression step 3

What Matters in Humanities

Page 89



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   73Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   73

I can explain the importance of current human rights issues and movements in Wales and the 
wider world, and the importance of individuals, organisations and societies in protecting or 
denying people’s rights.

I have identified, planned and taken action as a responsible citizen in my local community, or in 
Wales or the wider world, to effect positive change, individually or collaboratively.

I can assess the impact and evaluate the effectiveness of my actions on myself and future 
generations, suggesting improvements.

I can understand that when I take social action it benefits my self-development as well as 
benefiting other people.

Achievement outcomes

I can analyse the underlying causes of injustice and inequality and how governments and 
non-government organisations respond to them.

I can use disciplinary lenses when exploring challenges and opportunities faced by people in 
Wales and the wider world.

I can evaluate other people’s viewpoints and responses to past, contemporary and anticipated 
challenges and opportunities, understanding the impact that they may have on moral and 
ethical decision-making.

I can synthesise a range of responses to complex challenges and opportunities, to form an 
independent, coherent and substantiated conclusion.

I can evaluate the underlying causes of current human rights issues and movements in Wales 
and the wider world, and the various factors that undermine or support people’s rights.

I can utilise the skills needed to contribute effectively to the world of work and my anticipated 
career path for the future.

I have taken an active role in raising awareness of challenges and opportunities locally, 
nationally or globally.

I can identify, plan, take action and evaluate the role I play as a responsible citizen in my local 
and wider community, Wales and the wider world, individually or collaboratively.

I can evaluate the impact and effectiveness of my actions and the actions of others, identify 
specific strengths and weaknesses, and plan strategic improvements.

I can critically evaluate how my own beliefs and actions contribute to my role as an ethical, 
informed citizen and the benefit this has upon me and my self-development.

Progression step 5

What Matters in Humanities

Page 90



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   74Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   74

Planning for learning

Links within this area of learning and experience
This section suggests where learning can be enriched through drawing links between other what 
matters statements across the Humanities Area of Learning and Experience. It also suggests where 
different elements of learning could be considered together in order to support more holistic learning.

Developing an enquiring mind enables learners to explore and investigate the world, past, 
present and future, for themselves.
• Enquiries focused on developing understanding of challenges and opportunities facing humanity.  

Events and human experiences are complex, and are perceived, interpreted and 
represented in different ways.
• An individual’s view of their own role and responsibility as a citizen.  

• Differing interpretations of the key challenges and opportunities facing humanity. 

Our natural world is diverse and dynamic, influenced by physical processes and 
human actions. 
• Environmental challenges facing humanity, including climate change.  

• An individual’s role and responsibility in environmental protection.  

• The impact of actions on the environment. 

Human societies are complex and diverse, and shaped by human actions and beliefs.
• Justice and fairness in societies. 

• Economic development of societies.

• Political structures in societies.

• The nature of citizenship.

• Social roles and responsibilities.

• Impact of actions on society. 

What Matters in Humanities

Page 91



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   75Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   75

Links with other areas of learning and experience
This section suggests where learning can be enriched through drawing links between other what 
matters statements across all the areas of learning and experience. It also suggests where different 
elements of learning could be considered together in order to support more holistic learning.

Expressive Arts
• Ways of expressing and representing the themes of rights, respect, equality and justice through 

Expressive Arts.

Health and Well-being

• The importance of decision-making to support ethical and sustainable responses to challenges 
and opportunities.

• Recognising appropriate behaviours in different situations.

• Responding sensitively to the needs of others.

• Developing relationships to support citizenship.

• Social influences and citizenship.
• Understanding rights, respect and equity.

Languages, Literacy and Communication 
• Discussion of social issues.

Mathematics and Numeracy
• An individual’s economic role, including being financially literate.

Science and Technology
• The scientific, technological and digital challenges facing humanity. 

• Potential scientific and technological solutions to the challenges facing humanity. 

• Digital interdependence.

• The digital economy.

What Matters in Humanities

Page 92



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   76Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   76

Experiences, knowledge and skills
In this what matters statement, learners should explore concepts including economic, environmental 
and social sustainability; citizenship; power and authority; interconnectedness; justice and equality; 
rights; and social action and responsibility.

Learners need to experience:
• opportunities to discuss and engage with challenges and opportunities in their locality, 

Wales or the wider world

• opportunities to plan and participate in social action in response to challenges and 
opportunities locally, nationally and globally

• opportunities to demonstrate care, responsibility, concern and respect when considering the 
challenges and opportunities that face humanity, including the sustainability of the planet 

• opportunities to develop a sense of empathy with people on a local, national or global scale  

• opportunities to engage with local groups, organisations and businesses 

• opportunities to be enterprising and develop entrepreneurial skills. 

Progression step 2

Learners need to experience:
• opportunities to discuss and engage with challenges and opportunities in their locality, 

Wales or the wider world

• opportunities to plan and participate in social action in response to challenges and 
opportunities locally, nationally and globally 

• opportunities to demonstrate care, responsibility, concern and respect when considering the 
challenges and opportunities that face humanity, including the sustainability of the planet 

• opportunities to develop a sense of empathy with people on a local, national or global scale 

• opportunities to engage with local groups, organisations and businesses. 

Learners need to know:
• the concepts of right and wrong and of fair and unfair in a familiar context

• that other people’s actions can have an impact on them and that their actions also impact 
on others

• some of the challenges and opportunities facing themselves and their communities.

Learners need to know how to and be able to:
• participate in actions and events in response to challenges and opportunities in their 

immediate environment.

Progression step 1

What Matters in Humanities

Page 93



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   77Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   77

Learners need to know:
• the importance of the rules, roles and responsibilities in the various communities that they 

belong to

• what is right and wrong and what fairness means in a range of contexts 

• that their actions and the actions of others can impact positively and negatively on other 
people and the environment

• that the actions of people and groups in the past have led to changes in people’s lives 

• the challenges and opportunities facing themselves, Wales and the wider world  

• the difference between wants, needs and rights, and how needs might inform people’s 
rights 

• that children have rights and that these are set out in the United Nations Convention on the 
Rights of the Child (UNCRC)

• the importance of respecting the rights of others

• sustainable and unsustainable responses to challenges and opportunities, including 
how ethical trading and the work of organisations and charities can have an impact on 
themselves and communities, and how people damage or improve the environment in 
different ways. 

Learners should know how to and be able to:
• develop enterprising attitudes and skills through participating in events in their locality

• participate in social action in response to challenges and opportunities in their locality.

Learners need to experience:
• opportunities to discuss and respond to past, contemporary and anticipated challenges and 

opportunities in Wales and the wider world 

• opportunities to plan and participate in social action in response to challenges and 
opportunities locally, nationally and globally 

• opportunities to demonstrate care, responsibility, concern and respect when considering 
the challenges and opportunities that face humanity, including the sustainability of the 
planet 

• opportunities to develop a sense of empathy with people on a local, national or global 
scale, and understand the impacts of inequality and injustice

• opportunities to engage with groups, organisations and businesses when planning and 
taking social action 

• exploring local, national and international groups, organisations and businesses and the 
ways they are responsible for and respond to the challenges and opportunities faced by 
their locality, Wales and the wider world 

• opportunities to be enterprising and develop entrepreneurial skills.

Progression step 3

What Matters in Humanities

Page 94



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   78Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   78

Learners need to know: 
• the concepts of fairness and equality

• the difference between wants, needs and rights, and how needs might inform human rights

• that children have human rights and that these are set out in the United Nations Convention 
on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC)

• the importance of respecting the rights of others 

• the challenges to human rights on a local, national and global scale in the past and present

• the work of organisations campaigning for equality for all and for human rights

• the impact of their own and others’ actions, which can have local, national and global 
consequences, such as the way consumer actions can affect the environment and people’s 
quality of life   

• their responsibility for the environment, including how their own and others’ lifestyles impact 
on the planet and on other people  

• the influence of people’s viewpoints on their behaviour, actions and decisions  

• how challenges and opportunities facing Wales and the wider world may be linked to other 
people and places 

• the causes of past, contemporary and anticipated challenges and opportunities 

• the significance of past and contemporary challenges and opportunities 

• the different ways in which social change has been effected in the past 

• about consequences of the sustainable and unsustainable ways in which people respond 
to challenges and opportunities, including the benefits and drawbacks of ethical trading and 
the work of organisations and charities  

• societal, political, economic and environmental sustainability, and the importance of 
sustainable relationships for the future 

• about some beliefs, teachings and practices that influence social action.

Learners need to know how to and be able to:
• develop enterprising attitudes and skills through planning and participating in events in their 

local community

• plan and participate in social action in response to challenges and opportunities on a local, 
national or global scale.

Learners need to experience:
• opportunities to discuss and respond to past, contemporary and anticipated challenges and 

opportunities in Wales and the wider world 

• opportunities to plan and participate in social action in response to challenges and 
opportunities locally, nationally and globally 

Progression step 4

What Matters in Humanities

Page 95



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   79Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   79

• opportunities to demonstrate care, responsibility, concern and respect when considering the 
challenges and opportunities that face humanity, including the sustainability of the planet 

• opportunities to develop a sense of empathy with people on a local, national or global scale 
and to understand the impacts of inequality and injustice (from Progression step 3 onwards) 

• opportunities to engage with groups, organisations and businesses when planning and 
taking social action  

• exploring local, national and international groups, organisations and businesses and the 
ways they are responsible for and respond to the challenges and opportunities faced by 
their locality, Wales and the wider world 

• opportunities to be enterprising and develop entrepreneurial skills.

Learners need to know: 
• the different contexts in which inequality can exist, such as in gender, sexuality and race 

contexts  

• the difference between injustice and inequality  

• the causes and consequences of injustice and inequality  

• the importance of diversity and how diversity shouldn’t result in injustice or inequality

• about human rights, including that children have human rights and that these are set out in 
the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC)

• the importance of respecting the rights of others  

• the challenges to human rights on a local, national and global scale in the past and present

• a range of ways in which social change has been effected in the past, and how these 
changes have impacted on people’s lives

• the interconnections between challenges and opportunities facing themselves, Wales and 
the wider world  

• that causes and consequences of past, contemporary and anticipated challenges and 
opportunities can be influenced by ethical and moral judgements and viewpoints  

• the power and authority of local, national, and global governance, and of non-government 
organisations, such as in environmental issues and in protecting or denying human rights  

• the use and misuse of power, including conflict, democracy, the imbalance of power 
between rich and poor countries, the significance of national and international organisations  

• the changing local, national and international economies, including how technology can 
have economic impact  

• their own and others’ environmental role and responsibility in creating a sustainable future 

• about the beliefs, teachings and practices that influence social action. 

Learners need to know how to and be able to:  
• utilise their enterprising attitudes and skills through planning and participating in a range 

of events

• plan, participate in and evaluate their social action in response to challenges and 
opportunities locally, nationally and globally.

What Matters in Humanities

Page 96



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   80Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   80

Learners need to experience:
• opportunities to discuss and respond to past, contemporary and anticipated challenges and 

opportunities in Wales and the wider world 

• opportunities to plan and participate in social action in response to challenges and 
opportunities locally, nationally and globally 

• opportunities to demonstrate care, responsibility, concern and respect when considering the 
challenges and opportunities that face humanity, including the sustainability of the planet

• opportunities to develop a sense of empathy with people on a local, national or global 
scale, and to understand the impacts of inequality and injustice 

• opportunities to engage with groups, organisations and businesses when planning and 
taking social action  

• exploring local, national and international groups, organisations and businesses and the 
ways they are responsible for and respond to the challenges and opportunities faced by 
their locality, Wales and the wider world 

• opportunities to be enterprising and develop entrepreneurial skills. 

Learners need to know: 
• the underlying causes of poverty and inequality and how they relate to policies, power and 

systems  

• the differing views on poverty, inequality and injustice 

• the consequences of national and international initiatives to tackle poverty and inequality 

• the underlying causes of past and contemporary human and children’s rights violations, 
and the political, legal, socio-cultural, religious and economic factors that support or 
undermine human rights in Wales and the wider world 

• about human rights, including that children have human rights and that these are set out in 
the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC)

• the challenges to human rights on a local, national and global scale in the past and present

• the causes and nature of the challenges and opportunities facing themselves, Wales and 
the wider world  

• the connections between complex past, contemporary and anticipated challenges and 
opportunities facing themselves, Wales and the wider world 

• the range of ways in which social change has been effected in the past, and how these 
have led to significant impacts upon societies and communities

• the importance of the role of individuals, including themselves, and the role of groups, 
including governments, businesses and non-government organisations, in the creation of a 
sustainable future

• how individuals, groups and organisations can collaborate when responding to challenges 
and opportunities  

• how the expansion of power and influence of countries or organisations may impact on the 
cultures, attitudes and experiences of those involved 

Progression step 5

What Matters in Humanities

Page 97



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   81Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   81

• how they can contribute to the world of work and the economy

• how morals, ethics, religion and world views affect people’s responses to challenges and 
opportunities and their engagement in social action.

Learners need to know how to and be able to: 
• utilise their enterprising attitudes and skills through planning and participating in a wide 

range of events, and evaluate the effectiveness of their own role   

• utilise their social and political literacy to build a conscious understanding of their own role 
and their responsibilities towards others and towards the environment

• respond sensitively to diverse perspectives and cultural norms.

What Matters in Humanities

Page 98



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   82Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   82Glossary  

GLOSSARY

Word/phrase Definition

Cynefin 

This is the place where we feel we belong, where the people and 
landscape around us are familiar, and the sights and sounds are 
reassuringly recognisable. Though often translated as ‘habitat’, 
cynefin is not just a place in a physical or geographical sense: 
it is the historic, cultural and social place which has shaped and 
continues to shape the community which inhabits it.

Digital humanities The use of technology to engage with Humanities.

Ethical Relating to moral principles that influence a person’s behaviour, 
actions and the choices they make.

Geographical 
information system

A geographical information system is a system designed to 
capture, store, manipulate, analyse, manage and present spatial or 
geographical data. 

Ideology 
A system of ideas and ideals, or a set of beliefs and characteristics 
of an individual or social group, which can form the basis of theory 
or policy such as economic or political. 

Interpretation An explanation or way of explaining something. An individual’s 
opinion based on evidence which they’ve seen.

Lenses 
The different ways people view or understand something. In this 
context, the disciplines within Humanities provide different ways of 
viewing the human experience.  

Perspective An attitude towards or way of regarding something; a point of view.  

Philosophical Relating or devoted to the study of the fundamental nature of 
knowledge, reality, and existence. 

Place A place is a position, point or area of space; a location.

Pluralistic
A condition or system in which two or more states, groups, principles, 
sources of authority, beliefs, principles, opinions or standpoints 
coexist.

Representation The description or portrayal of someone or something in a 
particular way. Page 99



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   83Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   83Glossary  

Word/phrase Definition

Significance The significance of something is a judgement made about its 
importance.

Social action Social action is about an individual or a group of people deliberately 
taking action that results, or is intended to result, in a change.

Social justice Fairness in terms of the distribution of wealth, opportunities and 
privileges for people within society.

Sources of wisdom 
and authority

Sources of wisdom and authority are the various sources people use 
in trying to understand something or to make decisions about what to 
do in life. These might include key texts, teachings, leaders, schools 
of thought, philosophers, scholars and scientists.

Space

The locations, patterns, distributions and associations of 
phenomena created by human activity across the surface of the 
earth. Within Humanities, this helps us understand the rich diversity 
of environments, peoples, cultures and economies that exist together 
on the surface of the Earth. 

Spirituality

Concerned with the human spirit and that which is beyond the 
mundane. It creates meaning and purpose in life. Spirituality can, but 
does not necessarily, involve religion. Spiritual development results 
in a growth of awareness of self in relation to others. 

Sustainability

Meeting our own needs and the needs of humans in the present, 
without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their 
own needs. Economy, society and environment are aspects of 
sustainability.

Ultimate questions
The biggest of life’s questions with a range of potential responses 
that might be partial or inconclusive. Ultimate questions explore the 
human condition. 

Validity The extent to which something is sound, reasonable and well 
founded.

World view

A particular philosophy of life or conception of the world. In 
Humanities, world views can include historical, political and social 
philosophies, as well as religious and non-religious world views. 
World views can be institutional or personal. An individual’s own way 
of understanding and living in the world may or may not draw from 
one, or many, institutional world views.

Page 100



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   84

Mae’r ddogfen yma hefyd ar gael yn Gymraeg. This document is also available in Welsh.© Crown copyright 2019   WG35002 Page 101



Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022 

guidance: feedback

Introduction

We welcome your feedback on the draft Curriculum for Wales 2022 guidance.

The feedback period is open from 30 April and closes on 19 July 2019. We will 
review the feedback we have received and respond to the themes of the feedback 
following this time.

We will use this information to help us further refine draft Curriculum for Wales 2022 
guidance ahead of making it available in January 2020. 

There are both general and more detailed questions which you can feedback upon.

If you work in or support the delivery of education, you may wish to respond to more 
detailed questions around the new curriculum and assessment arrangements, and 
professional learning. These questions start broad and become more specific the 
further you progress. 

We recommend you read the following before you respond: 
 A guide to Curriculum for Wales 2022
 The area(s) of learning and experience you want to feedback upon
 Assessment proposals to inform the development of statutory guidance

If you complete this survey online you can save your feedback and return to 
complete it at any time. You will need to provide a name and email address for this 
purpose only. All published feedback will be kept anonymous. Keeping your personal 
information safe is important to us. Our website privacy policy explains how we use 
your information. 

If you need assistance with this survey please e-mail 
CurriculumForWales2022@gov.wales 
  

Page 106

Agenda Item 11

https://s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/hwb-live-storage/cd/b4/f8/7c/b7d34ffb968d9a09de4d460c/a-guide-to-curriculum-for-wales-2022.pdf
https://hwb.gov.wales/draft-curriculum-for-wales-2022/
https://s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/hwb-live-storage/94/5a/b4/43/8e444962b78a0da9fadecd81/assessment-proposals-to-inform-the-development-of-statutory-guidance.pdf
https://gov.wales/website-privacy-policy


Audience
The following questions help us to understand your relationship to the draft 
Curriculum for Wales 2022 guidance.

Do you work in or support the delivery of education? 

Yes No

If yes, what is your organisation? (if no continue below)
Welsh-medium school (Primary) Higher education institution
Welsh-medium school (Secondary) Diocesan authorities
Welsh-medium school (Special) Regional consortia
English-medium school (Primary) Local authority
English-medium school (Secondary) Private training provider
English-medium school (Special) Third sector
Bilingual school (Primary) Government
Bilingual school (Secondary) Adult community learning
Welsh-medium middle school Awarding organisation
English-medium middle school Teaching union
Pupil referral unit (PRU) Regulatory body (includes Inspectorate)
Special school Governing body
Funded non-maintained setting Other (please specify):
Further education college

What is your primary role?
Headteacher Chancellor/Vice-chancellor
Teacher Lecturer
Practitioner Pioneer
Newly qualified teacher Governor
Teaching assistant Challenge Advisor
Senior leader School improvement officer
Supply teacher Inspector
Principal/Vice-principal Other (please specify):

If you do not work in or support the delivery of education, in what capacity 
would you like to provide feedback?

Parent or carer Employer
Adult 18+ (not a parent or carer) Apprentice
Child or young person (under 18) Other (please specify):
Student/academic

Are you providing feedback on behalf of an organisation or group? 
Yes No

If 'yes' please specify

Section A – General questions
 
A1. To what extent do you agree that the draft Curriculum for Wales 2022 
guidance will help children and young people to become: Page 107

https://hwb.gov.wales/draft-curriculum-for-wales-2022/
https://hwb.gov.wales/draft-curriculum-for-wales-2022/


 ambitious, capable learners
 healthy, confident individuals
 ethical, informed citizens
 enterprising, creative contributors?

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree 
nor disagree

Disagree Strongly 
disagree

Comments:

A2. Looking at the what matters statements, to what extent do you agree that 
these sum up the priorities for children and young people’s learning? 

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree 
nor disagree

Disagree Strongly 
disagree

Comments:

A3. Do you think the draft Curriculum for Wales 2022 guidance could be 
improved?

Yes No

If yes, how do you think it could be improved?

A4. To what extent do the assessment proposals support settings and schools 
to identify a learner’s strengths, achievements and areas for improvement so 
they can support a learner’s progression by identifying next steps? 

Page 108

https://hwb.gov.wales/draft-curriculum-for-wales-2022/
https://s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/hwb-live-storage/94/5a/b4/43/8e444962b78a0da9fadecd81/assessment-proposals-to-inform-the-development-of-statutory-guidance.pdf


Extremely 
supportive

Very 
supportive

Moderately 
supportive

Slightly 
supportive

Not at all 
supportive

Comments:

A5. In relation to reporting to parents and carers, please tell us your views on: 

 the role of the learner in contributing to the reporting process
 the role of the parent/carer in the reporting process
 the information you would want to include.

Section B – Detailed questions
 
B1. How helpful would you find the draft Curriculum for Wales 2022 guidance 
in developing a curriculum for your learners? 

Page 109

https://hwb.gov.wales/draft-curriculum-for-wales-2022/
http://s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/hwb-staging-storage/6f/a8/a3/ad/c370468dacc887ae4b0f2b51/a-guide-to-curriculum-for-wales-2022.pdf


Extremely 
helpful

Very helpful Moderately 
helpful

Slightly helpful Not helpful at 
all

Comments:

B2. How well do you think the draft Curriculum for Wales 2022 guidance allows 
for all children and young people to gain a broad range of learning 
experiences?

You may want to consider learning across the different disciplines and 
subjects which form part of an area of learning and experience. 

Extremely well Very well Moderately 
well

Slightly well Not well at all

Comments:

B3. How well do you think draft Curriculum for Wales 2022 guidance allows for 
all children and young people to specialise from age 14 in a particular 
discipline or subject? 

Page 110

https://hwb.gov.wales/draft-curriculum-for-wales-2022/
http://s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/hwb-staging-storage/6f/a8/a3/ad/c370468dacc887ae4b0f2b51/a-guide-to-curriculum-for-wales-2022.pdf
https://hwb.gov.wales/draft-curriculum-for-wales-2022/
http://s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/hwb-staging-storage/6f/a8/a3/ad/c370468dacc887ae4b0f2b51/a-guide-to-curriculum-for-wales-2022.pdf


Extremely well Very well Moderately 
well

Slightly well Not well at all

Comments:

B4. The draft Curriculum for Wales 2022 guidance is intended to support 
practitioners and teachers to design a curriculum specific to children and 
young people. To what extent will practitioners and teachers have the 
flexibility and support to do this? 

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree 
nor disagree

Disagree Strongly 
disagree

Comments:

B5. How well do you think the draft Curriculum for Wales 2022 guidance 
supports learners to develop skills in the cross-curricular responsibilities 
(literacy, numeracy and digital competence) and other cross-cutting themes 
(e.g. Welsh dimension and international perspective, wider skills,  careers and 
work-related experiences, relationships and sexuality education)? 

Extremely well Very well Moderately 
well

Slightly well Not well at all

Comments:

Page 111

https://hwb.gov.wales/draft-curriculum-for-wales-2022/
https://hwb.gov.wales/draft-curriculum-for-wales-2022/


B6. How could the cross-curricular frameworks (National Literacy and 
Numeracy Framework and the Digital Competence Framework) be refined to 
support the development of literacy, numeracy and digital competence across 
the new curriculum? 

 
B7. How well do you think the guidance for each area of learning and 
experience will support children during the Foundation Phase years?

Extremely well Very well Moderately 
well

Slightly well Not well at all

Comments:

B8. How well do you think the draft Curriculum for Wales 2022 guidance 
supports and enables learners to progress at an appropriate pace for their 
development within the area of learning and experience from ages 3 to 16? 

Extremely well Very well Moderately 
well

Slightly well Not well at all

Comments:

 

B9. How well do you think the draft Curriculum for Wales 2022 guidance will 
provide a basis to help young people progress beyond the age of 16? 

Page 112

https://hwb.gov.wales/draft-curriculum-for-wales-2022/national-literacy-and-numeracy-framework-draft-curriculum-for-wales-2022-version
https://hwb.gov.wales/draft-curriculum-for-wales-2022/national-literacy-and-numeracy-framework-draft-curriculum-for-wales-2022-version
https://hwb.gov.wales/draft-curriculum-for-wales-2022/
https://hwb.gov.wales/draft-curriculum-for-wales-2022/
https://hwb.gov.wales/draft-curriculum-for-wales-2022/
https://hwb.gov.wales/draft-curriculum-for-wales-2022/


Extremely well Very well Moderately 
well

Slightly well Not well at all

Comments:

B10. Formative assessment should be given primacy in the new curriculum. 
How well do the assessment proposals promote this principle? 

Extremely well Very well Moderately 
well

Slightly well Not well at all

Comments:

B11. The assessment proposals propose a broader approach to moderation – 
supporting professional dialogue regarding the nature of progression, the 
selection of appropriate learning and assessment activities, as well as 
ensuring a shared understanding of what achievement looks like in the context 
of the achievement outcomes.

How would you envisage your setting /school putting this approach into 
practice? What further support do you think would be needed? 

B12. What practical issues for settings and schools do we need to be mindful 
of if the assessment proposals are to be made a reality? 

 
B13. What implications do you see from the draft Curriculum for Wales 2022 
guidance for you and your colleagues’ professional development needs in 
respect of the: 

 impact on pedagogical practice
 implications of planning for a purpose-driven curriculum
 professional learning requirements linked to pedagogyPage 113

https://s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/hwb-live-storage/94/5a/b4/43/8e444962b78a0da9fadecd81/assessment-proposals-to-inform-the-development-of-statutory-guidance.pdf
https://s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/hwb-live-storage/94/5a/b4/43/8e444962b78a0da9fadecd81/assessment-proposals-to-inform-the-development-of-statutory-guidance.pdf
https://s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/hwb-live-storage/94/5a/b4/43/8e444962b78a0da9fadecd81/assessment-proposals-to-inform-the-development-of-statutory-guidance.pdf
https://hwb.gov.wales/draft-curriculum-for-wales-2022/
https://hwb.gov.wales/draft-curriculum-for-wales-2022/
https://hwb.gov.wales/professional-development/


 developing in-school and cross-school collaboration
 specific areas of professional learning aligned to the areas of learning and 

experience
 opportunities for professional enquiry approaches support delivery of the 

new curriculum?

B14. What are the professional learning challenges and opportunities to enact 
the principles in the assessment proposals? 

Section C – Specific: Areas of learning and experience
C1. If you would like to provide specific feedback relating to one or more 
specific areas of learning and experience, please make a selection and add 
your comments below. 

Expressive Arts Language, Literacy and Communication 
Health and Well-being Mathematics and Numeracy
Humanities Science and Technology

Comments (if you choose more than one area of learning and experience 
please label each comment):

C2. How well do the progression steps within the Mathematics and Numeracy 
Area of Learning and Experience articulate the proficiencies illustrated in the 
principles of progression? 

Extremely well Very well Moderately 
well

Slightly well Not well at all

Comments:

Page 114

https://s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/hwb-live-storage/94/5a/b4/43/8e444962b78a0da9fadecd81/assessment-proposals-to-inform-the-development-of-statutory-guidance.pdf
https://hwb.gov.wales/draft-curriculum-for-wales-2022/mathematics-and-numeracy/
https://hwb.gov.wales/draft-curriculum-for-wales-2022/mathematics-and-numeracy/


C3. How well do the learning sections within the Languages, Literacy and 
Communication Area of Learning and Experience provide for learners to 
develop translanguaging skills? 
 Extremely 
well

Very well Moderately 
well

Slightly well Not well at all

Comments:

C4. How well does the guidance within the Languages Literacy and 
Communication Area of Learning and Experience provide for the development 
of language acquisition and learning? 

 Extremely 
well

Very well Moderately 
well

Slightly well Not well at all

Comments:

 
C5. How well does the Health and Well-being Area of Learning and 
Experience guidance support a whole-school approach to supporting health 
and well-being? 

 Extremely 
well

Very well Moderately 
well

Slightly well Not well at all

Comments:

Is there anything else you would like to add or feedback on?

Return by 19 July 2019Page 115

https://hwb.gov.wales/draft-curriculum-for-wales-2022/languages-literacy-and-communication/
https://hwb.gov.wales/draft-curriculum-for-wales-2022/languages-literacy-and-communication/
https://hwb.gov.wales/draft-curriculum-for-wales-2022/languages-literacy-and-communication/
https://hwb.gov.wales/draft-curriculum-for-wales-2022/languages-literacy-and-communication/
https://hwb.gov.wales/draft-curriculum-for-wales-2022/health-and-well-being/
https://hwb.gov.wales/draft-curriculum-for-wales-2022/health-and-well-being/


Email: CurriculumForWales2022@gov.wales 
Post: Curriculum for Wales 2022 Feedback

Curriculum and Assessment Division 
Welsh Government 
Cathays Park 
Cardiff 
CF10 3NQ

Page 116

mailto:CurriculumForWales2022@gov.wales


Monitoring Autumn Term 2018 to Spring Term 2019
Schools are asked to provide a self-evaluation report on the standards of religious education and 
collective worship for Gwynedd SACRE. We try to ensure that the monitoring programme 
corresponds to the ESTYN inspection programme. The reports received are attached together with a 
summary or the findings in the following tables:

C1 C2 C3 C4 C5Secondary 
Schools Standards Well-

being 
and 
attitudes 
towards 
learning

Teaching 
and 
learning 
experien
ces in RE

Care, 
support 
and 
guidance

Leader
ship 
and 
Manag
ement 
in RE

Inspection Estyn 
Report

Estyn
Finding 

Autumn 
2018
Ardudwy 03/12/18 07/02/19 Adequate

C1 C2 C3 C4 C5Primary 
Schools Standard

s 
Well-
being 
and 
attitudes 
towards 
learning

Teaching 
and 
learning 
experien
ces in RE

Care, 
support 
and 
guidance

Leadershi
op and 
Manage
ment in 
RE

Inspection Estyn 
Report

Estyn
Finding 

Autumn 
2018
Yr Hendre 01/10/18 03/12/18 Good
Dolbadarn Excellent Excellent Excellent Excellent Excellent 15/10/18 17/12/18 Excellent
Bro Llifon 05/11/18 10/01/19 Good
Edmwnd 
Prys

Good Good Good Good Good 12/11/18 17/01/19 Good

Llangybi 03/12/18 07/02/19 Good

C1 C2 C3 C4 C5Special
Schools Standards Well-

being 
and 
attitudes 
towards 
learning

Teaching 
and 
learning 
experien
ces in RE

Care, 
support 
and 
guidance

Inspection Estyn 
Report

Estyn
Finding 

Summer
2018

During the 2018 Autumn Term 5 primary schools, 1 secondary school and 0 special schools 
were inspected by Estyn.   It is anticipated that another 5 primary school as well as 0 secondary 
and 0 special school will be inspected during the current term.  

The following extracts have been taken from the Estyn inspection reports and refer to Religious 
Education (unlikely), collective worship, spiritual and moral development and also other aspects such 
as personal, cultural and social education: 

Page 116

Agenda Item 12



Observations by Estyn:  Autumn Term 2018

Ysgol Dolbadarn (October 2018)           Care, support and guidance: Excellent

The school promotes pupils’ spiritual and moral development very effectively by providing stimulating 
collective worship assemblies and through religious education lessons. 

Provision for personal and social education is of very high quality and ensures that pupils develop a 
sound understanding of values such as honesty, fairness and respect for other religions and beliefs. 
This is demonstrated clearly in the gentle way in which the school offers valuable guidance to pupils 
to foster good behaviour practices. Pupils’ friendly behaviour towards each other is evidence of the 
success of this caring support. 

The school provides numerous opportunities for pupils to have their say through various forums, 
especially to contribute ideas about what they would like to learn. By doing so, staff encourage pupils 
to become conscientious learners who take responsibility for their own learning. They place great 
store on developing learners that are responsible citizens by encouraging them to develop their 
awareness of the needs of others and raising money for charity regularly. 

Ysgol yr Hendre (October 2018)                                 Care, support and guidance: Good

Support for children with medical and sensory needs is a strength of provision. A good example of this 
is the care from assistants for children with hearing and sight needs. This means that pupils are able 
to play a full part in school life. The way in which the school uses the expertise of external agencies to 
support pupils and their families is effective. The strong link with the police makes a valuable 
contribution to pupils’ understanding of the dangers of drugs and staying safe online.

The school provides appropriately to develop pupils’ spiritual and moral attitudes by arranging 
opportunities for them to reflect in collective worship sessions. Staff encourage and nurture pupils to 
convey their feelings successfully. These experiences enable them to know the difference between 
right and wrong, and to work together and respect each other’s views within a caring and inclusive 
environment. An example of this is the probing discussion between two Year 4 pupils during reflection 
in the class assembly. One felt strongly about the injustice and lack of equality in developing countries 
when there is no fair trade. However, the development of religious education is inconsistent across 
the school and, as a result, pupils do not receive enough purposeful experiences.

Ysgol Bro Llifon (Nov 2018) Care, support and guidance: Good 

The good quality of care, support and guidance from staff has a very positive effect on pupils’ 
standards and wellbeing. As a result, pupils feel happy and safe at school. 

Pupils’ spiritual, moral, social and cultural skills are developing very successfully. Collective worship 
periods provide valuable opportunities for pupils to reflect on sound values. They learn about ethical 
issues, such as fair trade, and how they can play a part in ensuring a fairer world. The ‘Bydis Buarth’ 
(playground buddies) scheme, which encourages pupils to support and care for each other during 
break times, makes an excellent contribution towards ensuring an inclusive and equal community. 
The strong focus of all staff on promoting high expectations and values encourages pupils to take 
responsibility for their actions maturely. Valuable opportunities are arranged for pupils to express 

Page 117



their opinions through various councils. Leaders and staff take their views seriously, and this has a 
positive effect on pupils’ confidence and nurtures a sense of pride and responsibility for others.

Respecting multiculturalism, promoting aspects of diversity, anti-racism and developing fairness and 
equal opportunities are prominent elements of the school’s culture. An emphasis on promoting 
shared values has a positive influence on pupils’ behaviour.

Ysgol Edmwnd Prys (Nov 2018) Care, support and guidance: Good 

The school is a caring community. The pupil’s voice is central to the school’s work and ethos, which 
encourages confident and loyal learners. The familial ethos promotes respect and courtesy among 
pupils across the school. As a result, they take pride in their day-to-day activities and the wider 
community. All staff focus on effective co-operation for the benefit of all pupils, in order for them to 
achieve their best consistently.

The school promotes pupils’ spiritual, moral and social development successfully through regular 
collective worship and opportunities for pupils to reflect quietly. ‘Healthy mindset’ sessions provide 
valuable opportunities for pupils to discuss important issues, including human rights, fairness and 
justice.

Ysgol Llangybi (Dec 2018) Care, support and guidance: Good
 
The school is a caring community that nurtures pupils’ personal and social skills well. Through the 
curriculum, daily practices, circle time and collective worship, the school promotes pupils’ 
understanding of values such as honesty, tolerance and equality effectively. 

Pupils are given worthwhile opportunities to develop their understanding of spiritual, moral, social 
and cultural issues. The school’s personal and social education programme contributes well to 
developing these aspects. The school is an integral part of the community and pupils take part in many 
community activities and local visits, such as Pont y Merched and Garn Bentyrch. This promotes their 
social skills and life skills successful.

Ysgol Ardudwy Harlech (Dec 2018)Care, support and guidance: Adequate and needs improvement

There is appropriate provision for promoting pupils’ spiritual, moral, social and cultural development. 
This is done through school assemblies, guest speakers and a suitable and comprehensive personal 
and social education programme. Pupils are given appropriate opportunities to develop their 
understanding of equality and diversity. For example, the school’s young ambassadors have taken part 
in a parade in Harlech with the local Member of Parliament in order to raise awareness of social issues 
in the community. The school has useful links with individuals and external agencies, who contribute 
to the personal and social education programme, for example the Red Cross, the fire service and a 
homelessness charity. The police community support officer visits regularly to discuss and ask about 
issues that are of interest to pupils

Page 118



Name of School:      YSGOL EDMWND PRYS, GELLILYDAN                                                   

Religious Education

Inspection field 1:  Standards in Religious Education
How well do pupils deal with the fundamental questions, explore religious beliefs, teachings and customs and express their 
personal responses to beliefs, teachings, customs and fundamental questions? What can you see in their work that 
demonstrates their progress over time?
 Use: the pupils' work, teachers' assessments, educational trips, lesson observations to form an opinion.
 To help you: Locally Agreed Syllabus (National Indicative Framework); Welsh Government Guidance: People, Questions and 

Beliefs (2013), Exemplar Guidelines and Profiles KS2 and KS3 (2011), 14 - 19 (2009), SACRE Guidelines, WJEC Examiner 
Reports.

Notes:
THE FOUNDATION PHASE:
The pupils' ability to discuss and recall is developing well at the start of the Foundation Phase and by the peak of the Foundation 
Phase nearly each one can discuss and ask fundamental questions with confidence. The increasing emphasis on skills, thinking 
skills and assessment for learning encourage various and independent activities in religious education and the pupils' enjoyment 
of these activities is apparent. 
Many build successfully on previous learning and solve problems effectively by applying their thinking skills effectively.
The Welsh oral skills of the majority of pupils is developing robustly across the school. Pupils listen attentively to presentations 
and respond with confidence orally, using religious vocabulary and an increasingly accurate Welsh syntax. Many are able to 
converse naturally and fluently about their work from an early age. The minority who do not speak Welsh at home acquire the 
Welsh language quickly and successfully.
The majority of pupils use their speaking and listening, reading and writing, numeracy and ICT skills appropriately in religious 
education.
By looking at work samples and the pupils' books a variety of presentations can be seen that reflect the relevant skills. 
The oldest pupils receive varied and challenging experiences while the reading and recording skills of the Foundation Phase 
show a good understanding of the requirements of the National Framework for Religious Education.
The ability of nearly every pupil to use a simple religious vocabulary is developed across the Foundation Phase and many 
children will begin to recognise a deeper meaning to religious symbols. 

KEY STAGE 2:
At the bottom of Key Stage 2, the majority are able to recall, respond and communicate simply some of the basic religious 
beliefs, teachings and customs that are covered. Many begin to note the similarities and differences between religions. 
At the top of Key Stage 2 the majority of pupils can describe some religious beliefs, teachings and customs, and how some of 
these aspects on religion affect the lives of believers.  The majority of pupils are able to establish connections between religious 
beliefs, teachings and customs describing the impact on believers' lives and noting the similarities and differences within and 
across religions. 

At the bottom of Key Stage 2, nearly every pupil can talk and ask questions about their own experiences, the world around them 
and aspects on religion they can discuss the questions that arise from their experiences offering their own views. Due to the 
nature of the themes, a minority of the pupils begin to recognise that fundamental religious questions are often complicated 
and the answers are often incomplete and uncertain.  
At the top of Key Stage 2 many pupils can discuss their own and others’ responses to questions about life, the world around 
them and religion. Most pupils are able to express and justify their ideas and opinions about fundamental questions. With their 
own investigations and experiences due to the nature of the themes, the majority of pupils recognise that fundamental religious 
questions are often complicated and the answers are often incomplete and uncertain.  

The evidence in the children's books and findings from monitoring the learning and the teaching shows that standards are good 
across the school.
Most achieve Level 4 or 5 in Religious Education in KS2.
By the end of key stage 2, most possess a good knowledge of subject vocabulary. They contribute intelligently to class 
discussions and express their opinion clearly about the theme work and the information and communication technology (ICT) 
work. Very effective use is made of ICT to record religious education work across the school. 

Our pupils' religious education standards are:  good

Inspection field 2:  Welfare and attitudes to learning about Religious Education? 
What do you feel the pupils gain from religious education lessons? 
 Use: pupils' work, analysis of a religious education questionnaire, minutes of the School focus group/Council 

Page 120



 To help you: Supplementary guidance; listening to learners (ESTYN, September 2017), 
Notes: 
The majority of pupils across the school, have positive attitudes towards their learning. Nearly every pupil has a great interest in 
the field of Religious Education. Most are very willing to discuss their work with their peers and this successful cooperation is a 
strong feature in every class.  Consequently, the majority of pupils show respect towards others' contributions and respond 
positively to their ideas. The older pupils receive guidance on how to support the younger pupils, and they implement it 
conscientiously. This is a valuable practise and contributes effectively towards the sensible behaviours of nearly every pupil. 
Consequently, the majority of pupils have a clear awareness of the importance of treating everyone with respect and courtesy. 
The majority of pupils are tolerant and sensitive to the needs and aspirations of other pupils, who are similar or different to 
them. As a result, the majority have a firm awareness of fairness and the importance of equal opportunities.  
Class Discussion sessions are regularly held in the classes and they contribute towards developing a positive attitude towards 
sharing problems and feeling empathy towards each other. They also promote discussion skills, listening skills and responding to 
others very well. Nearly everyone can talk about their feelings, actions and views by the end of the Foundation Phase and many 
describe and offer simple observations on other people's viewpoints. 
At the bottom of Key Stage 2 the majority of pupils can describe their feelings, their actions and their own views and offer simple 
observations on the views of other people. The majority start to recognise that religious symbols have meanings and they will 
use simple religious vocabulary in a suitable way. 
At the top of Key Stage 2 nearly all pupils can explain how their own feelings, actions and views impact their lives and describe 
how other people’s views in the same way can impact on their lives. They use a range of suitable religious vocabulary and show 
a basic understanding of symbolic language.
There is a close link between the school and humanitarian charities such as Air Ambulance, Children in Need, Macmillan etc.  
This develops empathy and tolerance and ensures that every pupil is thinking of others.

Pupils’ attitudes towards religious education in our school are:  good

Inspection field 3:  Teaching and learning experience in Religious Education?
How good are the  planning and teaching in Religious Education? Provide examples of rich religious education experiences
 Use: educational trips, lesson observations, pupils' work, ask pupils.
 To help you: Locally Agreed Syllabus (National Exemplar Framework); Welsh Government Guidance: People, Questions and 

Beliefs (2013), Exemplar Guidelines and Profiles KS2 and KS3 (2011), 14 - 19 (2009), SACRE Guidelines, Religious Education in 
secondary schools (ESTYN, summer 1013), Religious Education and Ethics in KS2 and KS3 (ESTYN, summer 2018)

Notes:
Teaching in religious education: planning and a range of strategies 
The school has planned appropriately to introduce the agreed syllabus for religious education.  Therefore, standards of religious 
education are good across the school.

THE FOUNDATION PHASE
 Foundation Phase teachers are familiar with the National Exemplar Framework for Religious Education. They have 

identified the specific skills relating to people, beliefs and questions through Knowledge and Understanding of the 
World and Personal and Social Development, Well-being and Cultural Diversity.

 Foundation Phase teachers apply the 'People, Beliefs and Religious Education Questions for 3-7 year old learners in 
Wales' when planning units of work. 

 The Foundation Phase plans based on the above awareness have incorporated people, beliefs and questions within 
these two fields and across the other fields of learning.

 The activities have been planned carefully across the Foundation Phase and demonstrate succession from one class to 
the next as a result of joint planning and joint discussion. 

 A wide range of experiences are offered to give pupils every opportunity to progress in their knowledge and 
understanding and discussion and reasoning skills in the field.

 Resources such as anecdotes, information books, large books, artefacts, ICT resources, visits/visitors to the school all 
generate an interest and enrich provision in the field.

 The teacher has high expectations and provides consistent support.
 Classroom work is honoured at school services and classroom displays.
 Extensive use is made of websites such as HWB and Purple Mash as interactive resources.

The Religious aspects of the field are provided well during the Foundation Phase

KEY STAGE 2
 At least two hours per fortnight are assigned to Religious Education across Key Stage 2. 
 Ysgol Edmwnd Prys and Ysgol Bro Cynfal teachers have spent time on joint planning and both schools are following the 

same themes/topics to ensure consistency. 
 There are long-term, medium and short-term plans in Religious Education and both schools now also share 

Page 121



resources/visits.  
 The plans are detailed and ensure succession and development, addressing big questions has been a medium to ensure 

depth and to develop the pupils' enquiry skills.
 As a result of extensive training, ordering rich resources that further deepen the understanding of teachers of the field, 

provision is good across the phase. 
 Detailed assessment methods are a valuable contribution when providing tasks for different abilities. The school has 

invested in INCERTs recently that ensure detailed assessment of the religious education field at least once a year. 
 Opportunities are utilised to take the children out on visits to places of worship and to invite visitors to discuss Religious 

Education matters with the children. The school has been on a visit to Maentwrog Church to create a booklet for 
visitors.

The quality of the teaching and the provision in Key Stage 2 is good. 

The education standards of Religious Education in our school are:  good

Inspection field 4:  Care, support and guidance in Religious Education?
To what extent do religious education lessons/activities help pupils to reflect on religious and non-religious responses to 
fundamental questions and to reflect on their own beliefs and values?   How does religious education help pupils to be active 
citizens?  To what extent does the school provide effective opportunities for pupils to develop robust values and establish their 
spiritual and ethical beliefs? 
 Use: educational trips, interviews with pupils, the school's collective worship programme, school newsletter, school records 

of any hate/bullying crimes.
 To help you: SACRE guidance, Guidelines on collective worship (Wales Association of SACREs), Supplementary guidance: 

collective worship in non-denominational schools (ESTYN, autumn 2017), Supplementary Guidance: listening to learners 
(ESTYN, September 2017)

Notes:
The school is a caring community. The pupil's voice is central to the school's work and ethos, which encourages confident and 
loyal pupils. The family ethos promotes respect and courtesy amongst pupils across the school. As a result, they delight in their 
daily activities and the broader community.  All staff focus on effective collaboration in the interest of every pupil, in order to 
achieve their best always. Religious education lessons are planned to ensure that firm values will be developed to establish 
spiritual and ethical beliefs.  The pupils' own values and beliefs are discussed promoting principles that help pupils to 
differentiate between good and bad. The school is successful at nurturing basic general values, such as honesty, fairness and 
justice.
The school successfully promotes the pupils' spiritual, ethical and social development through regular collective worship and 
opportunities for quiet reflection. 
Collective Worship is provided following the common tradition of the Christian belief daily at school. The Collective Worship 
takes place at class and school level. Parents are given the right to excuse their children from the worship and their background 
is taken into consideration when providing for worship. No children have been removed from collective worship at the school. 
Moral, spiritual and belief aspects are explored whilst at the same time community spirit is nurtured and ethos and values are 
promoted. The teachers provide valuable opportunities for the pupils to contribute to the life and work of the school, the local 
community and the world at large. 
The children will have an opportunity to do one or several of the following during the Worship: 

 Reflection that includes listening, watching or reflecting on incentive, presentation or a conversation from a staff 
member or a guest speaker. 

 Praying
 Singing
 Reading 

Every pupil is given the opportunity to participate either in public or through reflection. 
Collective Worship makes a significant contribution to the children's spiritual, ethical, social and cultural development. The 
school takes advantage of opportunities to develop aspects on PSE, Global Citizenship and the Welsh Curriculum as part of 
Worship. Creating an ethos that is different to the school's everyday ethos happens at the majority of sessions. 
Thanksgiving and Christmas services are held in the community. The school also participates in 
various services at the local church and chapel.  Community activities enrich the learning experiences effectively.
Services are given every month by members of 'Agor y Llyfr' ( Open the Book) - the presentations are lively and improve all 
pupils' understanding of the Bible's various story and contribute to spiritual and ethical development. The presentations are 
given in English which also helps with the pupil's second language skills.
The school's arrangements for safeguarding pupils meets the requirements and they are not a cause for concern. The school's 
policies and procedures ensure that every member of staff is trained and they respond to our safeguarding arrangements and 
comply with them, and promote safe practices and a culture of safety. 
The school has appropriate policies and procedures for child safeguarding and protection that comply with the LEA's Child 
Protection Guidelines and cooperates with the Education Welfare Service and Social Exercises at all times. Page 122



All policies related to Safeguarding /Child Protection are reviewed annually. 
All of the school's staff members are aware of the school's 'Child Protection' procedures. Level 1 training is provided at least 
once a year.
The school completes a Child Protection annual report every year and sends it to a designated person in the authority (Delyth 
Griffith).
The children are asked every year in the form of a questionnaire whether or not they feel safe at the school. Every year 3-5 child 
said that they felt safe (Spring 2018)
The school has responded to radicalism by adopting a radicalism policy and through Channel training for all school staff.
Recruitment, discipline and reporting arrangements to ensure staff and volunteer suitability meet with legal requirements.

Does the school satisfy the statutory requirements for collective worship? Yes  No
The contribution of religious education to pupil's personal development and community cohesion is: good

Inspection field 5:  Leadership and management in Religious Education? 
Does the religious education subject leader possess the required skills and understanding to lead the subject effectively?  How 
do you know?
 Use: work plans, monitoring and self-evaluation reports, data evaluation, interviews with the coordinator and the 

designated governor / SACRE visitor, staff meeting minutes, improvement plan, progress evaluation, case study following 
school to school collaboration.

 To help you: SACRE guidelines
Notes:
The headteacher has established a clear vision for the school, which is based on the pupils' development, to the extent of their 
ability, in a happy, supportive Welsh environment.  The headteacher is supported very effectively by a talented and firm 
assistant headteacher.  Consequently, the leaders implement a system that allocates responsibilities intelligently to staff - which 
ensures that the leader of a subject such as religious education has the necessary understanding to lead the subject effectively.  
The leaders actively address local and national priorities. For example, they are beginning to prepare for the new curriculum, by 
using challenges to encourage pupils' creativity within interesting themes such as the recent Jewish theme. Work plans are 
monitored regularly to ensure that the material taught is purposeful and creative. There are thorough and up-to-date self-
evaluation procedures in place. The leaders of both schools, which are in the cluster, use regular meetings to deal effectively 
with quality improvement plans and practices. They include scrutinising work and observing lessons to identify strengths and 
areas for improvement regularly, following an annual monitoring timetable.  Effective procedures for staff development link 
directly to performance management procedures. This is having a positive impact on staff skills and expertise.
Leadership and management in Religious Education is: good

Matters to address Actions Who
m?

By when?

Develop the pupils' extended writing skills 
effectively to reflect their real abilities - 
including Religious Education

To be included in the SIP for 2019-20

Challenge the most able pupils to perform their 
best consistently by ensuring that the tasks set 
for the more able group are challenging by 
working through the basic, religious and 
human questions.

To be included in the SIP for 2019-20

Enrich the resources in the external area in the 
foundation phase to further develop pupils' 
skills 

Apply for a grant from the Ernest Cook Trust to 
further develop the area outside.

It is not necessary to 
share these details 
with SACRE but the 
school records need to 
ensure that 
accountability is clear 
to staff and governors

Summative evaluation that will contribute to the school's evaluation of 'Personal Development (4.2)'

Name of Headteacher Iona Wyn JonesPage 123



Signature of Headteacher I W Jones
Date: 08.01.19

Page 124



Self Evaluation for Religious Education January 2019                                                                                                      

Ysgol Dolbadarn, Llanberis, Gwynedd  

Inspection field 1:  Standards in Religious Education
How well do pupils deal with the fundamental questions, explore religious beliefs, teachings and customs and 
express their personal responses to beliefs, teachings, customs and fundamental questions? What can you see in 
their work that demonstrates their progress over time?
 Use: the pupils' work, teachers' assessments, learning outings, lesson observations to form an opinion.
 To help you: Locally Agreed Syllabus (National Indicative Framework); Welsh Government Guidance: People, 

Questions and Beliefs (2013), Indicative Guidelines and Profiles KS2 and KS3 (2011), 14 - 19 (2009), SACRE 
Guidelines, WJEC Examiner Reports.

Notes:
 The standards of Religious Education within the school are outstanding.  The Estyn lesson 

observations, book scrutiny and inspection in October 2018, reflect and acknowledge this.  
 Nearly every pupil has shown progress in the field throughout the year, and the assessment records, 

targeting and tracking shows very good or better progress in every class. 
 The majority of the Assessment for Learning undertaken by the pupils, along with the correction plan 

used by the teachers when responding to pupils' work means that the pupils are aware of the standard 
of their work and what is required in order to improve it.  Pupils reflect effectively on their own learning. 

 All pupils identify the Success Criteria relating to Religious Education and this has led to an increase in 
standards.  This is visible in the pupils' books - pupils are much more self-sufficient. 

In the Foundation Phase, the teachers use the Peniarth scheme.  The books and stories have been divided 
between the themes.    Also, they are told various stories from the Bible, and they discuss Sikhism when 
studying the Naming Ceremony and they discuss Islam when studying the theme, Gwnewch y pethau 
bychain (Do the small things).  The majority of the children have asked why Jesus Christ died in the Easter 
Story and almost every child has offered an idea on how we can keep Llanberis tidy when discussing the 
book 'Planed Harri'. Islam and the Pesach festival were discussed and every pupil understands the 
contents of the seder plate.    Many have discussed Fair Trade successfully.  Nearly all the pupils can 
attempt to offer ideas on writing a prayer of Thanks.  We have regular visits through the 'Efe' scheme and 
Rev. Carol Roberts came to the school to hold a Christening ceremony and religious artefacts were 
displayed.  Visits were held to the church and chapel, including workshops by Mrs Susan Williams and 
Reverend John Pritchard. 

In KS2, the pupils have regular opportunities to ask questions about religion, e.g. Why do people go on a 
pilgrimage?  What is a Christian?  What is peace?  They use their own experiences and the experiences of 
others to find answers, e.g. Reverend John Pritchard / the internet and books of all types.   The children 
have studied a pilgrimage that belongs to different religions, as well as described their own ideal pilgrimage, 
e.g. at the seaside or in a forest. 
The majority of the pupils express their views and ask questions successfully.  It was felt that the work of 
attempting to understand the religious practices and customs of a Christian was challenging and would 
meet the individual needs of each child.  Comprehensive work was done by almost every child.  A range of 
teaching methods and bespoke resources were used for the activities.  A variety of strategies and activities 
were used.  By means of various tasks, when discussing the question 'How and why different religions say 
thank you', the majority of the children have understood the purpose of the Eid ul Fitr Festivals / Sukkot 
Festival / Thanksgiving Festival. 
Almost every pupil has understood the importance of the festivals to followers and almost every one has 
understood the impact of festivals on lifestyle.  The majority have understood the importance of some rules 
from the Bible, Torah and Quran, for followers. 

Literacy Skills - Speaking and Listening 
 Nearly all the pupils communicate easily regarding Religious Education in both languages 
according to their age and ability and their discussion skills by the end of KS2 are very good.  The pupils 
listen well and respond confidently, with the best making extended contributions in discussions of a 
profound nature by the end of KS2. 
 Almost every pupil reads well and by Yr 2, they can discuss and express an opinion regarding 
what was read about Religions, stories, etc. 

Page 125



 The majority of the older pupils in KS2 read and develop higher level reading skills when gathering 
Religious information.  The quality of almost every pupil's writing is appropriate to their age and ability 
when writing about any religious aspect.  The majority can apply literacy skills across the curriculum in a 
very good way.  
 The spelling and grammar skills of the majority of the pupils are developing well through the 
school, and work that is appropriate to their age range and ability is produced. They can write extensively 
in a range of forms and for different audiences.  It is true to say that the standards are appropriate and 
beyond their age range and evidence can be seen in the pupils' books. 

Numeracy Skills
 Mathematical/number skills and their ability to apply them are good and they can apply them 
cross-curricular, which includes Religious Education. 
 Nearly all of the pupils can interpret data that has been presented in various ways. 
 The majority of the pupils can transfer what they have learnt in mathematics lessons across the 
Curriculum successfully.  Ample opportunities are offered to develop numeracy and the pupils' work 
corresponds to the requirements of the Numeracy Framework, and is age and ability appropriate.  
ICT Skills 
 The children are confident users of ICT in a variety of contexts and real tasks relating to Religious 
Education across the school to a good standard. 
 The majority of the KS2 pupils manage to communicate by using a range of software and carry out 
internet research successfully in line with their age and ability.  
 The majority of the pupils use their ICT skills successfully when drawing up and using data for a 
specific purpose to create various graphs and charts.
 The majority of pupils use their ICT skills effectively to apply skills to use technology in order to 
enrich their cross-curricular learning. 

Our pupils' religious education standards are:  Outstanding

Inspection field 2:  Welfare and attitudes to learning about Religous Education? 
What do you feel the pupils gain from religious education lessons? 

 Use: pupils' work, analysis of a religious education questionnaire, minutes of the  focus group/School Council
 To help you: Appended guidance; listening to learners (ESTYN, September 2017), 
Notes: 
 There is a very good provision for pupils’ welfare and health, as well as their spiritual, moral and social Page 126



development.  The school has good knowledge of each child and their needs.  This is one of the 
school's strengths.  The school is an organised and caring community and it is considerate of others.

 It was noted in Estyn's report  
The schools promotes the spiritual and moral development of pupils very effectively by providing stimulating 
collective worship assemblies and through religious education lessons... 
'The provision for personal and social education is of a very high standard and it ensures that pupils 
develop a firm understanding of values such as honesty, fairness and respect towards other religions and 
beliefs.  This is clearly highlighted in the gracious way that the school offers valuable guidance to the pupils 
to nurture good behaviour practices.  The pupils' friendly behaviour towards each other is evidence of the 
success of this caring support.'  

 The majority of the pupils feel happy and safe at the school and understand the school's 
arrangements for dealing with bullying and misbehaviour.  The behaviour of the majority of the pupils 
is very good.  

 Parent questionnaires (Summer 2016) show that 100% agree or completely agree that their children 
like to come to school. 99% say that they help their child to develop socially. 

 Class questionnaires show that the pupils enjoy coming to school. Almost every one say that their 
teachers help them to understand their work. 

 Good use is made of the news to raise pupils' awareness of habitats, natural disasters.  The School 
Council pupils fund-raised towards the Anthony Nolan appeal (and the school pupils were nominated 
for the 'Young Heroes Award' in the Summer 2016 and they were invited to The Commons in London); 
in addition, contributions were made to Sport Relief, Children in Need and also towards the Nepal 
Earthquake appeal and the Alzheimer's Society in 2016/17. 

 Almost every pupil appreciates and contributes to their own welfare and the welfare of others.  Almost 
every one is aware of their own feelings and viewpoints and they develop the ability to express them 
in a balanced and appropriate way. 

 Almost every pupil understands the relationship between feelings, beliefs and values.  They 
understand that others have feelings and beliefs that affect the way they think and behave. 


 The majority of pupils respond well to new and unfamiliar experiences and ideas.   One of the 

school's priorities for this year is 'Growth Mindset' and praise is given to pupils for trying out new 
things and situations, focusing, perseverance, committing to tasks, collaboration. 

 The school provides comprehensive opportunities for every pupil to develop educationally and 
socially and undertake responsibilities that are age-appropriate.  This was reflected in the parent 
questionnaires with 100% completely agreeing that the school 'helps my child to develop socially 
and to shoulder responsibilities.'  (Summer 2016)

 The majority of pupils in the Foundation Phase are beginning to form SC for their own religious 
education activities. This is also well-established in KS2 and the pupils make a good and effective 
contribution when joint-planning work units; being a part of the planning is a new situation.  By the 
end of their time at the school, the children make observations on how to improve each others' 
work, with the best successfully implementing those improvements.  This is developing into very 
good practice at the school.  Observations show that the PSE scheme within our termly plans, 
along with the valuable experiences they have, has led to high-level emotional skills in the majority 
of the children.  The self-confidence and self-image of the majority of the children are very 
prominent features. 

Pupils’ attitudes towards relugious education in our school are:  OPINION

Inspection field 3:  Teaching and learning experiences in Religious Education?
How good are the planning and teaching in Religious Education? Provide examples of rich religious education 
experiences
 Use: learning outings, lesson observations, pupils' work, ask pupils.
 To help you: Locally Agreed Syllabus (National Indicative Framework); Welsh Government Guidance: People, 

Questions and Beliefs (2013), Indicative Guidelines and Profiles KS2 and KS3 (2011), 14 - 19 (2009), SACRE 
Guidelines, Religious Education in secondary schools (ESTYN, summer 1013), Religious Education and ethics in 
KS2 and KS3 (ESTYN, summer 2018)

Notes: See 2016 report - possible to see how the field has been developed - a detailed post-monitoring report will be 
Page 127



written in April 2019 - triennial, focusing on religious education only. 
Religious education is planned in line with the Themes in the FP and KS2.  4 year cycle.  Pupil experiences are 
enriched through an effective combination of visits.  Use is made of the church and chapel and visits that would be 
beneficial to enrich the experience.  This year, we have been experimenting with our planning to be in line with the 
expectations of Donaldson and Curriculum for Wales.    Attention is given to the three purposes for each activity 
relating to the humanities.  (see samples) 

Lesson observation records show that the teaching is good across the school, with aspects of excellence in the FP 
and year 6.  Termly book scrutiny reports identify that the teaching is good or better across the school.  

The strengths of the teaching that lead to raising standards are: 

 Effective and creative planning, including joint-planning between the teachers and assistants in order to 
ensure follow-up in the subjects and the skills. 

 The definitive plan and structure of the lessons which give very good attention to the Thinking Skills and Key 
Skills. 

 An operational part for the child in the planning process is very good across the school.  Assessment for 
learning Questionnaire (March 2015) - It is highlighted that 97% of KS" pupils use mindmaps when planning 
their written work. 

 Range and variety of teaching methods ensures pupil participation. 
 Clear learning objectives and outcomes are shared and agreed upon with the children - increased use of the 

SC and the pupils draw them up independently by the end of KS2 - has led to many pupils working 
independently. 

 Differential work is provided to meet the needs of all pupils and a suitable level of challenge which enables 
excellence. 

 Extensive use of high-level questions that lead to effective and higher quality discussions in the lessons. 
 Teachers and assistants offer a good model of polished language and feed a vocabulary to the pupils. 
 Teachers posses a good level of subject knowledge and the impact of this can be seen in the standard of 

the lessons and in the children's books. 
 The use of assistants is good and sometimes outstanding. 
 The use of bespoke ICT enriches the teaching in many classrooms. 
 Lesson observation reports note the quality of the support given by assistants in the classes. 

********************************

 The school's bilingual teaching methods are very good.  Advantage is taken of the fact that a vast number of 
pupils come from English-speaking backgrounds, along with the emphasis given to developing the Welsh 
language, in order to develop the pupils' natural bilingualism. 

 School to School Networking has been a positive element to develop aspects such as Geirio Gwych/Tric a 
Chlic teaching skills. 

 All teaching staff have a good work relationship with the pupils.  The school has continued to exercise the 
'Webster Stratton' principles.  Such strategies maintain a positive ethos in the classroom, which leads to the 
positive behaviour of almost every class.  Lesson observations, the views and KS2 pupil questionnaires 
prove that behaviour is good in the lessons. 

 The reports of advisers also evidence that behaviour is very good in the lessons - 'the behaviour of pupils of 
all ages is very good.'  In addition, the work relationship showed respect towards the children and their 
efforts and included regular praise - a key contribution towards a motivational and successful learning 
environment. Every child behaved especially good.  A special environment and ethos was seen very 
effectively in the children on task class.  (observations of Derek Evans GwE CA March 2017).

 Portfolios and joint-assessment have taken place as Primary Catchment and Secondary schools and this 
has led to ensuring consistency in assessments.  Effective School to School moderation to level the 
numeracy and literacy work of the Foundation Phase (Outcome 5+6), as well as learning triads between 
three schools, which has highlighted consistency and the awareness of setting a challenge to Year 2 pupils.   
The Digital Competency Framework was also moderated and work samples were evaluated. 

 The school's staff hold internal scrutiny and lesson observation so that staff can see good practice and share 
ideas - this has raised the quality of the teaching and learning and also ensured an appropriate level of 
challenge. 

Parent questionnaires, Summer 2016, state: 
The standard of teaching at the school is good: Completely agree 42% Agree 56%
My child makes educational progress that is good or better at the school  Completely agree 52% agree 46%
The school encourages my child to do his/her best and the expectations are high.   Completely agree 42% agree Page 128



52%  

Estyn said 

The significant features of the very successful teaching strategies used across the school are having a positive 
and direct impact on pupils' attainment and welfare. The agreed procedure of planning differential learning 
activities that will address the needs of pupils of all abilities is a very strong feature.  The work is based on 
themes and interesting and imaginative learning experiences that includes considering the pupils' ideas as 
starting points... 

Teachers have very high expectations of each pupil, and the quality of their presentations and questions are 
challenging and very purposeful.  This ensures that almost every pupil fully commits to his/her tasks, focuses for 
extended periods of time and shows high motivation. 
The education standards of Religious Education in our school are:  Outstanding

Inspection field 4:  Care, support and guidance in Religious Education?
To what extent do religious education lessons/activities help pupils to reflect on religious and non-religious 
responses to fundamental questions and to reflect on their own beliefs and values?   How does religious education 
help pupils to be active citizens?  To what extent does the school provide effective opportunities for pupils to 
develop robust values and establish their spiritual and ethical beliefs? 
 Use: learning outings, interviews with pupils, the school's collective worship programme, school newsletter, 

school records of any hate/bullying crimes.
 To help you: SACRE guidance, Guidelines on collective worship (Wales Association of SACREs), Supplementary 

guidance: collective worship in non-denominational schools (ESTYN, autumn 2017), Supplementary Guidance: 
listening to learners (ESTYN, September 2017)

Notes• Effective Circle Time sessions are occasionally held in each class and good opportunities to reflect, 
question and wonder, are ensured.  83% of pupils believe that they are given an opportunity to voice an 
opinion or discuss problems - which shows a very good element in terms of partnership and the voice of the 
child.  
• The PSE provision, as well as the school's daily routines promote values such as honesty, tolerance 
and fairness in a good way.
• The PSE programme has been mapped well across the curriculum for the Foundation Phase and 
KS2.  Circle Time sessions give pupils good opportunities to express, share and discuss feelings and 
matters of importance to them.  In addition, if any matter is raised, the pupil in question will be welcome to 
have a further discussion with a member of staff. 
• The provision for the pupils' spiritual development is very good.  They are given opportunities to 
reflect on the big questions of the world, and their understanding and knowledge of Christian practices and 
stories are good.  Learning about other beliefs or religions is good at the school. 
• The provision for the pupils' moral development is very good.  Clear emphasis is placed on respect, 
fairness and honesty.  Stories are used during circle time periods, PSE lessons and collective 
worship/assemblies, to discuss matters that encourage discussions that are right and wrong.  Firm 
foundations are set by the Gem a Huw scheme in order to reinforce values with a select cohort of pupils. 
• The PSE scheme, circle time and assemblies lead to a tolerant and respectful ethos within the 
learning community. 
• It is ensured that we promote respect towards racial differences and equality and high expectations 
are promoted by all school pupils when discussing equality.  This is done by means of our theme work and 
collective worship assemblies. 

Estyn noted in October 2018 
'The schools promotes the spiritual and moral development of pupils very effectively by providing 
stimulating collective worship assemblies and through religious education lessons... 
'The provision for personal and social education is of a very high standard and it ensures that pupils 
develop a firm understanding of values such as honesty, fairness and respect towards other religions 
and beliefs. This is highlighted clearly in the gracious way that the school offers valuable guidance to 
the pupils to nurture good behaviour practices.  The pupils' friendly behaviour towards each other is 
evidence of the success of this caring support.'  

Page 129



Does the school satisfy the statutory requirements for collective worship? Yes x No
The contribution of religious education to pupil's personal development and community cohesion is: Outstanding

Inspection field 5:  Leadership and management in Religious Education? 
Does the religious education subject leader possess the required skills and understanding to lead the subject 
effectively?  How do you know?
 Use: work plans, monitoring and self-evaluation reports, data evaluation, interviews with the coordinator and 

the designated governor / SACRE visitor, staff meeting minutes, improvement plan, progress evaluation, case 
study following school to school collaboration.

 To help you: SACRE guidelines
Notes:
The Religious Education subject leader has the skills and the provision to lead the subject very effectively across the 
school.  We invest in resources to enrich the provision. 
We monitor Religious Education in detail every three years. We consider the perspectives of the children and the 
planning, at times, is based on the voice of the child. 
See the most recent report. 
Leadership and management in Religious Education is: outstanding

Matters to address Actions Who
?

By when?

It is not necessary to 
share these details with 
SACRE but the school 
records need to ensure 
that accountability is 
clear to staff and 
governors

Summative evaluation that will contribute to the school's evaluation of 'Personal Development (4.2)'
Brief!   Approximately 50 words. 

Name of headteacher Gareth Fôn Jones

Signature of Headteacher Gareth Fôn Jones
Date:22/01/19

Page 130



Monitoring Spring - Summer 2019
Schools are asked to provide a self-evaluation report on the standards of religious education and 
collective worship for Gwynedd SACRE. We try to ensure that the monitoring programme 
corresponds to the ESTYN inspection programme. The reports received are attached together with a 
summary or the findings in the following tables:

C1 C2 C3 C4 C5Secondary 
Schools Standards Well-

being and 
attitudes 
towards 
learning

Teaching 
and 
learning 
experienc
es in RE

Care, 
support 
and 
guidance

Leaders
hip and 
Manag
ement 
in RE

Inspection Estyn 
Report

Estyn
Finding 

Spring 
2019
Summer
2019

C1 C2 C3 C4 C5Primary 
Schools Standards Well-

being and 
attitudes 
towards 
learning

Teaching 
and 
learning 
experienc
es in RE

Care, 
support 
and 
guidance

Leadershi
p and 
Managem
ent in RE

Inspection Estyn 
Report

Estyn
Finding 

Spring
2019
Y Faenol Da Da Da Da Da 21/01/19 25/03/19 Good
Maesincla 18/02/19 24/04/19 Excellent
Brynaerau Excellent Excellent Excellent Excellent Excellent 04/03/19 09/05/19 Excellent
Llandygai 18/03/19 23/05/19
Summer 
2019
Pentreuchaf 29/04/19 03/07/19
Bethel 13/05/19 16/07/19
Garnedd 20/05/19 23/07/19
Tudweliog 10/06/19 12/08/19

C1 C2 C3 C4 C5Special
Schools Standards Well-

being 
and 
attitudes 
towards 
learning

Teaching 
and 
learning 
experien
ces in RE

Care, 
support 
and 
guidance

Inspection Estyn 
Report

Estyn
Finding 

Summer
2018

During the 2019 Spring Term 4 primary schools, 0 secondary school and 0 special schools were 
inspected by Estyn.   It is anticipated that another 4 primary school as well as 0 secondary and 0 special 
school will be inspected during the current term.  

The following extracts have been taken from the Estyn inspection reports and refer to Religious 
Education (unlikely), collective worship, spiritual and moral development and also other aspects such 
as personal, cultural and social education: 

Page 131

Agenda Item 13



Observations by Estyn:   Spring Term 2019

Ysgol Y Faenol  (January 2019) Care, support and guidance: Good
Staff create a happy, caring and inclusive community at the school, where everyone is respected and 
valued. This has a positive effect on pupils’ wellbeing. The school promotes the importance of good 
behaviour, respect, courtesy and commitment effectively. The school has a strong anti-bullying culture 
and teachers equip pupils to nurture the skills necessary to overcome problems successfully. This is 
reflected in most pupils’ positive behaviour and positive attitudes towards each other.

The school provides interventions that support pupils with emotional and social needs effectively. This 
ensures that they are given an opportunity to express their feelings and enables them to be well-
rounded members of school life. Staff work effectively with a number of specialist agencies, which 
ensures valuable support and guidance for pupils and their parents.

The school promotes pupils’ awareness of the local area and Welshness effectively, for example when 
studying the history of the Faenol Estate and arranging a visit to Cardiff. This makes a valuable 
contribution towards developing their understanding of Welsh heritage and culture. Teachers nurture 
pupils’ cultural skills effectively by learning about various countries. A good example of this is the key 
stage 2 project on fair trade in Malawi, Ghana, India and Sri Lanka.

Ysgol Brynaerau (March 2019)                         Care, support and guidance: Excellent
Provision to develop pupils’ creative and expressive skills is a strong feature of the school’s work. Staff 
provide valuable opportunities to develop pupils’ imaginative experiences, for example by working 
with a dance company to develop pupils’ dance and drama skills. An excellent feature of their work is 
the performance of a very high standard in a local theatre, based on work from various countries. Staff 
organise regular opportunities for pupils to compete successfully in eisteddfodau and perform in 
concerts in their local area during the year. All of the very valuable experiences that are provided for 
pupils contribute very positively towards preparing them to become confident, independent and 
mature citizens, and give an additional boost to their desire to learn.

The school promotes pupils’ spiritual, moral and social development very successfully. The caring 
attention that staff give to considering the pupil’s voice contributes very effectively to opportunities 
for pupils to shoulder responsibility and make sensible decisions about their learning. Pupils are keen 
and confident when choosing challenging adventures to complete. Staff provide valuable 
opportunities for pupils to shoulder responsibility and become active citizens by taking part in 
influential voice of the child groups, such as the school council. This develops pupils’ leadership skills 
effectively, for example by organising the ‘Three Peaks Challenge’ to raise money for the Wales Air 
Ambulance charity.

Ysgol Maesincla (February 2019)          Care, support and guidance: Excellent

The school provides rich opportunities for pupils to learn about the importance of a healthy lifestyle. 
The school has appropriate arrangements for eating and drinking healthily. Staff promote a balanced 
diet and keeping fit successfully. For example, by providing an effective range of extra-curricular 
activities, and through specific activities such as yoga, the school encourages pupils to exercise 
regularly. Teachers promote a sound awareness of online safety among pupils very effectively. 
Through visits by local agencies, such as the police, the school ensures that pupils understand the 
dangers of substance misuse. 

Page 132



The school provides effective opportunities to promote pupils’ spiritual, moral, social and cultural 
development through a range of assemblies and other specific periods. It organises regular visits to 
local areas to support theme work. As a result, most pupils know their local area very well and show 
a thorough understanding of Welsh culture. The school promotes pupils’ understanding of other 
beliefs and religions successfully. For example, it teaches them about the Diwali festival and the 
Chinese New Year. The range of visitors, including weekly musical workshops and workshops by 
various artists, contributes very successfully to pupils’ ability to take creative risks and persevere with 
their work.

Ysgol Llandygai (March 2019)

Page 133



Name of School:            YSGOL Y FAENOL, BANGOR                                             

Religious Education

Inspection field 1:  Standards in Religious Education
How well do pupils deal with the basic questions, explore religious beliefs, teachings and customs and express 
their personal responses to beliefs, teachings, customs and basic questions? What can you see in their work that 
demonstrates their progress over time?
 Use: the pupils' work, teachers' assessments, learning walks, lesson observations to form an opinion.
 To help you: Locally Agreed Syllabus (National Indicative Framework); Welsh Government Guidance: People, 

Questions and Beliefs (2013), Indicative Guidelines and Profiles KS2 and KS3 (2011), 14 - 19 (2009), SACRE 
Guidelines, WJEC Examiner Reports.

Notes:
 Religious Education standards at the school are good and pupils make good progress in the subject throughout 

their time at the school. The quality of pupils' work in the books is good throughout the school.  
 Most pupils deal with basic questions skilfully and respond capably when discussing them. Most recollect 

religious customs from a variety of religions successfully by the time they reach the top of the school, and 
compare religions, their customs and teachings, and discuss similarities.

 EAL and FSM pupils are making good progress and there is no gap between what the majority of them attain and 
the attainment of their peers. ALN pupils are reaching their potential in the subject and are making good 
progress from their baseline. The work of MAT pupils is of very good quality and they discuss religion with 
maturity. 

 Most pupils successfully transfer their literacy skills to Religious Education lessons, and the quality of the literacy 
work is good. There are regular opportunities to develop oracy, reading and written skills in Welsh and English 
and there are opportunities to develop ICT within the subject.

Most pupils are developing good skills that gives them access to the whole curriculum. Evidence from the school of 
observing, learning walks, and discussions with pupils show that most use their speaking and listening, numeracy, 
thinking and ICT skills well in Religious Education and across the curriculum

Speaking and Listening:

Most pupils speak confidently in both languages. A very small percentage of the pupils speak Welsh at home; 
nevertheless, they can vary their conversation in different situations. A high percentage of the school's pupils are EAL 
and Welsh is their third language. The number of pupils attaining L4 and L5 in oracy in both languages is good and 
compares well with schools within the Family, the LA, and Wales. End of Key Stage 2 data reflects the hard work 
done by the school to ensure consistency of performance across both languages. Most pupils are able to transfer 
their speaking and listening skills across the curriculum.

The Pie Corbett technique is used throughout the school and is highly effective in the FP to learn stories/subjects 
(including Biblical stories) off by heart. This ensures that the pupils adopt correct sentencing structure and develop 
their oracy well. The oracy work feeds well into the written work. 

ICT is used effectively across the school to develop the pupil's oracy skills by using the green screen, apps such as 
puppet pals and morpho, and specific programmes within Purple Mash.  

Reading:

Most pupils understand what they read.
Most pupils are able to discuss what they have read, and demonstrate an understanding of various subjects. They 
are able to express opinions about subjects. 

Writing

Page 134



Most pupils write correctly in a variety of situations.
The pupils present appropriately for their age and ability, most KS2 pupils use cursive writing.
Most pupils' spelling and grammar skills develop well throughout the pupils' school career. Most pupils (except some 
ALN pupils) write accurately and generate work of an appropriate standard for their age. 
Focus is placed on Welsh at Nursery, Reception and Yr1, and English is introduced in Yr2.  There is evidence in most 
pupils' books, that the standard of writing across the curriculum is akin to what is produced in Welsh and English 
lessons. The quality of work of most pupils is good in both languages.
When planning, it is ensured that a variety of writing styles are introduced each term. The styles are introduced 
appropriately, and it can be seen in pupils' books that a good cross-section of writing genres are studied. Pupils 
undertake extended writing tasks regularly, with appropriate steps that lead to extended pieces.
Cross curricular extended writing has developed well and good quality tasks are seen in the books of many pupils. A 
linguistic balance and variety of styles are seen. 
Numeracy across the curriculum: 

Most pupils are able to transfer what they have learnt in mathematics lessons across the Curriculum successfully in 
most classes.   Ample opportunities are offered to develop numeracy and the pupils' work corresponds to the 
requirements of the Numeracy Framework, and is age and ability appropriate.  Tasks that challenge all groups of 
pupils are set, including MAT and ALN. Most pupils are able to use their numeracy skills to an appropriate level in a 
variety of subjects. Pupils across the Foundation Phase are given valuable opportunities to apply their mathematics 
skills within a variety of learning areas.  

ICT

Most pupils' ICT skills across the age groups are good. Work of planning for the Digital Competency Framework is 
underway. Most Foundation Phase pupils use their ICT skills independently and effectively every week within the 
various learning areas whilst working on various challenges.  

Thinking Skills

Thinking skills are developed effectively across the school, and AforL is implemented in every classroom.  Pupils take 
more responsibility over their learning as they progress through the school, they participate in the process of setting 
SC across the school. Pupils assess the work of their peers and undertake regular self-assessments, and improve 
pieces of work. Most pupils across the Foundation Phase are able to self-assess and assess the work of their peers 
simply and effectively by using characters from Mr Men.  Many pupils communicate and use thinking skills when 
collaborating and the skills they have developed promote their progress. Growth Mindset was introduced this year 
and the pupils are developing qualities that aid them with their work.

Developing creativity and physical abilities

Most pupils develop creativity and physical skills effectively through being active inside and outside the classroom. 
They use these skills successfully through learning and are able to transfer them to familiar and new situations. Most 
pupils from the nursery class up to year 4 take responsibility for their learning, and develop creativity by solving 
challenges within the learning areas as they choose resources and research their own ideas. Music is regularly used 
to deveop dance and movement.

Improvement issues that require attention during the coming year:
Become familiar with the new curriculum and begin refining plans
Further develop creativity within Religious Education

Our pupils' religious education standards are:  GOOD

Page 135



Inspection field 2:  Welfare and attitudes to learning about Religous Education 
What do you feel the pupils gain from religious education lessons? 
 Use: pupils' work, analysis of a religious education questionnaire, minutes of the School focus group/Council 
 To help you: Appended guidance: listening to learners (ESTYN, September 2017), 
Notes: 
 There is a good provision for pupils' health and well-being, and for their spiritual, moral and social development.  

The school has good knowledge of each child and his/her needs.  This is one of the school's strengths.  
 The school is an organised and caring community.  Teachers give guidance that promotes pupil well-being.  

Parent and pupil questionnaires confirm our views.
 Most pupils feel happy and safe at the school and understand the school's arrangements for dealing with 

bullying and misbehaviour.  The behaviour of most the pupils is good.  Parents confirm this view in a 
questionnaire.

 Most pupils have good knowledge of well-being and safety rules and of influences that can affect a healthy living.  
The children's responses and behaviour at the school confirm this. The pupils play a key part in setting the rules 
of their classrooms and those of the school yard. The school uses the Class Dojo programme effectively in order 
to award good behaviour that has a positive effect on almost every pupil. 

 Almost every pupil behaves well toward visitors and toward each other, they listen to each other and respond 
politely. This is seen in the service when Church representatives attend, when guest speakers come to the 
school, and when pupils go on educational visits.

 Almost all pupils interact with each other in a friendly way in formal and informal situations.
 Almost every pupil understands moral concepts such as fairness, equality, tolerance, sustainability, and the 

rights of the child. The PSE provision and the school's daily routines promote values such as honesty, tolerance 
and fairness.  

 The school also promotes a sense of responsibility, when the children interact with each other, when they carry 
out classroom tasks and when they participate in extra-curricular activities. The Eco Council is effective in 
ensuring the pupils' awareness of sustainability and in PSE, Science, Geography, and ESDGC; the School Council 
has also been effective in ensuring the pupils understand their rights - there are classroom exhibitions to remind 
children of their rights. 

 This is highlighted in the pupils' behaviour when interacting with each other, when raising money for charity, in 
their ability to show empathy, conserving energy and recycling at the school.

 The pupils are able to show respect toward each other and the various beliefs and cultures present in the 
school's community. The school takes pride in the cultural variety that exists within the school's community and 
is effective in tapping into parent and pupil expertise when teaching about different beliefs and cultures. 

 Almost every pupil shows a positive attitude toward disability and other additional learning needs. One Yr5 pupil 
is visually impaired and the pupils are very mindful of her, they are very willing to support the ALN pupils in the 
classroom and outside. They do not discriminate.

 Most pupils are ambitious and set challenging targets for themselves. The pupils are aware of their personal 
targets and are given regular opportunities to work toward them. New target books have been used this year 
across all classrooms and they are effective.

 Most pupils respond well to new and unfamiliar experiences and ideas
 Most show an interest, enthusiasm and pride in what they achieve.

 Lesson observations show that most pupils work well independently and with their peers, they listen to others 
and usually respect their contributions. 

Improvement issues that need attention during the coming year:
Create a Christian Council among the pupils in order to further develop Christian values at the school

Pupils’ attitudes towards religious education in our school are:  GOOD

Page 136



Inspection field 3:  Teaching and learning experience in Religious Education?
How good is the planning and teaching in Religious Education? Provide examples of enriching religious education 
experiences
 Use: learning walks, lesson observations, pupils' work, ask pupils.
 To help you: Locally Agreed Syllabus (National Indicative Framework); Welsh Government Guidance: People, 

Questions and Beliefs (2013), Indicative Guidelines and Profiles KS2 and KS3 (2011), 14 - 19 (2009), SACRE 
Guidelines, Religious Education in secondary schools (ESTYN, summer 1013), Religious Education and ethics in 
KS2 and KS3 (ESTYN, summer 2018)

Notes:
Remember to refer to examples of the provision.   Time for the subject? % who choose Rel. Stud. as an option? % 
who gain an accreditation for statutory Rel.Ed.
 Planning for Religious Education is purposeful and responds to the requirements of the National Indicative 

Framework. Long-term plans for Religious Education were redrawn in September 2018 in order to ensure 
succession in the skills. The Foundation Phase skills have been mapped. Long term plans are used purposefully in 
order to plan a series of lessons.

 Religious Education is taught weekly in every class.
 The voice of the pupil is strong at the school and strongly influences the planning. Consequently, tasks and 

activities inspire the pupils' interest. 
 Most lessons are of good quality and successfully develop pupils' knowledge and understanding of religious 

beliefs, teachings and customs, and their subject skills and cross-curricular skills. 
 The quality of the planning is good across the school. The planning builds on previous teaching and ensures 

consistency and year on year progression. 
 AforL is a strength at the school and we ensure the aim of the lesson is shared with pupils, along with the SC. 

This ensures that the high expectations are clear. 
 Teachers give constructive feedback and pupils are regularly encouraged to improve their work. Discussion 

partners are regularly used and pupils frequently self-assess and assess their peers. 
 Religious Education is assessed annually according to the descriptions of Oucomes and Levels of the National 

Indicative Framework. Progress in Religious Education is reported to parents annually. The assessments show 
that most pupils make good and steady progress in the subject

 Awareness raising sessions for the four aims have ensured that teachers have an increased understanding of the 
new Curriculum. Emphasis is placed on developing the principles, and KS2 teachers have begun responding to 
them.

 Teachers arrange educational visits to the local church, cathedral and mosque so that pupils become familiar 
with places of worship and rituals. 

 Activities are arranged for the areas in the Foundation Phase to develop Religious Education skills e.g. creating 
palm leaves, and an Easter garden in the outside area.

 The school has a number of visitors every year in order to deepen the pupils' understanding and knowledge of 
the Bible and Christianity e.g. A visit from the Bishop, Bible workshops, Capel Berea Youth Officer, and the pupils 
visit chapels to take part in workshops e.g. Cracking Easter, Visit to Capel y Ffynnon 

 The school deliberately plans the use of places of worship e.g. St Peter's Church when studying weddings, 
baptisms etc.

 Since the school is a Church school, the connection between the school and Diocese is strong. Collective worship 
is held every fortnight by the rector and Christian values are clear around the school.

 There is a reflection area in every classroom and there are exhibitions to correspond to the area.
 There is a high percentage of pupils from other religions at the school, but the school's Christian nature is 

successfully maintained. 
 The school is inclusive and children's knowledge of other religions is used in the lessons.
 Developing literacy, numeracy and ICT across the curriculum is a priority and these are included in every lesson.
Improvement issues that need attention during the coming year:
 Continue to refine the planning in order to respond to the requirements of the New Curriculum
 Develop Creative Activities 

Page 137



The education standards of Religious Education in our school are:  GOOD

Inspection field 4:  Care, support and guidance in Religious Education?
To what extent do religious education lessons/activities help pupils reflect on religious and non-religious responses 
to fundamental questions and to reflect on their own beliefs and values?  How does religious education help pupils 
to be active citizens?  To what extent does the school provide effective opportunities for pupils to develop strong 
values and establish their spiritual and ethical beliefs? 
 Use: learning walks, interviews with pupils, the school's collective worship programme, school newsletter, school 

records of any hate crimes/bullying.
 To help you: SACRE guidance, Guidelines on collective worship (Wales Association of SACREs), Supplementary 

guidance: collective worship in non-denominational schools (ESTYN, autumn 2017), Supplementary Guidance: 
listening to learners (ESTYN, September 2017)

Notes:
 Pupils are good at taking responsibility for their learning in the Religious Education lessons. 
 The voice of the pupil is strong. Pupils are asked to contribute ideas about activities and tasks related to a theme 

and the teachers respond to them
 The school has a strong association with the Diocese and local Church by virtue of its status as a church school. 

Consequently, the Diocese provides support and the rector visits the school every fortnight to lead collective 
worship. 

 Most pupils have a good understanding of other religions because of the nature of the school's community. They 
visit a chapel, church, the cathedral and mosque during their time at the school.

 Most pupils have a good understanding of their rights following presentations by the School Council. These are 
on display in the classrooms. 

 Each year the school celebrates Fair Trade week and raises pupils' awareness of the importance of being global 
citizens.

 The Religious Education plans ensure that human rights are studied e.g. Martin Luther King and Nelson Mandela
 The school successfully helps pupils understand the effect of life choices. 
 Most pupils understand the effect of behaviour on their mental health, their physical health and well-being, now 

and in future. 
 The school gives pupils valuable opportunities to take on responsibilities and play a full part in the school and 

wider community. At the beginning of each theme, every child is given the opportunity to suggest ideas about 
what they want to learn, staff incorporate these ideas into their work plans as much as possible. Through the 
Class Council and the School Council the voice of the pupil is heard as puils participate in aspects of moving the 
school forward.

 There is a good provision for pupils' health and well-being, as well as their spiritual, moral and social 
development.  The school has a good knowledge of each child and his/her needs.  This is one of the school's 
strengths.  

 The school's PSE programme is effective in developing the social and emotional skills of every pupil, including 
underprivileged pupils. 

 The PSE programme is mapped for the FP and KS2 and is provided cross-curricularly. 
 Circle Time sessions are held weekly in KS2 and a Wali a Moli and Ysgol Deina session in the FP. 
 Circle Time sessions give pupils good opportunities to express, share and discuss feelings and matters of 

importance to them.    
 The school has a Racial Equality policy and a procedure for recording and responding to racial matters should the 

need arise. The school's provision for explaining and helping pupils understand matters of equality, diversity, 
tolerance, and respect is effective.

 The school successfully challenges stereotypes and stereotyping. All pupils are given the same opportunity
 The school's behaviour management strategies have a positive effect on the pupils. Class Dojo and the Webster 

Stratton scheme are used to promote good behaviour. Parent questionnaires show that almost every parent 
feels that pupil behaviour is good. Pupils who find it difficult to control their behaviour are supported and 

Page 138



assisted with IEP, risk assessments, and targets created for them. 
 There is a positive anti-bullying culture throughout the school. The "I want to say" box gives pupils the 

opportunity to draw attention to concerns.  The school's policy is followed in every case, and an attempt made 
to resolve the particular situation, and also through the EYA programme and Circle time to focus generally on the 
types of behaviours and possible effects.  Anti-bullying is taught from years 3-6 through the KIVA programme. 
Lessons from the KIVA scheme were very effective in educating pupils about what bullying is and how such 
problems can be overcome. 

 The school successfully develops the pupils' knowledge and understanding of harassment, discrimination, 
bullying based on identity, and extremism.

 The school is effective in promoting human rights.  The school council has also been responsible for educating all 
the pupils about the rights of the child. Pupils in every class have been responsible for choosing important rights 
for their class charter.      

 Pupils at the school are offered regular and effective opportunities to develop firm values and to establish their 
spiritual and ethical beliefs. Through different activities and lessons, the school successfully promotes 
bilingualism, social and moral values, diversity, and spiritual development.  The school has a caring ethos and the 
well-being of every child is safeguarded. The pupils' spiritual and moral values are developed though whole 
school services and classroom services and Religious Education lessons.  The children ask insightful questions, 
listen attentively and show each other respect. The pupils show empathy toward each other and contribute 
toward various charities e.g. RNIB, Children in Need, Save the Children, Blue Sky. 

 The school provides good opportunities for pupils to develop their ability to reflect on (big) fundamental 
questions from a religious or non-religious point of view. Children participate actively in collective worship 
sessions and they are encouraged to reflect. We teach children about the customs of different beliefs under the 
banner of big questions from different religions. There is effective provision for pupils to reflect on their own 
beliefs and values.

 Our services have a particular spiritual ethos, and pupils contribute effectively by arranging contributions in 
advance and by sharing their feelings at the time. 

 Circle Time sessions are held regularly in every class at which good opportunities arise for reflecting, questioning 
and amazement. 

 The PSE provision and the school's daily routines promote values such as honesty, tolerance and fairness.  
 The school also promotes a sense of responsibility, when the children interact with each other, when they carry 

out classroom tasks and when they participate in extra-curricular activities.    
 Through whole school services and class services, pupils are given time to develop and reflect, to develop moral 

values such as respect, honesty and fairness and to develop the understanding and ability to differentiate 
between what is acceptable and what is not.  Most pupils display those values.   

 There is a reflection area in every classroom that gives pupils the opportunity to think and reflect quietly.   
 A regular visit from the local rector to lead assemblies supports the teachers' work.  
 Religious Education lessons give pupils the opportunity to develop socially by looking at their personal values, 

and other customs and beliefs throughout the world.  
 Collective Worship takes place daily and jointly twice a week. The worship is of a Christian nature and there are 

specific plans in place. A series of joint collective worship is planned and this deals with a Christian theme and 
Christian values and the daily worship in the classroom reinforces the work.

 The school successfully keeps children safe from the dangers of radicalisation, all staff are trained to identify 
signs and understand the procedure if there are any concerns.
Improvement issues that need attention during the coming year:

 Continue to plan collective worship for the whole school

Does the school satisfy the statutory requirements for collective worship? Yes X No
The contribution of religious education to pupil's personal development and community cohesion is: GOOD

Inspection field 5:  Leadership and management in Religious Education? 
Does the religious education subject leader possess the required skills and understanding to lead the subject 

Page 139



effectively?  How do you know?
 Use: work plans, monitoring and self-evaluation reports, data evaluation, interviews with the coordinator and 

the designated governor / SACRE visitor, minutes of staff meeting, improvement plan, progress evaluation, case 
study following school to school collaboration.

 To help you: SACRE guidelines
Notes:
 The coordinator presents good leadership and sets high expectations for the subject. The coordinator has the 

knowledge and understanding to lead effectively.
 This year the coordinator and head-teacher attended training relating to collective worship at primary schools. 

The coordinator cascaded the information at staff meetings and the staff implemented it.
 The school has purposeful resources such as reflective areas, Godly Play equipment, artefacts, and religious 

books. There are plenty of good quality resources at the school.
 There are policies in place that have been reviewed in line with the timetable. Information about the school's 

ethos and Christian nature is shared with parents in the booklet. Information about the right to withdraw pupils 
from Religious Education is in the booklet. 

 A high percentage of pupils choose not to participate in the collective worship and they sit at the back of the hall. 
 No pupils have been taken out of religious education lessons.
 The way the school includes pupils from different religions in the life and work of the school is a strength 
 The SMT scrutinises books termly and monitors the Religious Education provision, draws up reports and reports 

to the Governing Body.
 We have established links with other Church schools through the Diocese and are collaborating to further 

develop the pupils' role
 The report of the recent Section 50 inspection identifies several excellent aspects at the school
Improvement issues that need attention during the coming year:
Further develop the role of the pupils
Continue to develop links with other schools, mainly church schools

Leadership and management in Religious Education is: GOOD

Name of Headteacher Joanna Thomas
Signature of Headteacher Joanna Thomas
Date: 09.05.19

Page 140



Ysgol Brynaerau

Religious Education

Inspection field 1:  Standards in Religious Education
How well do pupils deal with the basic questions, explore religious beliefs, teachings and customs, and express 
their personal responses to beliefs, teachings, customs and basic questions? What can you see in their work that 
demonstrates their progress over time?
 Use: the pupils' work, teachers' assessments, learning walks, lesson observations to form an opinion.
 To help you: Locally Agreed Syllabus (National Indicative Framework); Welsh Government Guidance: People, 

Questions and Beliefs (2013), Indicative Guidelines and Profiles KS2 and KS3 (2011), 14 - 19 (2009), SACRE 
Guidelines, WJEC Examiner Reports.
 When scrutinising pupils' work, it can be seen that most pupils have a good knowledge of holy books, places 

of worship, religious ceremonies and festivals that are important to Christians, Jews and Muslims.
 An analysis of teacher assets show that standards are consistently good at the end of both Key Stages.  Most 

pupils' work books show very good progress in written tasks over the year.
 Most pupils successfully use and apply their literacy, numeracy, ICT, and thinking skills successfully in a wide 

range of cross-curricular situations on a daily basis, including in Religious Education, with some more able 
pupils showing very good skills.

 Most pupils are able to apply their knowledge, their understanding and skills effectively to new situations.
 Many pupils are able to read a range of religious sources such as text books and the internet and non-

religious sources well.
 By Year 6, most write maturely in a range of contexts and generate work of a high standard, for example 

when comparing differences within medical services in Gwynedd and India.

Our pupils' religious education standards are: Outstanding

Inspection field 2:  Welfare and attitudes to learning about Religous Education? 
What do you feel the pupils gain from religious education lessons? 
 Use: pupils' work, analysis of a religious education questionnaire, minutes of the School focus group/Council 
 To help you: Appended guidance; listening to learners (ESTYN, September 2017), 

 Most pupils undertake their roles in the life and work of the school very well and are confident in dealing 
with external visitors, and visitor comments reiterate this.

 Most year 2-6 pupils undertake leadership roles and responsibilities very effectively, and the opportunities 
to discuss with various outside agencies prepare the children well for life in the real world.

 Almost all the pupils are able to show empathy and very enthusiastically try to raise money toward various 
charities such as 'Water Aid', Christmas Present Boxes, NSPCC, Children in Need, Red Nose Day, Gŵyl Fai 
Dyffryn Nantlle, Defibrilator, the Life Boat, Macmillan, Fair Trade, and the Air Ambulance.

 During the last two years, a significant and positive development was seen in the attitudes of almost all the 
pupils toward their learning. A good example of this is the commitment from almost every pupil, parent, 
staff and the Governing Body, to the motto 'Welshness, Courtesy, Kindness, and Doing our very best'.

 Most pupils have developed well and are able to discuss what they need to do in order to be a good learner, 
with a green mind for - perseverance, concentration, collaboration, persistence, enquiring, and being 
confident to try out new things. Most KS2 and Year 2 pupils respond well to the principle and are aware that 
learning new things challenges the brain. Most Year 3 and 4 pupils have developed into capable, 
independent learners and are able to undertake challenging tasks. Most pupils are able to take responsibility 
for completing their own work, which is good.

Pupils’ attitudes towards religious education in our school are:  Outstanding

Page 141



Inspection field 3:  Teaching and learning experiences in Religious Education?
How good are the planning and teaching in Religious Education? Provide examples of enriching religious education 
experiences
 Use: learning walks, lesson observations, pupils' work, ask pupils.
 To help you: Locally Agreed Syllabus (National Indicative Framework); Welsh Government Guidance: People, 

Questions and Beliefs (2013), Indicative Guidelines and Profiles KS2 and KS3 (2011), 14 - 19 (2009), SACRE 
Guidelines, Religious Education in secondary schools (ESTYN, summer 2013), Religious Education and ethics in 
KS2 and KS3 (ESTYN, summer 2018)

• The school believes that the needs of the pupils and those of the wider community are very well met through the 
Foundation Phase and KS2 curriculum and through Religious Education. A balanced and broad curriculum is provided 
that meets the requirements of the Foundation Phase, the 2008 Curriculum, Literacy, Numeracy and Religious 
Education in accordance with the agreed syllabus. 
• A very good range of stimulating, motivating and challenging learning experiences are provided to meet the needs 
of every pupil, including SEN pupils, underperforming pupils and more able and talented pupils.  The equal 
opportunities policy and equality policy underpin this.    

 When scrutinising pupils' books, it is clear that they have regular opportunities to retrieve religious stories 
such as Rama and Sita, St David, Martin Luther King, Rosa Parks and the story of Easter.

 The provision for the pupils' spiritual development is good.   Our assemblies and collective worshipping 
periods have a spiritual quality and the children contribute effectively through discussing questions about 
morality, and their understanding and knowledge of Christian customs and stories and their knowledge of 
other beliefs or religions is developing very well. 

 Big life questions are considered within Religious Education lessons so that they may understand their role as 
citizens of the future, to compare and be amazed, to understand the customs and importance of beliefs, to 
understand their role in the big picture. Great emphasis is placed on developing individuals who think about 
others.

 Every half term, Nia Williams from Coleg y Bala visits.

The teaching standards of Religious Education in our school are:  Outstanding

Inspection field 4:  Care, support and guidance in Religious Education?
To what extent do religious education lessons/activities help pupils reflect on religious and non-religious responses 
to fundamental questions and to reflect on their own beliefs and values?  How does religious education help pupils 
to be active citizens?  To what extent does the school provide effective opportunities for pupils to develop strong 
values and establish their spiritual and ethical beliefs? 
 Use: learning walks, interviews with pupils, the school's collective worship programme, school newsletter, school 

records of any hate crimes/bullying.
 To help you: SACRE guidance, Guidelines on collective worship (Wales Association of SACREs), Supplementary 

guidance: collective worship in non-denominational schools (ESTYN, autumn 2017), Supplementary Guidance: 
listening to learners (ESTYN, September 2017)
 Care at the school is excellent. There is a very caring family here, with all staff providing unceasing care, 

direction, support and guidance to promote the pupils' well-being.  A great many of the children consider the 
school to be a haven.  The school is fully inclusive and treats every pupil equally.  Values such as honesty, 
tolerance and fairness are promoted effectively through projects and class work and through the school's 
daily life, and there is a sense of respect in the close releationship between the staff and pupils.  In the 
school's successful PSE plan, valuable attention is given every term to a number of aspects relating to health 
and well-being, and to spiritual, moral, social and cultural development.  Circle time is used regularly and 
very well to reflect, enquire and be amazed and to promote the pupils' personal and social skills. 

Page 142



Consequently, pupil attendance and the pupils' commitment to their learning is good. The PSE work also 
emphasises and promotes the difference between what is right and wrong and gives children the 
opportunity to discuss and act on situations that arise.

 The School Council plays a prominent role in arranging to raise money toward various charities.  They 
arrange various activities and are very good in developing their understanding of their responsibility to the 
world and its future, as well as of tolerance.  We raise pupils' awareness about those who are less fortunate 
and of global disasters.  Consequently, the school has made contributions of over £1500.00 in recent years.

 Pupils are excellently prepared to become responsible members of the community and confident citizens.

 The provision for spiritual, moral and social development is good.  Our assemblies and periods of collective 
worship have a spiritual and supportive ethos and the children contribute effectively by discussing questions 
relating to morality.   Their understanding and knowledge of Christian customs and stories and their 
knowledge of other beliefs or religions are good.  Our collective worship arrangements meet statutory 
requirements.  There are regular opportunities in our effective Religious Education plans for the children to 
discuss big life questions, to compare and be amazed, to understand the customs and importance of other 
beliefs, to understand their role in the big picture, to understand their future role as citizens. They also 
develop values such as respect, justice, honesty, fairness and sustainability through their campaigns such as 
'Fair Trade' and 'Water Aid'.

Does the school satisfy the statutory requirements for collective worship? Yes √ No
The contribution of religious education to pupil's personal development and community cohesion is: Outstanding

Inspection field 5:  Leadership and management in Religious Education? 
Does the religious education subject leader possess the required skills and understanding to lead the subject 
effectively?  How do you know?
 Use: work plans, monitoring and self-evaluation reports, data evaluation, interviews with the coordinator and 

the designated governor / SACRE visitor, minutes of staff meetings, improvement plan, progress evaluation, case 
study following school to school collaboration.

 To help you: SACRE guidelines
• The school's vision is 'Welshness, courtesy and kindness.' This vision is at the root of all aspects of the school's 
work and is promoted by the Head-teacher, the Assistant Head-teacher, the School Council and the Governing Body 
to provide clear guidance on school improvement.
Leadership and management in Religious Education is: Outstanding

Matters to address Actions Who
m?

By when?

Ensure a cross-section of speakers from 
the community to participate in collective 
worship.

Contact Tracy R Jones who works for the 
Church in Wales for further guidance.

It is not necessary to 
share these details with 
SACRE but school 
records need to ensure 
that accountability is 
clear to staff and 
governors

Ensure that Religious Education is 
discussed regularly at the curricular panel.

Self-Evaluation timetable

Summative evaluation that will contribute to the school's evaluation of 'Personal Development (4.2)'

Page 143



Name of Headteacher Glenda Evans
Signature of Headteacher  G Evans
Date: 14.05.19

Page 144



1

Standing Advisory Council for Religious Education

GWYNEDD
ANNUAL REPORT

September 2017 -  August 2018

Head of the Education Department

Mr Garem Jackson 

Page 145

Agenda Item 14



2

CONTENT

SECTION 1: EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1  Introduction by SACRE Chairman: Councillor Paul Rowlinson

SECTION 2: ADVICE TO ANGLESEY COUNCIL 

2.1 SACRE’s function in relation to Religious Education 
2.2 The Locally Agreed Syllabus
2.3 How good are standards?
2.4 The response of Gwynedd Council
2.5 Religious Education and the Welsh Government
2.6 Religious Education and ESTYN
2.7 SACRE’s function in relation to Collective Worship 

SECTION 3: ANNEXES 

3.1 General information about the composition of SACRE
3.2 Membership of Gwynedd SACRE 2017-18
3.3 SACRE meetings held during the reporting period
3.4 Guidance provided by Gwynedd SACRE to support the self-evaluation of standards in Religious 
Education and collective worship
3.5 Guidance provided by Gwynedd SACRE to members who attend collective worship in schools
3.6 Gwynedd SACRE action plan for 2017-20

Page 146



3

SECTION 1:   
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

SACRE’s function in relation to Religious Education

A clear outline of SACRE’s function is given in the Welsh Office Circular 10/94

SACRE advises the LEA on matters relating to the provision of Religious Education and Collective 
Worship, and is responsible for the establishment of an ad hoc body, the Agreed Syllabus 
Conference, to produce or consider amendments to the Agreed Syllabus for Religious Education.

1.1 Introduction by the Chairman

I am very pleased to present the Annual Report of the Gwynedd SACRE for the 2017-18 academic 
year. It describes how the SACRE has carried out its functions by scrutinising schools’ self-
evaluation reports and ESTYN reports, listening to presentations from teachers on religious 
education in their schools, attending collective worship in schools and discussing the 
developments in the new curriculum for Wales.
 
I am grateful to all the members of the Gwynedd SACRE, the representatives of Gwynedd Council, 
the teachers and the religious denominations, for their commitment during the year. Following a 
review by Gwynedd Council’s Cabinet of the membership of the SACRE, I look forward to 
welcoming representatives of a wider range of beliefs in the future. I am also grateful to the 
officers for their valuable support. However, as is noted below, it is a matter of concern, in a 
period of financial cuts, that there is no longer a local advisory service that can offer support or 
training to teachers teaching religious education and it is an increasing challenge for SACREs to be 
able to advise and support schools.

It is also a pleasure to collaborate at the national level with the National Advisory Panel for 
Religious Education (NAPFRE) and the Wales Association of SACREs at a time of major change in 
the world of education in Wales and Gwynedd.

Councillor Paul Rowlinson
Chairman, 2017-18

Page 147



4

SECTION 2:  ADVICE to GWYNEDD EDUCATION DEPARTMENT

2.1 SACRE’s function in relation to Religious Education
 
A clear outline of SACRE's function is given in the Welsh Office Circular 10/94.

SACRE advises the LEA on matters relating to the provision of Religious Education and Collective 
Worship, and is responsible for the establishment of an ad hoc body, the Agreed Syllabus 
Conference, to produce or consider amendments to the Agreed Syllabus for Religious Education.

2.2 The Locally Agreed Syllabus

Gwynedd and Anglesey SACREs have adopted the ‘National Exemplar Framework for Religious 
Education for 5-19 year old learners’  as the Locally Agreed Syllabus for Gwynedd and Anglesey 
(2008).  

A SACRE’s main function is ‘...to advise the authority upon such matters connected with religious 
worship in county schools and the religious education to be given in accordance with an agreed 
syllabus as the authority may refer to the council or as the council may see fit.’ 
Education Reform Act 1988 s.11 (1) (a)

2.3 How good are standards?

Gwynedd SACRE monitors religious education and collective worship by:
 receiving a summary of a school’s self-evaluation report in response to the key questions of 

ESTYN’s Inspection Framework; 
 analysing the Local Authority’s teacher assessments and secondary examination results; 
 reviewing ESTYN inspection reports for references to ‘religious education’ or ‘collective 

worship’;
 inviting teachers and head teachers to share their good practices with members in the 

termly meetings, and by,
 accepting schools’ invitations to attend a collective worship session.

2.3.1 Schools’ self-evaluation reports

SACRE members resolved at their meeting on 9 February 2011, to continue to receive copies of 
schools’ self-evaluation of religious education and collective worship and asked head teachers to 
use a revised template.  Gwynedd SACRE, Anglesey head teachers and members of the National 
Advisory Panel for Religious Education (NAPfRE) have approved the new template which was 
redrafted in response to the new ESTYN Inspection Framework (Appendix 3.5).  The SACRE clerk, 
who is an assistant education quality improvement officer with Gwynedd Council is responsible for 
distributing the template and collating the self-evaluation reports.  11 reports were submitted 
during 2017-18, representing 9.2% of Gwynedd schools.

Page 148



5

2011-
2012

2012-
2013

2013-
2014

2014-
2015

2015-
2016

2016-
2017

2017-
2018

Number of 
reports

9 primary
0 secondary

16 primary
1 secondary

9 primary
3 secondary

14 primary
0 secondary

11 primary
2 secondary

13 primary
1 secondary

9 primary
2 secondary

% of 
Gwynedd 
schools

14.1% 13.4% 14.4% 9.2%

11 self-evaluation reports were submitted to Gwynedd SACRE during the year: Ysgol Abererch, 
Ysgol Abersoch, Ysgol Baladeulyn, Ysgol Cwm y Glo, Ysgol Felinwnda, Ysgol Friars, Ysgol O M 
Edwards, Ysgol Nebo, Ysgol Sarn bach, Ysgol y Gelli ac Ysgol y Moelwyn.

The self-evaluation guidance and templates provided by SACRE require schools to respond to the 
exemplar questions of ESTYN’s Inspection Framework (See appendix 3.4).  Schools submit their 
concise judgement on the main strengths of learners’ achievements in religious education and 
note the aspects which will be addressed in the following two years in order to raise standards.  
They also present a concise judgement on the quality of the provision of religious education and 
collective worship.  

Self-evaluation of religious education based on ESTYN’s Inspection Framework (2012-17)
Following the self-evaluation process, 7 schools awarded the following grades:

How good are outcomes in 
Religious Education?

How good is provision in Religious 
Education?

How good is the provision for 
collective worship?

Excellent Good Adequate Unsatisfactory Excellent Good Adequate Unsatisfactory Excellent Good Adequate Unsatisfactory

Primary 6 1 6 1 7

Secondary 0

Total 6 1 6 1 7

*Ysgol Cae Top did not submit a concise judgment on pupils’ standards in RE.

Self-evaluation of religious education based on ESTYN’s new Inspection Framework (September 
2017)
(See appendix 3.4)

Two primary schools, Ysgol Abererch ac Ysgol O M Edwards and two secondary religious education 
departments, Ysgol Friars and Ysgol y Moelwyn, submitted self-evaluation reports based on the 
guidance provided by ESTYN’s new Inspection Framework. The secondary departments submitted 
their complete self-evaluation reports based on their schools’ policies.  One secondary 
department used ESTYN’s composite judgements in self evaluating the inspection areas relevant 
to the religious education department. 

Page 149



6

These judgements refer solely to 
religious education and collective 
worship. 

Excellent Good Adequate Unsatisfactory

Primary 1 1Inspection Area 1
Standards Secondary 1 1

Primary 1 1Inspection Area 2
Wellbeing and attitudes to 
learning

Secondary 1

Primary 2Inspection Area 3
Teaching and learning 
experiences

Secondary 1 1

Primary 2Inspection Area 4
Care, support and guidance Secondary 1 1

Primary 2Inspection Area 5
Leadership and management Secondary 1 1

Approximately half of the self-evaluation reports concisely noted the strengths and areas of 
improvement of each school.  In the best examples, the commentary was quantitative and 
qualitative, based on evidence and referred to the requirements of the Locally Agreed Syllabus.  
However, approximately half of the reports were very superficial and made few specific references 
to religious education.  

Most head teachers noted that their schools fulfilled the statutory requirements for collective 
worship.

How good are outcomes in Religious Education?

The schools were able to identify good features such as that:
 the majority of pupils are well informed about Bible stories and Christian practices 

(Abersoch)
 the majority of pupils have good subject-based vocabulary (Abersoch) 
 the majority of pupils have a good knowledge of the religious ceremonies that are 

important for Christians and Muslims (Sarn Bach)
 most pupils have a good understanding of other religions and other world cultures ( Y Gelli)
 many pupils can discuss religious and moral issues well (Sarn Bach)
 most pupils display consistently good literacy skills in their religious education work (Sarn 

Bach, Baladeulyn, Y Gelli)
 many Foundation Phase pupils use their numeracy skills well, e.g. a Diwali mathematics 

mat (Nebo)
 the ITC skills shown by the majority of pupils when searching for information during 

religious education lessons are good (Nebo, Sarn Bach) or when writing a personal e-mail 
to ask questions about Diwali celebrations (Abererch)

 nearly all pupils can successfully engage with fundamental questions and explore religious 
beliefs (Abererch)

 pupils make regular and good progress in their religious education lessons (Y Moelwyn)
 pupils’ oracy, reading and writing skills in religious education is good (Y Moelwyn)

Page 150



7

 many pupils are interested in religious education and learning about other religions and 
beliefs.  They note, for example, that religious education teaches them how to live a life 
which is fair and how to respect other people in the world (Abererch) 

 the levels of achievement attained by Y9 pupils at L5+, L6+ a L7+ have remained 
consistently in the high 90%, in the 80% and middle 20% during the last 3 years  (Friars)

 89.9% of Y11 (69 pupils) have attained A*-C grades in Religious Studies and that this is 
22.1% greater than the National average (Friars).

The schools identified matters which require further attention during the next two years.  Schools 
noted that teachers intended to:

 Develop pupils’ extended writing skills in religious education (Abersoch)
 Develop pupils numeracy skills in religious education (Y Gelli)

How good is the provision for Religious Education?

Schools identified good practice such as:

 the good quality of the planning for Religious Education, building on pupils’ previous 
knowledge, understanding and skills. (Abererch)

 that the school prepares valuable and practical religious education activities that 
successfully meet the requirements of the Locally Agreed Syllabus (Abersoch)

 the appropriate time, allocated weekly for all classes throughout the school, in order to 
deliver specific aspects of religious education to the pupils (Y Gelli)

 regular visitors, such as local religious leaders, who enrich and reinforce pupils’ experiences 
well (Abererch, Abersoch)

 whole school projects, e.g arranging a mock wedding, which effectively enrich and 
reinforce pupils’ experiences (Abererch, Abersoch)

 the annual opportunities provided to pupils to visit religious sites such as the village church 
(Abererch)

 that studying the main Christian celebrations such as Easter, Whitsun and Christmas, pupils 
have opportunities to reflect on fundamental questions and their personal values, e.g. 
‘How important is Easter for Christians?’ or ‘What’s the significance of Christmas presents?’ 
(Abererch)

 writing to pen-pals in a London school has enhanced pupils’ knowledge of Islam (Abererch)
 that the varied tasks outlined in the schemes of work are interesting, contemporary and 

engaging to learners (Y Moelwyn)
 the department provides specific, positive and high quality feedback for  pupils on how to 

improve their work in religious education (Y Moelwyn)
 all Religious Studies teachers have the opportunity to review and update their resources 

and teaching materials in order to ensure that the planning is effective and that clear 
objectives can be provided in lessons.  Consequently, the pupils understand the 
expectations of the department and can access challenging enrichment tasks which 
provide success criteria that enable them to perform on or above their personal targets. 
(Friars) 

Page 151



8

The schools identified matters which require further attention during the next two years.  Schools 
noted that teachers intended to: 

 develop pupils’ understanding of another religion other than Christianity (Abererch, 
Abersoch)

 review the learning plans in response to the recommendations of ‘Successful Futures’ 
(Abererch)

 ensure that the children have more opportunities to visit religious places (Felinwnda)
 ensure that there are adequate religious education resources in the classrooms (Abererch, 

Felinwnda, Nebo)
 ensure that the pupils have greater opportunities to develop their religious education skills 

to the appropriate level, e.g. expressing personal responses, (Cwm y Glo) or ensuring secure 
progression (Sarn Bach) 

 identify greater opportunities for pupils to apply their numeracy and ITC skills in religious 
education (Baladeulyn)

 ensure that pupils respond to the feedback provided by their teachers in order to correct 
their religious education work (Y Moelwyn)

 develop religious education tasks that provide opportunities for pupils to develop their 
digital competence (Y Moelwyn)

 support their pupils to achieve the assessment criteria outlined for the higher grades in 
their Religious Studies GCSE short course and their A level courses (Friars).

How good is the provision of collective worship?

Many schools noted that they conform to the statutory requirements.  Four schools failed to 
comment.

The schools identified good practices: 
 the ‘morning services’ (sic) reinforce the school’s values (Abersoch, Baladeulyn)
 the emphasis placed on the voice of the child during collective worship (Felinwnda, Cwm y Glo, 

Nebo)
 the collective worship, the Personal and Social Education programme lead to creating a tolerant 

ethos and an understanding of equality and diversity (Felinwnda) and encourage pupils to be active 
and conscientious citizens (Abererch)

 the enriching opportunities provided for pupils to meditate on moral themes and Bible stories 
(Nebo)

 the careful structure of the collective worship timetable has led to a shared understanding that the 
session is a special time of quiet reflection.  (Y Gelli)

 the range of staff members, pupils and friends that lead the collective worship sessions (Cwm y Glo)
 the contribution made by local religious leaders to the collective worship sessions (Abererch, O M 

Edwards)
 the contribution made by the ‘Open the Book’ programme to raise pupils’ awareness of Bible 

stories (Y Gelli) 
 the whole school community is aware of the collective worship policy and that the policy is 

operational within the school (Y Gelli).

Page 152



9

How well does the school facilitate pupils’ spiritual, moral, social and cultural development? 

The schools identifies good practices: 
 that visits such as the visits to Coleg y Bala and participating in mock marriage ceremonies made a 

valuable contribution to pupils’ knowledge and spiritual development (Abersoch)
 pupils’, parents’ and local residents’ contributions to local, national and International charities 

(Abersoch, Cwm y Glo)

The schools identified matters which require further attention during the next two years.  School 
noted that teachers intended to: 

 invite visitors to contribute to collective worship sessions (Felinwnda, Nebo)
 ensure that children have consistent opportunities to lead or contribute to the collective 

worship sessions (Sarn Bach, Y Gelli)

2.3.2 Teacher assessment and external examination results in the secondary sector

KS3 teacher assessments and KS4 and KS5 external examination results were not discussed during 
the SACRE meetings held in 2017-18.

2.3.3  ESTYN Inspection Reports

Information regarding the inspection by ESTYN of 4 primary schools and 2 secondary schools was 
presented during 2017-18.

SACRE’s Recommendations to Gwynedd Council
 Develop co-ordinators’ and subject leaders’ knowledge and understanding of RE and 

their management skills so that they can make improvements within their schools;
 Ensure that schools can access guidance and good practice that will improve religious 

education outcomes of their pupils and the quality of the religious education and 
reflect the principles and recommendations of ‘Successful Futures’.

What are SACRE’s recommendations to Gwynedd Council?
 Encourage secondary departments to respond to any messages identified as a result of 

analysing schools’ internal and external performance data;
 Ensure that religious education teachers are able to access the subject guidance of the 

WJEC examination board and provide opportunities for them to work together with the 
lead practitioners (Mefys Edwards and Angharad Derham) in order to prepare for the 
new GCSE and A level examination specifications.

Page 153



10

There are few references to religious education in the ESTYN inspection reports, however one 
report notes: 

 “When reading, many pupils find information competently and come to sensible conclusions. In 
a few lessons, pupils interpret reading material creatively; for example, in Religious Education, 
they use the information that they gather from their reading tasks to create artwork.” (Ysgol y 
Moelwyn, Hydref 2017)

All reports refer to pupils’ spiritual, moral, social and cultural development and specific references to 
collective worship are made in two of the inspection reports.  The reports note that:

 All schools inspected during the year, promote pupils’ spiritual, moral, social and cultural 
development ‘effectively’ or ‘successfully’; 

 the staff at Ysgol Nebo (October 2017) “organise rich opportunities for…[pupils] to reflect in 
collective worship sessions, which are often based on stories from the Bible or moral themes, 
where they are given opportunities to appreciate and celebrate the differences between 
themselves and their peers”.

 Ysgol Baladeulyn (November 2017) provides “valuable collective worship periods create a 
Christian ethos and provide valuable opportunities for pupils to reflect on values such as 
friendship and kindness”.

In reference to the Partnerships established between the schools and the local community, one 
report noted that, 

  “Regular visits from members of nearby churches to lead assemblies and singing sessions 
make a beneficial contribution towards pupils’ moral and spiritual development.” (Ysgol 
Cwm y Glo, November 2017)

Page 154



2.4  Response of Local Authority

Mrs Mai Bere, Assistant Education Improvement Officer for Gwynedd Council ensures that any guidance or 
recommenations made by Gwynedd SACRE is communicated directly to the primary and secondary head 
teachers.  

Teachers were invited to share good practice during the year and were given the opportunity to outline the 
religious education and collective worship experiences provided for their pupils:

 Head of the Relgious Education department from Ysgol y Moelwyn

An action plan for Gwynedd SACRE outlines the four priorities for 2017-20.  The priorities were identified 
during the discussions held throughout the year and in the Annual SACRE report of 2016-17 and 2017-18.  
However during a period of budget cuts, there is no longer a local advisory service which can provide 
support and training for teachers who teach religious education and it is increasingly difficult for SACRE to 
be able to advise and support shcools.

Priority 1:  Curriculum for Wales, Humanities Area of Learning and Experience “What Matters’ statements
Priority 2: Promote good quality collective worship
Priority 3:  Professional support for Gwynedd SACRE?
Priority 4:  Rich learning experiences – the contribution that local partners can make in order to develop 
and understanding of religious education in the new curriculum
 

Up until April 2018, Gwynedd Council commissioned GwE (School Effectiveness and Improvement Service) 
to support Gwynedd SACRE meetings and to represent Gwynedd SACRE in regional and national meetings.  
In March 2018, the Gwynedd SACRE clerk was notified that GwE would no longer be providing professional 
support to Gwynedd SACRE.  

2.5   Religious Education and the Welsh Government

The Welsh Government has published and distributed guidance documents to support RE teachers:  
 http://wales.gov.uk > search for Religious Education
 The National Exemplar Framework for Religious Education in Wales (2008) 
 Religious Education: Guidance for KS2 and KS3 (2011)
 Exemplar Pupils Profiles at KS2 an KS3 in Religious Education:  Supplementary Guidance (2011)
 Religious Education:  Guidance for 14-19 year old learners (2009) 
 People, Questions and Beliefs:  Religious Education in the Foundation Phase (2013) 
 Religious Education: Chief Moderator’s Report 2012 (http://cbac.co.uk )

Curriculum for Wales
 During 2014-15, Professor Graham Donaldson was commissioned to undertake an independent review of 

the curriculum and assessment arrangements in Wales.  Gwynedd SACRE has contributed to the consultation 

What are SACRE’s recommendations to Gwynedd Council?
 Ensure that the challenge adviser provides termly workshops to support subject co-

ordinators ad the self-evaluate religious education and collective worship in their 
schools.

 Respond to the priorities of the 2018-19 action plan.

Page 155

http://wales.gov.uk/
http://wales.gov.uk/
http://cbac.co.uk/
http://cbac.co.uk/


process of the ‘Great Debate’ and has discussed the recommendations of the report, ‘Successful Futures’ 
published in February 2015.

 The Wales Association of SACRES (WASACRE) is represented on the Welsh Government’s Strategic 
Stakeholders Group and representatives from the National Advisory Panel for Religious Education (NAPfRE) 
have attended meetings during the year with representatives from the Welsh Government’s Curriculum 
Department as they support the pioneer schools and develop a Curriculum for Wales.  

 Members received an update from the GwE supporting Improvement adviser in the Autumn 2017 meeting 
and correspondence from Welsh Government’s Curriculum, Assessment and Pedagogy Division in the 
Summer 2018 meeting.  Members have received copies of the following documents:
 ‘Religious Education:  supporting the early stages of the process of developing the Humanities Area 

of Learning and Experience’, a paper produced by a WASACRE and NAPfRE working group for the 
group responsible for developing the Humanities’ Areas of Learning and Experience (AoLE).

 ‘Humanities Area of Learning and Experience: submission to the Curriculum and Assessment Group 
(4 December 2017), a paper prepared by the teachers from the pioneer schools responsible for 
developing the curriculum.

 Two teachers, Heulwen Jones, Ysgol Bro Hedd Wyn and Miriam Amlyn, Ysgol Eifionydd agreed to represent 
Gwynedd SACRE in a meeting for stakeholders held in Llandudno (May 2019) to discuss the latest draft of the 
‘what matters’ statements for the Humanities’ Area of Learning and Experience.

2.6   Religious Education and ESTYN

Gwynedd SACRE recommends the following resources to RE teachers and head teachers:  
 www.estyn.org.uk;
 Religious Education in Secondary Schools (ESTYN, June 2013);
 Supplementary Guidance: collective worship in non-denominational schools (ESTYN, October 2017);
 Religious Education in Key stage 2 and Key stage 3 (ESTYN, June 2018)

SACRE’s recommendation to Gwynedd Council
 Ensure that teachers are aware of the ‘what matters’ statements for the Humanities 

Area of Learning and Experience. RE teachers are aware of the guidance documents 
available and act on the guidance.  

 Encourage Gwynedd religious education teachers and SACRE members to contribute 
fully to any review of the curriculum and assessment arrangements.

SACRE’s recommendations to Gwynedd Council 
 Ensure that schools and secondary RE teachers are aware of the findings of the ESTYN 

report and act on the recommendations.  

Page 156

http://www.estyn.org.uk/


2.7  SACRE’s function in relation to collective worship 

Welsh Office Circular 10/94 notes that the LEA should work with SACRE to keep an eye on the daily 
collective worship provision, and should consider with it any steps which may be taken to improve such 
provision.

The collective worship must be “of a broadly Christian character”. The “determination” procedure permits 
the suspension of these requirements in relation to some or all of the pupils in a school where they are 
deemed inappropriate. .

 SACRE members and Gwynedd schools have received collective worship guidance documents: 
 ‘Supplementary guidance for inspecting collective worship in non-denominational schools’ 

(ESTYN, October 2017);
 Guidance on Collective Worship (WASACRE, June 2013).

 Gwynedd SACRE monitors standard of collective worship in schools by reviewing schools’ self-
evaluation reports; 

 In response to the recommendations made by Gwynedd SACRE, the Education Authority has 
corresponded regularly with all schools asking them to invite SACRE members to attend a collective 
worship session.  The GwE supporting improvement adviser has develop a pro-forma to help 
members to note their observations (Appendix 3.5).  

Determinations

There was no request from any school for a determination in relation to collective worship

SACRE’s Recommendations to Gwynedd Council
 Ensure that schools conform to the statutory requirement for collective worhsip and 

provide quality collective worship sessions;  
 Encourage schools to invite members of Gwynedd SACRE to attend collective worship 

sessions;
 Ensure that schools receive copies of ‘Supplementary guidance:  collective worship at 

non denominational schools’ (ESTYN) and ‘Collective Worship Guidance’ (WASACRE);

Page 157



SECTION 3:  ANNEXES

3.1 Administrative matters in relation to SACRE

SACRE was established by Gwynedd Education Committee in 1996 to include:

Christians and Other Faiths, namely,
 The Methodist Church
 The Union of Welsh Baptists
 The Presbyterian Church of Wales
 The Church in Wales
 Union of Welsh Independents
 The Catholic Church

Teachers, namely;
 The Association of School and College Leaders (ASCL)
 National Union of Teachers in Wales (UCAC)
 National Association of  Schoolmasters and Union of Women Teachers (NASUWT)
 National Union of Teachers (NUT)
 Association of Teachers and Lecturers (ATL)
 National Association of Head Teachers (NAHT)

 Elected members

.

Page 158



3.2 SACRE membership of Gwynedd 2016-17

Christians and Other Religions
The Methodist Church Awaiting nomination
Union of Welsh Baptists Elizabeth Roberts
Presbyterian Church of Wales Dr. W Gwyn Lewis
Church in Wales Anest Grey Frazer
Union of Welsh Independents Cynrig Hughes
The Catholic Church  Eirian Bradley Roberts

Teachers’ representatives
ASCL
UCAC
NASUWT
NUT
NAHT
ATL

Mrs Alwen Watkin

Mr Noel Dyer
Mrs Miriam Amlyn 
Mr Euron Hughes
awaiting nomination

Alwen Watkin (Ysgol Eifionydd)
Catherine Davey (Ysgol Llanystumdwy)
Miriam Amlyn (Ysgol Eifionydd)
Heledd Owen (Ysgol Friars)
Awaiting nomination
Awaiting nomination

Local Members

Councillor Paul Rowlinson
Councillor Elin Walker 
Councillor Menna Baines
Councillor Judith Humphreys

Plaid Cymru
Plaid Cymru
Plaid Cymru
Plaid Cymru

Councillor Medwyn Hughes
Councillor Dewi Wyn Roberts
Councillor Mike Stevens

Independent
Independent
Independent

Co-opted members (non voting)
Gwyn Rhydderch
Rev Aled Davies

Officers
Garem Jackson Head of Education Department
Mai Bere Assistant education improvement officer and 

SACRE clerk
Bethan James GwE supporting improvement adviser (until 

Spring 2018)

Glynda O’Brien Members’ support officer

Page 159



3.3  SACRE meetings 2017-8

Dates of meetings may be obtained by contacting the SACRE Clerk.  During 2017-18, Gwynedd
SACRE met on three occasions: 

     8 November 2017
     7 February 2018 (cancelled)
     20 June 2018

   
The following matters were discussed and further details are provided in the minutes and the main body of 
the report: 

a) Meeting held on 8 November 2017
 Urgent item:  ESTYN’s questionnaire on Religious Education
 Gwynedd Annual SACRE draft report (2016-17)
 Collective worship
 Self-evaluation reports: Ysgol Abersoch, Ysgol Felinwnda
 Update from the GwE supporting improvement adviser:

 ESTYN’s new inspection framework and the implications for Gwynedd SACREs 
monitoring procedures

 Curriculum for Wales
 Wales Association of SACREs:  draft minutes of the meeting held at Wrexham on 7 July 

2017.
 Correspondence:  from the Humanists

b) Meeting held on 7 February 2018 (cancelled due to lack of a quorum)

c) Meeting held on 20 June 2018
 Correspondence: Minister of Education, the Humanists
 Implications of ESTYN’s new inspection framework on SACRE’s monitoring processes
 Self-evaluation reports: Y Moelwyn, Baladeulyn, Cwm y Glo, Nebo, Sarn Bach, Friars
 Up-date on the new Curriculum for Wales: Humanities’ Area of Learning and Experience
 Collective worship: feedback by members
 Gwynedd SACRE annual report 2016-17 (final copy)
 Wales Association of SACREs: draft minutes of the meetings held in Bridgend on 10 

November 2017.
 Managing the right of withdrawal from religious education – a guidance document 

published by Wales Association of SACREs.

3.3.1 Gwynedd SACRE has affiliated with the Wales Association of SACREs and its members regularly 
attend meetings held by WASACRE. 

The following representative attended WASACRE meeting during the autumn term:  
 Miss Bethan James, GwE supporting improvement officer

3.3.2 The following provide SACRE with professional support:
Arwyn Thomas Head of Education DepartmentPage 160



Mai Bere Assistant education improvement officer and SACRE clerk
Bethan James GwE supporting improvement adviser
Glynda O’Brien Members’ support officer

Enquiries should be sent to the SACRE Clerk at the Education Department, Gwynedd Council, 
Caernarfon, Gwynedd.  LL55 1SH

3.3.3   The SACRE report was sent to the following organisations: 

            Electronic copies of the annual report were distributed to the following: 

 Department for Education and Skills, Welsh Government
 Head of Gwynedd’s Education Department
 Gwynedd Council Leader
 Wales Association of SACREs
 Gwynedd schools

A copy was distributed to: 
 Members of Gwynedd SACRE

Page 161



3.4 Template used by Gwynedd  SACRE for a school’s self-evaluation of standards in religious education 
How can SACRE monitor standards?

Standing Advisory Council for Religious Education (SACRE)

SACRE’s main function is to monitor religious education and collective worship and to advise the local authority on 
matters relating to religious education and collective worship.  The Wales Association of SACREs believes that this 
advice should be based on current information.  Many SACREs monitor standards by inviting schools to share their 
self-evaluation of Religious Education and collective worship with SACRE members.

Further Information:
 Wales Association of SACREs:  www.wasacre.org.uk  
 Religious Education and Collective Worship:  Circular 10/94 (Welsh Office)
 So You’re Joining Your Local SACRE: a handbook for SACRE members in Wales (WASACRE)
 Guidance on Collective Worship (WASACRE, 2012);
 Review of SACRE reports (Welsh Government, 2011 and 2013)

Department for Education and Skills Wales (DfES)

Most SACREs in Wales have adopted or adapted the ‘National Exemplar Framework for Religious Education for 3 to 
19 year olds in Wales’ as their locally agreed syllabus.  The Welsh Government has supported the teaching of 
religious education in schools by providing guidance documents to support teachers, head teachers and SACRE 
members.  These provide useful information about teaching methods, resources and assessment.  The 2010-12 
national external verification process gave RE departments in secondary schools the opportunity to show their 
understanding of RE attainment levels. 

Further information
 http://wales.gov.uk > search for Religious Education
 Locally Agreed Syllabus (or National Exemplar Framework for Religious education in Wales)
 Religious Education: Guidance for KS2 and KS3 (2011)
 Exemplifying Learner Profiles at KS2 and KS3 in Religious Education: Additional Guidance (2011)
 Religious Education: Guidance 14-19 year olds (2009)
 People, Questions and Beliefs in the Foundation Phase (2013)
 Religious Education: Chief Moderator’s Report 2012  (http://wjec.co.uk ) 

ESTYN
The new ESTYN inspection framework identifies five inspection areas or reporting requirements:  

1. Standards
2. Wellbeing and attitudes to learning

3. Teaching and learning experience
4. Care, support and guidance
5. Leadership and management

Few school inspection reports include references to the standard and quality of Religious Education and collective 
worship.  
Further information: 

 www.estyn.org.uk
 Religious Education in Secondary Schools (ESTYN, June 2013)
 Religious and moral education in key stage 2 and key stage 3 (ESTYN, Summer 2018)
 Supplementary guidance : collective worship in non-denominational schools (ESTYN, Autumn 2017)

Page 162

http://www.wasacre.org.uk/
http://wales.gov.uk/
http://wjec.co.uk/
http://www.estyn.org.uk/


What evidence do schools use in order to make judgements?
Book Review Teachers will collect a sample of pupils’ work (e.g. range of abilities, ages, boys and 

girls) and will help the curriculum leader to answer questions such as:
 What progress are pupils making in their RE skills?  Are there groups of 

pupils who are underachieving?
 To what extent does pupils’ work reflect the requirements of the Locally 

Agreed Syllabus?
 To what extent does pupils’ work develop the skills identified by the 

National Literacy, Numeracy and Digital Competence frameworks?
 What improvements do we need to make to our planning, provision and 

assessment of religious education?
Lesson Observation Teachers and school leaders will observe lessons  and will help the curriculum 

leader to answer questions such as:
 What progress are pupils making in their RE skills?  Are there groups of 

pupils who are underachieving?  
 Are the pupils well motivated?  Are they contributing to their own learning?
 Does the work reflect the requirements of the Locally Agreed Syllabus?
 Does the work develop the skills identified by National Literacy, Numeracy 

Digital Competence framework?
 What improvements do we need to make to our planning, provision and 

assessment?
Questionnaires and interviews Schools can analyse the results of questionnaires used with pupils, teachers and 

parents to answer questions such as:
 What do they think about the content of the RE lessons?  Are there 

significant groups who are offering different opinions?
 What progress are they making in their RE skills?
 What are their perceptions/attitudes/opinions?
 What improvements do we need to make to our planning, provision and 

assessment of religious education?
Data Schools can use teacher assessment data or external examination results 

(secondary schools only) in order to identify trends or patterns.
 How well are boys/girls/groups performing over time? (all schools)
 How well are our pupils performing in comparison with other 

departments/other schools?  (secondary schools only)
 Are there any groups of pupils who are underachieving? (all schools)
 What improvements do we need to make to our planning, provision and 

assessment of religious education?
Other

                 

Schools can also base their judgements on other evidence such as,
 Success in local or national RE competitions;
 Participation in local or national RE

events/conferences/projects/publications;
 Monitoring reports by other members of staff, e.g. school literacy, 

numeracy or ICT co-ordinators;
 Minutes of meetings held with teachers, school governors or SACRE visitors.
 Action research undertaken by a member of a Professional Learning 

Community;
 External accreditation, e.g. RE Quality Mark

Page 163



SACRE Guidance 

To what extent does the school’s provision promote pupils’ personal development? (Inspection area 4.2)
Evaluating the standards and provision of religious education will help schools evaluate inspection area 4.2, ‘Personal 
development (including spiritual, moral, social and cultural development).

ESTYN’s inspection guidance (September 2017) for social and moral development notes: 
“Inspectors should consider the extent to which the school provides effective opportunities for pupils to develop secure 
values and to establish their spiritual and ethical beliefs. They should consider how well the school develops pupils’ 
ability to reflect on religious and non-religious responses to fundamental questions and to reflect on their own beliefs or 
values. They should consider how well the school promotes principles that help pupils to distinguish between right and 
wrong. They should consider how far the school fosters shared values, such as honesty, fairness, justice and 
sustainability, and helps pupils to understand the needs and rights of others, both locally and as members of a diverse 
global world.”

Within the school’s self-evaluation cycle or calendar, school leaders will need to consider what evidence is available to them in 
order to make an evaluative judgment on Inspection Areas 4.2.  Religious Education and collective worship can make important 
contributions to pupils’ personal development.

The following exemplar questions are based on ESTYN’s Common Inspection Framework (September 2017) and the questions 
used by ESTYN during the thematic review of religious education during the autumn term of 2017.  Using these prompt 
questions with staff, governors, pupils and their Supporting Improvement Adviser, will enable schools to identify strengths and 
weaknesses to help them to plan improvements. There is no need to answer every question.  

Inspection Area 1: Standards
Remember to use qualitative and evaluative language and include ‘real’ examples of pupils’ work! 
 What is our view on standards of religious education in our school? (FP, KS2, KS3, KS4, KS5 pupils) 
 How well do our pupils engage with fundamental questions, explore religious beliefs, teachings and practice(s) and express 

personal responses to beliefs, teachings, practices and fundamental questions?
 How well do groups of pupils make progress in religious education?  What have we identified in their work that shows their 

progress?
 How well do our pupils use their speaking and listening, reading and writing skills, their numeracy and ICT skills 

appropriately in religious education?
 Give examples of how our pupils have developed their thinking skills, their creativity and physical skill in religious education 

activities in the classroom and outside the classroom.
 What do we need to do differently in order to improve?

Inspection Area 2: Wellbeing and attitudes to learning 
Remember to use qualitative and evaluative language and include ‘real’ examples of pupils’ work! 
 Do our pupils show an interest in religious education?
 What do you think our pupils gain from religious education?
 What do we need to do differently in order to improve?

Inspection Area 3:  Teaching and learning experience
Remember to use qualitative and evaluative language and include ‘real’ examples of the provision.  Time allocated to 
religious education?  % of pupils that choose Religious Studies as an option?  % of pupils who attain an accreditation 
for their statutory religious education. 
 How do we know that our school meets the statutory requirements for religious education? 
 How does our school teach religious education? 
 Does religious education succeed to engage our pupils’ interest? Are they stimulated and challenged in their religious 

education lessons?

Page 164



 How well do the lessons/activities develop pupils’ knowledge and understanding of religious beliefs, teachings and practices 
as well as their subject skills and cross-curricular skills? 

 How good is our planning for religious education? (building on previous knowledge, understanding and skills? clear 
objectives? teaching methods? resources?)

 To what extend does the feedback in religious education help our pupils to know what they have achieved and what they need 
to do to improve? 

 How do we assess and track the progress of pupils in religious education?
 How does our planning for religious education help pupils to become ambitious, confident, aspirational and knowledgeable 

individuals?  How are we responding to the recommendations of ‘Successful Futures’?
 To what extend does our school provide a range of appropriate learning experiences, within the classroom and outside, in 

order to develop pupils’ interest and skills in religious education?
 Have we organised any trips or visits linked to religious education?  Which year groups, how often, and how do these trips 

enhance the curriculum?
 Does the religious education reflect the nature of our school’s context?  Does it reflect the cultural, linguistic and ethnic 

diversity of Wales and the local area?
 To what extend do the religious education activities provide purposeful opportunities for pupils to practise and develop their 

RE skills and their literacy, numeracy and ICT skills?
 What do we need to do differently in order to improve?

Inspection Area 4: Care, support and guidance
Remember to use qualitative and evaluative language and include ‘real’ examples of the provision.  
 To what extent do our religious education lessons/activities help our pupils to be active citizens?
 How do our pupils influence what and how they learn in religious education?
 Do we participate in any community activities or have links with any faith leaders or organisations? 
 How does religious education contribute to our pupils’ understanding of the culture of Wales, the local community and the 

wider world?
 How has religious education helped our pupils to understand equality and diversity? Stereotypes, religious extremism, human 

rights? 
 Which effective opportunities do the school offer pupils to develop certain values and establish their spiritual and ethical 

beliefs? 
 How effective is our school at developing the pupils’ ability to reflect on (extensive) fundamental questions from a religious 

or non-religious perspective? Their own beliefs or values? 
 Does our school meet the statutory requirements regarding collective worship?
 How good is the collective worship?  How well do we plan the collective worship over time?
 How do we keep our pupils safe from the dangers of radicalisation, e.g. extremist material, either through visiting speakers or 

through speakers on site visits?
 How do we respond to any concerns that arise about comments made by pupils during religious education lessons?
 What do we need to do differently in order to improve?

Inspection Area 5: Leadership and management
 Has the RE subject leader the necessary skills and understanding to lead the religious education effectively? 
 Are teachers able to access professional development in religious education?
 How do we allocate resources to support the teaching of religious education?
 How are parents informed of their right to withdraw pupils from RE? How many pupils are withdrawn from RE by their 

parents and does the school have good arrangements for their provision during RE lessons? Has this number 
increased/decreased/remained the same over the last 5 years? From what groups do these pupils come? Do you have a 
conversation with parents around their decision is taken? 

 In what ways does our school’s provision for RE help promote better community cohesion? 
 How often do we monitor religious education?  How do we share this information with staff?
 Do we consider the views of pupils in the self-evaluation report and improvement plans?
 Do we work with RE teachers from other schools?  What has been the impact of this?
 What is the ‘best example of religious education’ that we can share with our local SACRE or with other teachers?
 What do we need to do differently in order to improve?

Page 165



How can SACREs monitor standards?

  

Gather 
information

Analyse

Summarise
Make Judgement

Prepare 
action plan

How can SACRE gather information?
- By asking schools to submit information and self evaluation.
- By commissioning an ‘expert’ to visit a sample of schools 

and provide a termly report;
- By visiting schools themselves;
- By asking pupils, staff, governors in a sample of schools to 

complete an online questionnaire;
- By studying external examination results and KS3 teacher 

assessments, (secondary schools only)

What sources are available in your area?
- An evaluation of schools’ self evaluation reports; 
- An evaluation of schools’ policies, schemes of work, development or improvement plans; 
- Performance data:  KS3 teacher assessments, GCSE, AS and A level results; 
- Reports submitted by SACRE members following school visits; 
- An evaluation of questionnaires submitted by learners, staff, governors, SACRE/WASACRE members or governors;
- Presentations by learners, teachers, co-ordinators, headteachers; 
- Success in competitions or external accreditation schemes.  
-

Who contributes to the monitoring?
- Teachers and members of schools’ SM Teams
- SACRE members 
- Local Authority / Consortia officers
- Teachers identified as lead practitioners
- Pupils
- Governors
- Parents

Numbers  -  quantities and proportions
nearly all = with very few exceptions
most = 90% or more
many = 70% or more
a majority = over 60%
half = 50%
around half = close to 50%
a minority = below 40%
few = below 20%
very few = less than 10%

What should be included?
 The effect of an intervention on 

(standards, welfare, attitudes, 
provision). 

 Trends over time 
 Comparison with other schools (?)
 Judgement  -  using evaluative terms.
 Quantify whenever possible

Useful words and phrases
Xxx has led to...
As a result of  xxx standards of xxx have increased xx% since xxx ....
Following the introduction of xxx, xxx has improved, as shown by...
xxx shows that standards of xxx have ...
The effect of xxx can be seen in xxx which shows that...
An improvement in xxxx can be seen in...
The influence of XXX can be seen in the improvement/progress.....
XXXXX shows that x% of the pupils can/have...
XXX shows that x% of the parents/staff/governors are/have... .

Excellent
Very strong, sustained performance and practice

Good
Strong features, although minor aspects may require improvement

outstanding, very good, very strong, exceptional, superior, 
exemplary, superb, very high standard, very high quality, 
extensive, highly effective, highly creative, well above 
expectations, expertly done,

successful, strong, skilful, worthwhile, beneficial, valuable, 
positive, thorough, useful, powerful, comprehensive, 
purposeful, used well, consistently good, effective

Adequate and needs improvement
Strengths outweigh weaknesses, but important aspects 
require improvement

Unsatisfactory and needs urgent improvement
Important weaknesses outweigh strengths

satisfactory, appropriate, suitable, efficient, competent, 
relevant, sufficient, enough, valid, solid, sound, average 
mediocre, limited, inconsistent

insufficient, inefficient, none, no, inappropriate, ineffective, 
unsuitable, unable, weak, poor, not fit for purpose, restricted

Page 166



Name of the school:                                                         
Religious Education

Improvement area 1: Standards in religious education
How well do our pupils engage with fundamental questions, explore religious beliefs, teachings and practice(s) 
and express personal responses to beliefs, teachings, practices and fundamental questions?  What have we 
identified in their work that shows their progress over time? 
 Use pupils’ work, teacher assessment, learning walks, lesson observations to make a judgement.
 Refer to: groups of pupils
 For further guidance, refer to the Locally Agreed Syllabus (National Exemplar Framework), Welsh Government Guidance: 

People, Questions and Beliefs (2013), Guidance and Exemplar Profiles for KS2 and KS3 (2011), 14-19 (2009), SACRE 
Guidance, Examiners’ reports. 

Notes:

The standard attained by our pupils in religious education is JUDGEMENT

Inspection Area 2: Wellbeing and attitudes towards learning about religious education
 What do you think our pupils gain from religious education?
 Use pupils’ work, an analysis of a RE questionnaire, minutes of meetings held by focus groups/School Council meeting.
 For further guidance, refer to the Supplementary Guidance: listening to learners (ESTYN, September 2017) 
Notes: 

Our pupils have a JUDGEMENT attitude towards religious education in our school.  

Inspection Area 3: Teaching and learning experience in Religious Education
How good is the planning and teaching of religious education in our school?  Give examples of rich learning experiences in 
religious education.  
 Use learning walks, lesson observation, pupils’ work, interviews with pupils.
 For further guidance, refer to the Locally Agreed Syllabus (National Exemplar Framework); Welsh Government 

Guidance: People, Questions and Beliefs (2013), Guidance and Exemplar Profiles for KS2 and KS3 (2011), 14-19 
(2009), SACRE Guidance, Examiners’ reports, Religious Education in secondary schools (ESTYN, Summer 2013), 
Religious and moral education in KS2 and KS3 (ESTYN, Summer 2018).

Notes:

The standard of teaching of religious education in our school is JUDGEMENT

Inspection Area 4: Care, support and guidance in Religious Education
To what extent do religious education lessons and activities help our pupils to become active citizens?
 Use learning walks, interviews with pupils, collective worship programme, school newsletter, records of any hate 

crime/bullying. 
 For further guidance refer to SACRE Guidance, Guidance on collective worship (WASACRE), Supplementary guidance: 

collective worship in non-denominational schools (ESTYN, September 2017), Supplementary guidance: listening to learners 
(ESTYN, September 2017). 

Notes:

Does the school meet the statutory requirements for collective worship? Yes No
The contribution of religious education towards our pupils’ personal development and community cohesion is JUDGEMENT.

Inspection area 5: Leadership and management in religious education 
Does the subject leader for religious education have the necessary skills and understanding to lead the subject 
area effectively? 

Page 167



 Use schemes of work, monitoring and self-evaluation reports, data analysis, interviews with the co-ordinator/link 
governor/SACRE representative, minutes of staff meetings, improvement plans, an evaluation of progress, case study 
following a school-to-school project.

 For further guidance, refer to SACRE guidance
Notes:

Leadership and management of religious education in our school is JUDGEMENT

Improvement matters Actions to be taken Who is 
responsible?

By when?

These details need not be 
shared with SACRE but the 
school needs to ensure that 
accountability is clear to staff 
and governors.

 

Head teacher:
Signature:
Date:

A concise evaluation that will contribute towards the school’s evaluation of Personal Development (4.2)
Concise!  Approximately 50 words.

Page 168



3.5:  A reporting form for Gwynedd SACRE members who attend a school collective worship session

Standing Advisory Council for Religious Education.

A questionnaire for Anglesey SACRE members as they visit a school collective worship session.  

I attended a collective worship session in a : special school 
primary school
secondary school

I observed a collective worship session attended by: the whole school
a class
a key stage/section of the school

Contributing to the collective worship were the :              head teacher
                                                                                                     pupils

teachers
a local religious leader
parents
governors

The collective worship session lasted: less than 5 minutes
between 5-10 minutes
between 10-15 minutes
over 15 minutes.

The theme of the collective worship session was:  ________________________________________

I heard a:
Bible story A presentation by an adult
Story from another religious text/tradition A presentation by a pupil/pupils
Suitable moral/contemporary/historical story Pupils reflecting quietly in response to a stimulus
Pupils praying (individually/together)
Christmas hymn/carol
A suitable song

Underline the three statements that best describe the collective worship session.  
Today, the collective worship session helped to:

 develop learners’ ability to reflect on their own feelings, values and attitudes; 
 develop learners’ awareness of the inner life and the spiritual dimension of each person; 
 explore and encourage responses to fundamental questions about the meaning of life, change and death;
 develop beliefs and values, both personal and communal; 
 encourage an understanding of the beliefs and values of others, either locally or globally; 
 increase self esteem and purpose in life; 
 nurture the human ability to make moral choices for good or evil, 
 encourage shared values, meaning and purpose; 
 contribute to the experience of belonging to a community; 
 provide opportunities to reflect on and to share in the ‘happy’ and ‘sad’ events and experiences which effect 

the school community and the local community; 
 support shared understanding of how individual learners and a school may contribute positively to the wider 

community; 
 develop an understanding of global diversity and inequality; 

Any other comment :

Page 169



3.6:  Gwynedd SACRE Action Plan 2017-20

Gwynedd SACRE 
Annual Report 2017-
18 and the discussions 
held during 2018-19 

Action points 2017-18
LA (Local authority)
PS (Professional support – 
Subject Advisor)
SM (SACRE members)

Evidence Outcomes




Curriculum for Wales
Humanities Area of 
Learning and 
Experience
“What Matters’ 
statements

 Ensure that head 
teachers, teachers, 
governors and SACRE 
meetings are aware of 
the requirements of the 
Curriculum for Wales (PS 
– Subject Advisor)

 Contribute to local 
discussions to plan 
learning experiences that 
reflect the ‘what matters’ 
statements of the 
Humanities Area of 
Learning and Experience 
(LA+PS+SM)

 Represent Gwynedd in 
and National discussions 
relevant to developing 
the new curriculum and 
assessment 
arrangements) 
(LA+PS+SM)

 Develop a locally Agreed 
Syllabus for Gwynedd 
schools that reflects the 
principles of the 
Curriculum for Wales

 Minutes of SACRE 
meetings

 Minutes of WASACRE 
meetings

 Gwynedd SACRE 
correspondence and 
guidance to schools

 Gwynedd Locally 
Agreed Syllabus

 Examples of good 
practice

 A locally Agreed Syllabus 
which reflects the principles 
of the Curriculum for Wales

 Religious Education given 
due consideration as 
schools revise the 
curriculum and assessment 
arrangements.

 The provision of religious 
education in all schools is 
good or very good.

 Standard of religious 
education in all schools is 
good or very good.  






Promote good quality 
collective worship

 Ensure that schools 
conform to the statutory 
requirements and provide 
good quality collective 
worship. (LA+SM)

 Encourage schools to 
invite Gwynedd SACRE to 
attend collective worship 
sessions.  (SM)

 Correspondence to 
schools

 Oral reports of SACRE 
members
References to collective 
worship in ESTYN 
reports.

 ESTYN reports note that 
collective worship is good.

 All schools conform to the 
statutory requirements

 Improved understanding to 
collective worship in 
schools.



Professional support 
for Gwynedd SACRE?

  

Rich learning 
experiences – 
contribution that local 
partners can make in 
order to develop an 
understanding of 
religious education in 
the new curriculum.

  

Page 170



Page 171



Name of the school:   LLANLLECHID

Standing Advisory Council for Religious Education

A questionnaire for Gwynedd SACRE members as they visit a school collective worship session

I attended a collective worship session in a : special school 
primary school
secondary school

I observed a collective worship session attended by: the whole school
a class
a key stage/section of the school

Contributing to the collective worship were the :              headteacher
                                                                                                     pupils

teachers
a local religious leader
parents
governors

The theme of the collective worship ssession was:  Being friends with each other and the importance of being good 
friends.

I heard a:
Bible story
story from another relgious text/tradition
suitable moral/contemporary/historical story
pupils praying (individually/together)
Christian hymn/carol 

song
adult’s presentation
pupils’ presentation
pupils reflecting quietly in response to a 
stimulus.

Underline the three statements that best describe the collective worship session.  
Today, the collective worship session helped to:

 develop learners’ ability to reflect on their own feelings, values and attitudes; 
 develop learners’ awareness of the inner life and the spiritual dimension of each person; 
 explore and encourage responses to fundamental questions about the meaning of life, change and death;
 develop beliefs and values, both personal and communal; 
 encourage an understanding of the beliefs and values of others, either locally or globally; 
 increase self esteem and purpose in life; 
 nurture the human ability to make moral choices for good or evil, 
 encourage shared values, meaning and purpose; 
 contribute to the experience of belonging to a community; 
 provide opportunities to reflect on and to share in the ‘happy’ and ‘sad’ events and experiences which effect 

the school community and the local community; 
 support shared understanding of how individual learners and a school may contribute positively to the wider 

community; 
 develop an understanding of global diversity and inequality; 

Any other comment -

Page 171

Agenda Item 15



Page 172



Page 173



Page 174



Page 175



Page 176



Page 177



Page 178



Page 179



Page 180



Page 181



 
Panel Ymgynghorol Cenedlaethol ar Addysg Grefyddol 

National Advisory Panel for Religious Education (NAPfRE) 
JAN 2019 

 
 Response to the Estyn Thematic Review of Religious Education at KS2 and KS3 
 
Libby Jones, Chair of NAPfRE  
 
On behalf of NAPfRE I would like to thank Estyn for this report, for responding to the 
request for advice from the Welsh Government in the Minister’s annual remit letter to 
Estyn for 2017-2018, and for the recommendations it offers to schools, SACREs and 
Welsh government, within the report.  
 
Members agreed that there are few surprises with regard to the recommendations 
within the report. Members consider them to be fair and that they support the case 
for improved professional learning opportunities for RE, increased support for RE in 
schools from SACREs, and a strengthened position for RE in the new curriculum. 
 
Members feel that the report shows a fairly positive image of RE in the 47 schools 
from which direct evidence was gathered. However, some members question 
whether this ‘positive’ image reflects a true picture across all schools in Wales. 
Anecdotal evidence shared by SACREs and RE professionals at NAPfRE meetings 
would suggest otherwise.  
 
Members were encouraged to note that full requirements of the locally agreed 

syllabus are covered in schools where curriculum planning is good, and that this was 

the case in many schools at KS2 and in the majority of schools at KS3. However, 

this does suggest a short fall in schools that do not plan well for RE out of the 47 

schools from which the evidence was gathered. Members question what implications 

this has for RE on a wider scale across Wales.  

Members were pleased to note that in the 47 schools, standards in RE were 

generally good and that most pupils engage well with a wide range of fundamental 

human and religious questions. It was felt that lack of challenge for more able 

learners in KS2 and planning for KS2-3 progression in RE are common issues for 

subjects across the curriculum. 

Members were interested to learn that leadership of religious education is good 

overall and that in most of the 47 schools, leaders have considered changes to the 

teaching of religious education in light of the new curriculum proposals. However, 

members are very concerned that in some schools across Wales changes are 

already being made to the teaching of RE, driven by Head teachers and/or 

Humanities leaders who have no specialism in RE, and whom have clearly 

misinterpreted the proposals. Many teachers have shared their fears with members 

of NAPfRE about the future of RE within the new curriculum at their school, as a 

result of these premature and misjudged changes.   

With regard to the recommendations offered in the report, members feel that some of 

these present funding implications for schools and LA’s. For example, for 

professional learning in RE and PREVENT initiatives etc. The recommendation 

regarding 'approved places of worship' also raised concern for members. Most 

SACREs have a list of local places of worship, but to ‘approve’ them would be 

Page 182



 
Panel Ymgynghorol Cenedlaethol ar Addysg Grefyddol 

National Advisory Panel for Religious Education (NAPfRE) 
JAN 2019 

impossible. Approved by whom? Based on what criteria? How regularly? It is surely 

the role of the individual school so seek out risk assessment etc. Members feel that 

this phrase needs clarifying.  

Members are pleased that the report offered examples of good practice, but some 

members question the quality of good practice shared, and members guarded 

against including more citizenship based examples. Members agreed that this report 

was provided with the new curriculum in mind and perhaps wasn't hugely reflective 

of the great practice that is happening in RE specifically across Wales.  

Members noticed that numerous references were made in the report to collective 

worship and question why these were included. Religious education is separate and 

different to collective worship and members would guard against the two aspects of 

education being referred to together in order to avoid confusion. 

Finally members noted that at least one school involved in this process, had not 

been recognised in the final report, which raised the issue that there may be others. 

Members feel that all schools involved in whatever capacity or at whatever stage of 

the process should be given full recognition in retrospect.  

Libby Jones 

Chair of NAPfRE 

RE Advisor for Wrexham County Borough Council 

 

January  2019 

 

 

Page 183



Dear SACRE Members

Following our September Work Shops, thank you for all the very useful feedback on the 
proposals for Religious Education contained within the Humanities Area of Learning and 
Experience (AoLE). 

Work is now progressing on drafting the new Supporting Framework for Religious Education 
with the aim that this will be published in January 2020. 

Building upon the success of the current National Exemplar Framework for Religious 
Education the new framework will provide further detail about how the What Matters 
statements included in the Humanities AoLE could be achieved in relation to Religious 
Education. This new guidance will be developed nationally with the aim that it will be 
adopted or further developed to form a locally agreed syllabus for Religious Education. 

The purpose of this new framework guidance (like the current National Exemplar 
Framework) will be to support local authorities and ASC’s when they are reviewing their 
locally agreed syllabi.  It will be this new framework that will then be put forward for 
consideration by the ASC’s for them to make their recommendations to their local authority.  

Welsh Government have secured the services of Libby Jones and Paula Webber to assist 
with the development of this new supporting framework.  The working  group of 
participants to support this work has been drawn up from:

 Practising teachers of Religious Education
 Pioneer Schools
 Religious Education bodies in Wales, other relevant bodies (from England and Wales)
 Religious Education experts, academics and professional associated all of whom 

bring a wide range of expertise to the commission of this new supporting 
framework.  This also includes practitioners from Welsh and English medium schools, 
and from across the four Consortia regions. 

The draft work of the Humanities  group will be published on the 30th of April for ongoing 
co-construction and comments which will be shared with the group before the final version 
is published in January 2020. 

The Curriculum for Wales 2022 has been designed by teachers for teachers and shaped by 
experts from Wales and across the world. The period from 30th April is the opportunity for 
all schools and every teacher to test, refine and contribute to the next stage of curriculum 
development.

There will be an extensive period of engagement with the profession and wider civic society 
between 30 April and 19 July in order to refine the draft to get it ready for national roll out 
from September 2022. 

Page 184



For further information visit: 

Welsh Government Education & Skills 

Curriculum for Wales blog

and/or follow

Wgmin_Education

WG_Education

Education Wales Facebook

Education Wales YouTube channel

Kind regards  

Pauline 

Pauline Smith 
Cangen y Celfyddydau, y Dyniaethau a Llesiant / Arts, Humanities and Well-being Branch
Y Gyfarwyddiaeth Addysg / The Education Directorate
Llywodraeth Cymru  / Welsh Government

Page 185

https://gov.wales/new-curriculum
https://curriculumforwales.gov.wales/
https://twitter.com/wgmin_education
https://twitter.com/WG_Education
https://www.facebook.com/educationwales/
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UChE7WUE5FCk0ozxl3JkjHHw/featured

	Agenda
	7 MINUTES
	8 MATTERS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES
	9 CABINET REPORT ON CHANGES TO THE SACRE MEMBERSHIP  02/04/19
	10 PRESENTATION ON THE NEW CURRICULUM FOR WALES 2022
	Structure Bookmarks
	Document
	Article
	Figure
	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: April 2019
	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: April 2019
	DRAFT STATUTORY GUIDANCE
	AREA OF LEARNING AND EXPERIENCE
	Humanities
	CONTENTS
	    03
	Introduction to the Humanities Area of Learning and Experience

	What Matters in Humanities
	         20
	Developing an enquiring mind enables learners to explore and investigatethe world, past, present and future, for themselves. 
	 


	           32
	Events and human experiences are complex, and are perceived, interpretedand represented in different ways.
	 


	             46 
	Our natural world is diverse and dynamic, influenced by physical processesand human actions.
	 


	            58
	Human societies are complex and diverse, and are shaped by humanactions and beliefs.
	 


	   70
	Informed, self-aware citizens engage with the challenges and opportunities thatface humanity, and are able to take considered, ethical and sustainable action.
	 


	              82
	Glossary

	INTRODUCTION TO THE HUMANITIESAREA OF LEARNING AND EXPERIENCE
	 

	The Humanities Area of Learning andExperience is all about asking questionsabout the human condition. 
	 
	 

	As such, studying human experiences in the past and present, at local, national and global levels, will help learners answer those questions, encouraging them to contribute to their communities, imagine possible futures and benefit from a sense of belonging.
	Humanities encompasses geography, history, religious education, business studies and social studies. These disciplines share many common themes, concepts and transferable skills, while also having their own body of knowledge and skills. Likewise, learners and teachers may reference other complementary disciplines, such as classics, economics, law, philosophy, politics, psychology and sociology, if and where appropriate.
	Humanities will provide opportunities for all learners to learn about their heritage and sense of place through a study of their cynefin and of Wales. It will promote an understanding of how the people of Wales, its communities, culture, landscape, resources and industries interrelate with the rest of the world. Promoting an understanding of the ethnic and cultural diversity within Wales will also help learners appreciate the extent to which it is part of a wider international community. Consequently, Human
	In the Humanities Area of Learning and Experience, learners will enquire and investigate; evaluate diverse views of the world and form their own interpretations; engage with issues including sustainability and social change; and be invited to take social action in response to their learning. This will help develop learners’ resilience, build independence, and raise levels of self-confidence and self-esteem. Experiences in Humanities, both in and out of the classroom, will encourage learners to be ambitious 
	A transformational curriculum
	The White Paper Our National Mission: A Transformational Curriculum set out the detailed legislative proposals for Curriculum for Wales 2022. 
	1
	1


	The proposal is that funded non-maintained settings and schools will be required to provide a broad and balanced curriculum that meets the four purposes of the curriculum, and comprises the six areas of learning and experience. There will be statutory duties to teach Welsh, English, religious education, relationships and sexuality education, and the three cross-curricular responsibilities of literacy, numeracy and digital competence. Further information on how the Humanities Area of Learning and Experience 
	Funded non-maintained settings and schools will have discretion as to how they design their school-level curriculum to meet their curriculum duties. However, in considering the exercise of that discretion, they must have regard to statutory guidance issued by Welsh Ministers. In practice, that means they should follow the statutory guidance unless they have good reason not to.
	This statutory guidance for the  Area of Learning and Experience, which forms part of the wider Curriculum for Wales 2022 statutory guidance, is intended to provide a national framework that funded non-maintained settings and schools can build on to develop their own curriculum. It is not intended to be a comprehensive or exhaustive syllabus, nor a guide for organising timetables. It sets out:
	Humanities

	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	what funded non-maintained settings and schools should take into account in designing their curriculum and how it could be structured

	• 
	• 
	• 

	the broad expectations for learners for the Humanities Area of Learning and Experience at each progression step.


	How the area of learning and experiencesupports the four purposes of the curriculum
	 

	The Humanities Area of Learning and Experience is central to learners becoming ethical, informed citizens of Wales and the world through engaging with contemporary and historical issues, exploring human experiences on their own doorstep and across the globe, and contemplating different perspectives. They will be asked to consider the impact of their actions and the actions of others, and how these are shaped by interpretations of human rights, values, ethics, religious and non-religious views, and philosoph
	As they explore their locality, Wales and the wider world, past and present, learners will establish a solid base of knowledge and understanding of geographical, historical, religious, non-religious, business, and social studies concepts. During this process, they will learn different methods of enquiry, evaluate the evidence that they find, and apply and communicate their findings effectively, all of which will help them become ambitious, capable learners, ready to learn throughout their lives. 
	Learners will have the opportunities to become enterprising, creative contributors, ready to play a full part in life and work, as well as opportunities to become responsible citizens, as they engage critically with local, national and global challenges and opportunities past and present, and seek to imagine possible futures. All the while, they will be encouraged to think about how they themselves can take positive action to improve the lives of people in their cynefin, in Wales and in the wider world. 
	Learners will have the safe space for discussion and reflection which allows time to explore their personal perspectives on religious and non-religious world views, ethical challenges and social inclusion issues. They will also be asked to explore the natural world, locally, across Wales and beyond, which will nurture a sense of place and well-being. These experiences will help support the development of healthy, confident individuals, ready to lead fulfilling lives as valued members of society in Wales and
	WHAT MATTERS STATEMENTSFOR HUMANITIES
	 

	Developing an enquiring mind enables learnersto explore and investigate the world, past,present and future, for themselves. 
	 
	 

	Learners’ journey through Humanities will be characterised by enquiry and discovery, as they are encouraged to be curious and to question, to think critically and to reflect upon evidence. Through such enquiry, learners gain a deeper understanding of the concepts underpinning Humanities, and their application in local, national and global contexts. An enquiring mind stimulates new and creative thinking. Engaging with questions empowers learners to understand human experiences and the natural world. 
	Learners use appropriate disciplinary approaches, including digital humanities, to gather, analyse, and evaluate a range of evidence and to communicate and present their findings. Learners interpret and synthesise information to build upon what they have already learned and further inform their understanding of the world. By thinking critically about their discoveries, learners draw informed conclusions, but also understand that some conclusions can only be partial or inconclusive and open to different inte
	Events and human experiences are complex,and are perceived, interpreted and representedin different ways.  
	 
	 

	Learners in Wales are forever trying to make sense of the world around them, a world they encounter though a variety of perspectives. Humanities encourages them to critically review the ways the events and experiences of that world are represented and interpreted, using this information to construct their own informed perspectives.  
	Learners understand how various factors can influence their own and others’ perceptions and interpretations, while also developing an appreciation of how narratives and representations are constructed, and exploring how and why interpretations may differ. As they develop a critical understanding of a range of interpretations and representations, they will be better placed to evaluate their validity, and to foster a more holistic understanding of events, experiences and the natural world. This will enable le
	Our natural world is diverse and dynamic,influenced by physical processes and human actions. 
	 

	Learners will have opportunities to nurture curiosity about the natural world and understand how and why it changes. This in turn helps learners to identify what makes a place distinct and develop an awareness of the interconnections between humans and their environment. Consequently, learners are in a better position to make connections between the past and present, and to imagine possible futures. 
	Through understanding a variety of physical processes, and their causes and effects, learners will appreciate how places, environments and landscapes change within Wales and the wider world. They will also develop their understanding of how human actions in the past and today affect the natural world and how the natural world impacts on humans. This will heighten learners’ awareness of how the future sustainability of our world is influenced by the impact of human actions. It will also encourage learners in
	Learners will explore a range of beliefs and philosophies about the natural world, and how they influence people’s interactions with the world. They will learn also how experiencing the wonder of the natural world can contribute to their spiritual development and well-being, and cultivate a sense of place and sense of belonging, as embodied in the Welsh word cynefin.
	Human societies are complex and diverse,and shaped by human actions and beliefs.
	 

	An appreciation of identity, heritage and cynefin can influence learners emotionally and spiritually, and help build a sense of self and of belonging. Through an understanding of themselves, learners develop their own identity and an awareness of how they, as individuals, can shape the communities in which they live. Consequently, learners will come to realise that the choices we all make, individually and collectively, can have major impacts.
	Learners will develop an understanding of the complex, pluralistic and diverse nature of societies in Wales and the wider world. Over time, these societies have evolved, experiencing continuity and change that has affected, and continues to affect, their own and other people’s lives. This evolution is driven by the interplay between a range of factors, including human actions and beliefs, and physical forces. Humanities builds an understanding of the causes, consequences and significance of the changes and 
	Humanities encourages a critical understanding of how societies in Wales and the wider world are organised, structured and led. Societies are characterised by a range of cultural, economic, legal and political norms and values. They are also dynamic, both driving and reacting to changes on a local, national and global scale. Learners will explore the connections between such societies in the past and present. They will also be encouraged to explore – and develop a tolerant and empathetic understanding of – 
	Informed, self-aware citizens engage with the challenges and opportunities that face humanity, and are able to take considered, ethical and sustainable action. 
	Learners will develop an understanding of their roles as citizens and the importance of creating a just and sustainable future for themselves and their communities in an interconnected world. It encourages learners to be active, informed, and responsible citizens, who are able to identify with and contribute to their local, national and global communities, now and in their future lives.  
	Humanities will invite learners to identify and engage with past, contemporary and anticipated challenges and opportunities facing themselves, their local community, Wales and the wider world. They will also come to understand the nature of economic, environmental and social sustainability, justice, interconnectedness and authority, and realise the significance of living in and contributing to a fairer and more inclusive society. Learners will develop not only an awareness of their own rights, but also of t
	Questioning and evaluating existing responses to challenges and opportunities will help learners develop as self-aware, informed, ethical global citizens who critically reflect on their own beliefs and values. They will be able to consider the impact of their actions when making choices and exercising their democratic rights and responsibilities. Learners will also be able to justify their decisions when acting socially, politically, economically and entrepreneurially. This will enable learners to take comm
	Relationships between what matters statementsin Humanities
	 

	School curricula should promote a thorough understanding of what matters statements in Humanities. These should not be seen or taught in isolation: the content, concepts and skills outlined in them are interconnected, placing emphasis on an interdisciplinary approach and a holistic view of the humanities.  
	The first what matters statement champions enquiry and discovery within Humanities, while the second encourages learners to explore and consider how they and others view, interpret and represent human experiences. What matters statements three and four focus on the key aspects of understanding in Humanities, namely of people’s relationship with the natural world and with each other. The final what matters statement places a new emphasis on the individual’s role and action in response to the challenges and o
	Progression within this area of learning and experience
	The what matters statements for the Humanities Area of Learning and Experience offer a holistic and integrated approach. Each what matters statement draws on essential material and concepts from several or all the Humanities disciplines. Progression in Humanities is underpinned by the idea that subject content does not get intrinsically more complex. However, it is possible to study the same topic or content area at different ages and expect different levels of depth and complexity in learners’ understandin
	Achievement outcomes identify the specific disciplinary and interdisciplinary concepts in which learners can show progression. These are areas of procedural knowledge in which learners could be expected to develop their thinking and understanding, and thus show progression.
	Progression in understanding in Humanities is made through a combination of: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	increased depth of knowledge, by linking new learning to existing knowledge and developing a more sophisticated understanding and resolving the conflicts that can emerge from different points of view

	• 
	• 
	• 

	increased sophistication of conceptual understanding, which helps learners see beyond a list of facts, to the conceptual ideas that underpin the disciplines that make up the Humanities Area of Learning and Experience, and how these interrelate to each other in different contexts.


	In addition, progression in Humanities is demonstrated through: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	an ability to work with an increasing number and sophistication of sources of information

	• 
	• 
	• 

	more sophisticated use of relevant skills 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	increasing independence and self-regulation.


	Developing a broad and balanced curriculum
	Literacy, numeracy and digital competence
	The cross-curricular responsibilities of literacy, numeracy and digital competence support almostall learning and are essential for learners to be able to participate successfully and confidently in the modern world.
	 

	Literacy
	Humanities provides a range of rich contexts where learners’ literacy skills can be reinforced, extended and applied. As a vital building block for developing life skills and accessing the curriculum, learners should be provided with opportunities to communicate their ideas and viewpoints orally. For example, learners can develop their oracy through discussion, role play, questioning and presentations, and, in discussing Ultimate questions, they can adapt these skills for audience and purpose as they listen
	Learners’ reading skills should be developed by accessing a range of materials from a variety of places and times to analyse evidence, to think critically, to infer meaning, and to evaluate interpretations and viewpoints.
	Humanities provides rich contexts for developing all styles of writing. For example, describing, explaining, discussing, evaluating and creative writing combined with the use of subject-specific terminology will see learners develop their writing. 
	Numeracy 
	Humanities provides learners with a wide range of opportunities to develop their numeracy skills in real-world contexts. For example, learners can collect numerical data, through primary and secondary research methods, and represent data in a variety of ways. 
	Learners can give accurate directional instructions when map reading, and, after going on a walk, learners can write up the route, including paragraphs, photos, diagrams, etc.
	Learners can develop their data-handling, analysis and evaluation skills. Concepts such as chronological awareness and scale can be developed and discussed, as you look at how human relationships have impacted upon the natural world. Developing simple questionnaires to analyse large data sets can all be supported and developed across Humanities as learners collect and record data.
	Digital competence
	Humanities give learners the context to plan and create using a range of digital skills as learners work independently or collaborate on the development materials. 
	Many digital sources of information could be used to examine various themes within Humanities.  Learners should show an understanding of purpose and audience as they use a range of software and media to communicate their own knowledge, understanding and personal responses. 
	Learners should also make use of digital sources of information as a way of enabling them to think about the kinds of future that they would like to see for their locality, Wales and the wider world.For example, the use of digital information systems as a way of illustrating human–environment relations, or the digital sources that illustrate business commitment to ideas of corporate social responsibility.
	 

	As learners increasingly use digital technology to enquire and investigate, ensuring the reliability of these sources is critical as they look to support conclusions.
	Welsh dimension and international perspective
	The Welsh dimension and international perspective are integral to all disciplines within the Humanities Area of Learning and Experience. An exploration of Welsh businesses, cultures, history, geography, politics, religions, societies, and world views should form a central part of a learners’ entitlement and include an understanding of the links between these and wider national, European and international contexts. Through Humanities, learners develop a sense of identity and of their own cynefin, as well as 
	The Humanities Area of Learning and Experience plays an important role in allowing learners to engage in rich learning experiences in the Welsh context. School curriculum design should provide detailed and regular coverage of examples, relevant topic areas and case studies to allow learners to explore the Welsh dimension and international perspective. 
	Humanities supports learners to:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	develop an understanding of Wales and their own understanding of what it means to be Welsh

	• 
	• 
	• 

	study the history, geography, cultures, values, languages and beliefs of Wales, which helps them to make sense of their identity

	• 
	• 
	• 

	examine the connections between different places, humans and the environment 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	understand their own place and role as an ethical, informed citizen within Wales and thewider world 
	 


	• 
	• 
	• 

	understand what is meant by global citizenship, including their roles and responsibilities as global citizens planning for a sustainable future

	• 
	• 
	• 

	build an understanding of world events and how they have influenced human lives and societies

	• 
	• 
	• 

	understand that, in a diverse, dynamic and changing world, they can make a positive difference helping to build a fairer, safer and more secure world for everyone 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	develop a commitment to social justice and social action, within Wales and the wider world. 


	In Humanities, learners of all ages should be able to engage in learning related to local, national and international dimensions. It should not be the case that the youngest learners should focus exclusively on local studies and only the oldest learners focus on the international perspective. All learners should have opportunities to ground their understanding of an issue in their locality and then relate it to the international context. 
	Wider skills
	Wider skills

	The Humanities Area of Learning and Experience will aim to encourage learners to:  
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	think about themselves, and their own process of learning, in reflective and critical ways 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	appreciate that an understanding of others coupled with an understanding of oneself is centralto what matters statements in Humanities
	 


	• 
	• 
	• 

	develop personal effectiveness which includes reflecting on and understanding oneselfand others.
	 



	Critical thinking and problem-solving
	Critical thinking is central to Humanities. Humanities develops learners’ abilities to think analytically and understand the past and present as well as to imagine possible futures. Problem-solving could be developed by encouraging learners to collect, and reflect upon, sources of evidence in order to explain the characteristics of a society during a particular time period, or to examine possible solutions to inequalities among social groups.  
	Creativity and innovation
	In Humanities, learners convey information and findings in creative and innovative ways. Learners are encouraged to be open to different ideas and ways of thinking, enabling them to express reasoned opinions about these differences. 
	Planning and organising, and Personal effectiveness
	In Humanities, learners will work with others as they plan investigations involving gathering and utilising a range of evidence. They will develop their own personal effectiveness as important members of a team who are relied upon to contribute by organising and carrying out enquiries.They will also develop this skill as independent learners who are required to evaluate, justify and express their own considered responses in a variety of ways.
	 

	Careers and work-related experiences
	Learning from careers and labour market information
	It is vital for learners to access high-quality careers and labour market information and have an understanding of what this means to them, in order to make well-informed, sustainable career decisions. 
	The Humanities Area of Learning and Experience comprises the areas of history, geography, religious education, business studies and social studies. While there are many careers that link directly to these areas, the skills developed within Humanities, such as problem-solving, communication, critical thinking, and the ability to evaluate differing perspectives and weigh up consequences, are valued by a wide range of employers and therefore provide a wide range of opportunities for learners.
	Linking the area of learning and experience to careers and work-related experiences 
	Learners should be encouraged to undertake research and to explore the links between Humanities and the career paths these would open to them. Humanities equips learners with the skills and knowledge necessary to pursue careers related to these disciplines. There are many careers that directly relate to Humanities, such as museum curator, archaeologist, religious leader, diplomat,teacher, meteorologist, geologist, manager, financial adviser and business analyst. More importantly, the transferable skills whi
	 

	The skills developed within the Humanities Area of Learning and Experience are transferable, highly valued and sought after in the wider employment market. Humanities enables learners to become ethically informed citizens who are ready for life and work, contributes to learners’ readiness for working life by developing skills and techniques, including the use of geographical information systems, using and creating maps, conducting surveys, analysing data, carrying out investigations, analysis of evidence an
	Humanities help learners to understand diversity and to challenge stereotypes in order to raise learners’ aspirations and belief in their potential future. 
	Learner progression relating to careers and work-related experiences is part of a continuum of learning for learners aged 3 to 16. Success for a young primary school learner could include:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	acting a variety of different jobs through role play

	• 
	• 
	• 

	belief that they can do any job – tackling gender stereotyping

	• 
	• 
	• 

	communicating with people in their community about the different jobs they do and the rewards that a job can bring.


	By progressing learning, success for 16-year-old learners could include: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	demonstrating and applying the skills learned in relation to the world of work

	• 
	• 
	• 

	identifying interests, strengths and skills to make informed post-16 choices

	• 
	• 
	• 

	understanding and demonstrating the behaviours an employer looks for in a good employee

	• 
	• 
	• 

	evaluating risks when developing a business idea and exploring different methods of setting up and sustaining an enterprise.


	Work-related experiences
	Learners develop interests, strengths, skills and aspirations through experiences as part of the curriculum and life beyond school. A range of partners support these exciting journeys through co-design and co-delivery and together shape children and young people’s decisions about their future and the pathways they follow. Opportunities, such as visits, guest speakers and practical activities, can help enhance and contextualise learning.
	Humanities helps learners foster an understanding of employment rights, ethical entrepreneurship, business ethics, money lending/borrowing, and promoting sustainable green industrial processes and practices.
	Collaboration and access to individuals and employers, for example in local government, hospitality, law practitioners, banks and building societies, teaching, health and safety, can provide learners with opportunities to learn about work, employment and the skills valued in the workplace. 
	Learners can use the knowledge and skills gained in taking part in work-related experiences to develop successful enterprise activities. In Humanities these can provide authentic learning experiences that develop learners as creative, enterprising contributors, and enable them to form links to the world of work.  
	Understanding post-16 and higher education opportunities
	It is essential for learners to be aware of all opportunities available to them post-16. Therefore, as well as understanding about employment, training and apprenticeships, learners should be provided with information and the opportunity to engage with a range of learning providers. Opportunities for engagement should include attending careers and skills fairs, talks from and visits to further and higher education providers, as well as presentations from students in further or higher education. Learners sho
	Relationships and sexuality education
	The Humanities Area of Learning and Experience will be a natural place to embed content relating to relationships and sexuality education. Enquiry within Humanities enables critical questioning and provides opportunities to seek and find meaning about human experiences and the world. This includes exploring personal relationships, rights, shared values, gender and sexuality. Humanities enables learners to consider issues from a variety of perspectives. It also provides a safe environment to explore equality
	Relationships
	Humanities encourages positive attitudes toward other people whereby others are treated respectfully regardless of their ethnicity; race; social, economic or immigration status; religion; disability; sexual orientation; gender identity or expression; or sex characteristics. 
	Values, rights, culture and sexuality
	The Humanities Area of Learning and Experience explores attitudes, values and laws within societies including discussion of sexuality and sexual behaviour, gender equality, diversity and human rights. There will be opportunities to explore rights and their history and the social, psychological, spiritual, religious, political, legal, historic, ethical and cultural dimensions that influence sexuality over a lifespan. Humanities addresses discrimination based on sexual orientation or gender identity and offer
	Understanding gender
	Humanities enables learners to build awareness of the centrality and diversity of gender and to understand how gender norms have been shaped by society, culture and beliefs. 
	Violence and staying safe
	Humanities provides learners with the opportunity to understand the challenges facing people in Wales and the wider world. In Humanities there is a focus upon commitment toward social action as caring, participative citizens of local, national and global communities. Learning within Humanities will examine commitment to justice and diversity, the importance of responding appropriately to violence, staying safe, and promoting peace and security for others within communities and societies. Digital humanities 
	Skills for health and well-being
	Humanities includes discussions about individuals, societies and the world which includes the need to become empathetic, ethical, informed citizens who contribute to safe, healthy, positive relationships. Humanities experiences, knowledge and skills promote good health and well-being. Humanities explores social and gender norms and how peer influence can affect sexual decision-making and behaviour. Enquiry in Humanities gives opportunities for understanding that there are different forms of media, which pre
	The human body and development 
	In Humanities there is an opportunity to explore how all cultures have different ways of understanding sex, gender, well-being, including body image, reproduction, and when it is appropriate to become sexually active.
	Sexuality and sexual behaviour
	Humanities could consider how sexuality is complex and includes biological, social, psychological, spiritual, ethical and cultural dimensions that evolve over the lifespan.
	Sexual and reproductive health
	Every society, culture and generation has its own beliefs about sexual behaviours and it is important to know the facts. 
	Religious education
	Religious education is a mandatory part of the current basic curriculum for 5 to 16-year-olds.Community schools, foundation schools and voluntary schools without a religious character must follow the agreed syllabus. An agreed syllabus conference develops the curriculum content for religious education in each local authority area.
	Foundation schools and voluntary controlled schools with a religious character must also provide religious education in accordance with the agreed syllabus unless parents/carers request that their child be provided with religious education in accordance with the trust deed for the school or, if there is no trust deed, in accordance with the tenets of the religion.
	Foundation schools and voluntary aided schools with a religious character must provide religious education in accordance with the trust deed for the school or, if there is no trust deed, in accordance with the tenets of the religion. However, if the parents/carers request it, and if no other local school is able to provide it, the governing body of the school shall, as far as reasonably possible, provide religious education in accordance with the agreed syllabus.
	In proposals for Curriculum for Wales 2022, religious education will continue to be compulsory. There is currently an exemption from religious education for registered learners in Nursery classes. It is proposed that the exemption be repealed. We do not propose that funded non-maintained settings will be required to teach the agreed syllabus but they will have to have regard to guidance as to how best this could be taught.
	We do not intend to make any change to the requirement for schools to deliver the agreed syllabus. Voluntary aided schools with a religious character will continue to be able to deliver their denomination syllabi and parents/carers of learners attending voluntary controlled schools can continue to request that their child studies the denominational syllabus rather than the locally agreed syllabus if they wish.
	A new supporting framework is being developed to provide further detail about the relationship between religious education, the agreed syllabus, and the areas of learning and experience. This is being taken forward by a group of religious education practitioners, curriculum pioneers, academics, and representatives from Standing Advisory Councils on Religious Education (SACREs) and the National Advisory Panel for Religious Education (NAPFRE).
	It is our intention also that religious education reflects our historical and contemporary relationship in Wales to philosophy and religious views, including non-religious beliefs. Therefore the current legislation will be amended to ensure the agreed syllabus for religious education takes account of non-religious world views which are analogous to religions (e.g. humanism).
	Enrichment and experiences
	Learners should have access to a broad range of experiences and enrichment opportunities. The Humanities Area of Learning and Experience should encourage all learners to feel engaged in and have ownership of their learning. 
	Meaningful engagement with communities can be enjoyable and memorable. For example, experiential learning gives learners opportunities to engage in role play or to participate in activities such as celebrations or re-enactments. Learners should have opportunities to consider what influences people as they respond to ethical dilemmas, solve real and present problems or explore past events.
	Learners should experience the wonder and mystery of the natural world, historical locations, and religious and cultural sites. They should experience playing and learning in and exploring rich indoor and outdoor environments. Humanities uses field trips and visits within the local community and further afield as a starting point to teach key concepts or to enhance learning through first-hand experience. Speaking to visitors and experts, using observation and participation in experiential learning, such as 
	Putting the area of learning and experience into practice
	The four purposes of the curriculum are the key drivers for developing the Humanities curriculum. Therefore, teachers must consider how their teaching and programmes of learning contribute to the development of these characteristics within learners in Wales.
	As a matter of principle, practitioners should be free to decide on the organisation of this area of learning and experience, and the choice of content to be covered. This autonomy allows for content to be adapted to suit the differing needs of learners. This allows for flexibility and greater opportunities to ensure that learners’ input can help shape their learning. It is also worth bearing in mind that any content or topic area can be taught at any point on the continuum.
	Key concepts and ideas should regularly and explicitly be revisited in order to consolidate and deepen understanding. Schools should select content to ensure there is increasing range as learners progress through school so that the key concepts can be explored more thoroughly. Revisiting concepts should not be repetitive, however, but should provide ever more complex challenges, allowing learners to access new experiences, knowledge and skills. 
	School curriculum design should ensure that learners’ locality and Welsh contexts and experiences are seen as significant and central to planning.  
	Content should also be selected to ensure that learners are able to make connections within and between the what matters statements in this area of learning and experience, and to ensure progression in the skills identified in the progression steps. Schools and teachers should also ensure that they select content that: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	allows learners to gain a thorough understanding of their locality, of Wales and the wider world

	• 
	• 
	• 

	is intrinsically interesting, relevant and stimulating for learners  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	meets the purposes of the curriculum and the wider purposes of education in terms of life skills and work skills, and essential social, economic, political and cultural understanding  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	covers events, people and processes that have had considerable effects 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	promotes higher-order thinking, conceptual development and enquiry skills 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	facilitates authentic experiences that support the development of the types of knowledge and skills learners are likely to need in the future   

	• 
	• 
	• 

	provides opportunities for both broad topic areas, and more detailed studies

	• 
	• 
	• 

	provides opportunities for links between what matters statements in Humanities and other areas of learning and experience.


	At ages 14 to 16, this area of learning and experience will allow learners to follow their interests in more depth as they progress, so that they can specialise in one or more discipline, while also maintaining a broad humanities entitlement. Individual disciplines will naturally become more visible in Progression steps 4 and 5, and such specialisation will involve an increase in depth of disciplinary knowledge, complex skills and enriched experiences.
	This will also pave the way for further specialisation during further and higher education, and in the world of work. Greater specialisation in individual disciplines should not lead to a narrowing of the curriculum, however. All what matters statements remain central to those disciplines.
	The continuation of a degree of breadth at ages 14 to 16 takes the statutory nature of religious education into account. 
	WHAT MATTERS INHUMANITIES
	 

	Developing an enquiring mind enableslearners to explore and investigate the world,past, present and future, for themselves. 
	 
	 

	Learners’ journey through Humanities will be characterised by enquiry and discovery, as they are encouraged to be curious and to question, to think critically and to reflect upon evidence. Through such enquiry, learners gain a deeper understanding of the concepts underpinning Humanities, and their application in local, national and global contexts. An enquiring mind stimulates new and creative thinking. Engaging with questions empowers learners to understand human experiences and the natural world. 
	Learners use appropriate disciplinary approaches, including digital humanities, to gather, analyse, and evaluate a range of evidence, and to communicate and present their findings. Learners interpret and synthesise information to build upon what they have already learned and further inform their understanding of the world. By thinking critically about their discoveries, learners draw informed conclusions, but also understand that some conclusions can only be partial or inconclusive and open to different int
	Learning
	Principles of progression
	Principles of progression are the basis on which the achievement outcomes have been developed and should guide the progression of learning within the area of learning and experience.
	This area of learning and experience will help learners gain:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	increased sophistication of conceptual understanding, whereby learners see beyond a list of facts and engage with those ideas that underpin the disciplines that make up Humanities, and how these interrelate in different contexts

	• 
	• 
	• 

	increased depth of knowledge, characterised by linking new learning to existing knowledge, developing a more sophisticated understanding and resolving the conflicts that can emerge from different points of view  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	an ability to work with an increasing number of more sophisticated sources of information

	• 
	• 
	• 

	more sophisticated use of relevant skills, including appropriate use of subject-specific terminology 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	increasing independence and self-regulation.


	Progression step 1
	Achievement outcomes
	I can ask simple questions and offer possible answers based on previous experiences.
	I can begin to record my observations in simple ways and communicate my findings.
	I have shown curiosity about the world around me.
	Progression step 2
	Achievement outcomes
	I can ask and respond to a range of questions as part of enquiries.
	I can make suggestions for possible enquiries.
	I can make and record my observations in a variety of ways. 
	I can collect and record information and data from given sources in order to answer specific questions.
	I can sort and group evidence, using more than one criterion relating to an enquiry.
	I can give simple explanations for my findings.
	I can draw simple conclusions. 
	I have had opportunities to participate in enquiries, focusing on my locality, Wales and the wider world.
	I have used a range of stimuli and evidence, including visual, physical and oral sources, that have been provided for me. 
	I have had a range of opportunities to collaborate with others to explore and engage in primary research, including fieldwork and visits, and to investigate local environments or issues.
	Progression step 3
	Achievement outcomes
	I can use my experiences and knowledge to frame appropriate enquiries.
	I can generate ideas, make predictions, and plan several different ways to approach a given situation or task, as well as experiment with a range of options when putting these ideas into action. 
	I can explore the differences between facts, opinions and beliefs. 
	I can find and collect a range of evidence to support my enquiry with some independence.
	I can present my findings in a range of ways, using appropriate methods.
	I can evaluate the significance and usefulness of the evidence I am exploring.  
	I can interpret data and information and use this to inform my conclusions, giving reasons.
	I can draw and present conclusions for my findings, and can describe an evidence-supported decision or conclusion based on the enquiry process I have undertaken. 
	I can evaluate and reflect on my enquiry, describing the steps I have taken, and identify areas for improvement.  
	I have actively engaged in enquires, both independently and collaboratively. 
	I have undertaken enquiries focusing on interdisciplinary themes.
	I have experienced enquiries focusing on my locality, Wales and the wider world in the past and present.  
	I have experienced enquiries focusing on my own beliefs, values and world views, and thoseof others. 
	 

	I have used a range of sources and evidence, including written, visual, physical and oral sources that have been gained from my research. 
	I have experienced opportunities for undertaking primary research in my local area and beyond.
	Progression step 4
	Achievement outcomes
	I can formulate and respond to open-ended and complex questions.
	I can consider a range of known strategies to conduct an enquiry and independently select the most effective approach. 
	I can independently identify and select a variety of relevant evidence, and I can infer meaning to draw reasoned conclusions. 
	I can select the appropriate research methods.
	I can gather a variety of relevant evidence, including quantitative and qualitative data.
	I can present my findings and data, utilising a range of increasingly sophisticated methods.
	I can analyse my findings, describing patterns and explaining relationships across data sets.
	I can describe the decision or conclusion I have come to. 
	I can understand that others can draw different conclusions even when using the same evidence.
	I can evaluate the usefulness and analyse the reliability of evidence.
	I can reference the sources I have used to reach my conclusions.
	I can effectively evaluate the success of the enquiry process used, and suggest some improvements.
	I can understand that each of the above are required elements of a process of enquiry, which can be applied to a variety of Humanities questions.
	I can identify and explain some differences between the process of enquiry in the different Humanities disciplines.
	I have undertaken independent and collaborative enquiries in Humanities. 
	I have had the opportunity for reflection on how my enquiry may add meaning to my own life and may contribute to my sense of place in the world. 
	I have undertaken enquiries focusing on questions relating to specific Humanities subject areas, as well as interdisciplinary themes and questions. 
	I have developed and led my own enquiries focusing on my locality, Wales, and the wider world, now and in the past.
	I have developed and led my own enquiries focusing on my own beliefs, values and world views, and those of others.
	Progression step 5
	Achievement outcomes
	I can independently formulate and respond to complex open-ended questions.  
	I can independently select the appropriate research methods and types of evidence, depending on the disciplinary context of the enquiry.
	I can gather a variety of relevant evidence, including quantitative and qualitative data. 
	I can independently select the appropriate method of presenting my findings and conclusions, and I can reference my work appropriately. 
	I can communicate the results of my enquiry using a variety of methods appropriate to the subject matter, purpose and audience. 
	I can interpret evidence, infer meaning and draw conclusions, synthesising a range of evidence.
	I can evaluate the usefulness and reliability of qualitative and quantitative evidence, considering its content, provenance, purpose, context and limitations. 
	I can understand the impact of sources of authority and analyse how they are interpretedand used. 
	 

	I can make coherent, substantiated responses and judgements that are balanced and take into consideration a range of viewpoints.   
	I can independently evaluate the success of my enquiries, suggest improvements and refine my methodology for future enquires.
	I can make considered reflections for further research or extension of the enquiry.
	I can explain the similarities and differences between enquiries in the subject areas within Humanities.
	I have taken a leading role in developing enquiries focusing on my locality, Wales, and the wider world in one or more of the disciplines in Humanities.
	I have utilised a range of sources, including those from my own research, to add depth to my enquiries. 
	I have had the opportunity for self-reflection, considering how my enquiry might add meaning to my own life and might contribute to my sense of place in the world.
	When learners are engaged in discipline-specific enquiries, the following should be added to Progression step 5.  
	Geography
	I can predict possible outcomes to geographical research. 
	I can collect relevant quantitative and qualitative primary and secondary data accurately. 
	I can interpret and present data in a graphical or cartographical form. 
	I can draw conclusions from geographical data using statistical skills where appropriate.   
	History
	I can understand the subjective and incomplete nature of historical evidence. 
	I can analyse and evaluate the reliability, utility and validity of primary and secondary historical evidence in context of the specific enquiry. 
	I can fully justify and support my conclusions, while acknowledging the limitations of judgements about the past based on the available evidence.  
	Religious education
	I can engage in philosophical enquiry considering the diversity, complexity and plurality of religious and non-religious world views. 
	I can understand that Ultimate questions are complex, and answers are often partial and inconclusive. 
	I can appreciate, empathise with and critically evaluate sources of wisdom and authority, and religious and non-religious world views, in order to form my own reasoned conclusions. 
	I can observe and investigate forms of religious expression, and can critically evaluate how aspects of religion and belief impact upon me, other individuals, local society and global society.  
	Business studies and social studies
	I can plan and follow appropriate social studies or business studies methodologies, using primary and secondary social research methods when appropriate. 
	I can collect, collate and analyse primary data using appropriate sampling techniques. 
	I have considered and acted upon my ethical responsibilities as a social studies and business studies researcher.
	Planning for learning
	Links within this area of learning and experience
	This section suggests where learning can be enriched through drawing links between other what matters statements across the Humanities Area of Learning and Experience. It also suggests where different elements of learning could be considered together in order to support more holistic learning. Developing an enquiring mind and experiencing enquiries allows learners to investigate and consider all aspects of Humanities.
	Events and human experiences are complex, and are perceived, interpreted and represented in different ways.
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Enquiries with a focus on exploring different interpretations.  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Secondary evidence used in enquiries can illustrate varied viewpoints, interpretations and representations.  


	Our natural world is diverse and dynamic, influenced by physical processes andhuman actions. 
	 

	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Enquiries with a focus on human relationships and impact upon the natural world. 


	Human societies are complex and diverse, and are shaped by human actions and beliefs.
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Enquiries with a focus on how societies are diverse and plural.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Enquiries with a focus on change and continuity.


	Informed, self-aware citizens engage with the challenges and opportunities that face humanity, and are able to take considered, ethical and sustainable action. 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Through enquiry, learners develop their understanding of challenges and opportunities facing humanity.


	Links with other areas of learning and experience
	This section suggests where learning can be enriched through drawing links between other what matters statements across all the areas of learning and experience. It also suggests where different elements of learning could be considered together in order to support more holistic learning.
	Expressive Arts
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Art, music, theatre, literature as evidence for and a focus of enquiries.  


	Health and Well-being
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Using Humanities methodology to consider aspects of health and well-being such as mental, physical and emotional health.  


	Languages, Literacy and Communication 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Literature as evidence for and a focus of enquiries.  


	Mathematics and Numeracy
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Use of qualitative data as evidence for enquiries.  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Collection of primary data. 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Sampling methods and statistical techniques of analysing data.   

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Representation of data in graphical form.  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Interpreting a range of graphs. 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Sorting and classifying. 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Spotting trends and anomalies.


	Science and Technology
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	The nature of enquiry as it relates to Science and Technology.


	Experiences, knowledge and skills
	In this what matters statement, learners should explore the concepts of questioning, evidence, evaluation, validity, reliability, bias, ethics and judgements.
	Progression step 1
	Learners need to experience:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	a range of stimuli that aim to enthuse and inspire them to imagine and be curious, and to explore, discover and question 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	a range of ongoing opportunities for exploration and discovery through play  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	a range of opportunities to enquire and to learn outdoors, as well as indoors, including both physical and digital learning 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	using a range of different visual, oral, written and physical sources 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	enquiries focusing on learners’ locality, Wales and the wider world in the past and present.


	Learners need to know how to and be able to: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	explore, observe and question 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	make and record observations and findings, using digital and other methods.


	Progression step 2
	Learners need to experience:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	a range of stimuli that aim to enthuse and inspire them to imagine and be curious, and to explore, discover and question 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	a range of ongoing opportunities for exploration and discovery through play 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	a range of opportunities to enquire and to learn outdoors, as well as indoors, including both physical and digital learning 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	using a range of different visual, oral, written and physical sources 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	engagement in enquiries, individually and collaboratively 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	engagement with philosophical questioning 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	enquiries focusing on learners’ locality, Wales and the wider world in the past and present. 


	Learners need to know how to and be able to: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	explore, observe and question  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	gather, sort and group different types of evidence  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	make and record observations and findings, using digital and other methods

	• 
	• 
	• 

	draw and explain a simple conclusion 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	undertake enquires relating to a range of interdisciplinary themes 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	explore philosophical questions about life.


	Progression step 3
	Learners need to experience:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	a range of stimuli that aim to enthuse and inspire them to imagine and be curious, and to explore, discover and question 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	a range of opportunities to enquire and to learn outdoors, as well as indoors, including both physical and digital learning

	• 
	• 
	• 

	using a range of different visual, oral, written and physical sources

	• 
	• 
	• 

	engagement in enquiries, individually and collaboratively 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	engagement with philosophical questioning 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	enquiries focusing on learners’ locality, Wales and the wider world in the past and present. 


	Learners need to know: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	the methodology used in Humanities enquiries and how this may differ between disciplines

	• 
	• 
	• 

	the difference between facts, opinion, beliefs and how this contributes to the relevance and use of evidence.


	Learners need to know how to and be able to: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	undertake enquiries relating to both interdisciplinary and disciplinary themes 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	select enquiry methods appropriate to the specific enquiry 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	observe and use prior knowledge to formulate appropriate questions  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	gather evidence from a range of sources

	• 
	• 
	• 

	interpret findings in order to draw a conclusion or make a judgement 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	identify the relevance of the information collected   

	• 
	• 
	• 

	arrange and present findings appropriately, using digital techniques when appropriate  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	reflect on enquiries, ask questions about the learning process, and also look forward to where an enquiry is leading next

	• 
	• 
	• 

	reflect on and evaluate the application of digital tools in enquiries.


	Progression step 4
	Learners need to experience:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	a range of stimuli that aim to enthuse and inspire them to imagine and be curious, and to explore, discover and question 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	a range of opportunities to enquire and to learn outdoors, as well as indoors, including both physical and digital learning 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	using a range of different visual, oral, written and physical sources 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	engagement in enquiries, individually and collaboratively 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	engagement with philosophical questioning 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	enquiries focusing on learners’ locality, Wales and the wider world in the past and present 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities for self-reflection as they consider how their enquiry may add meaning to their life and may contribute to their sense of their place in the world.


	Learners need to know: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	appropriate methodologies for the collection of data and evidence

	• 
	• 
	• 

	the similarities and differences between enquiry methods in each subject area. 


	Learners need to know how to and be able to: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	undertake enquiries that are focused on interdisciplinary as well as subject-focused questions and issues

	• 
	• 
	• 

	observe and use prior knowledge to ask and frame appropriate questions

	• 
	• 
	• 

	gather evidence from a range of sources gained from outdoor learning, and primary and secondary research

	• 
	• 
	• 

	identify the relevance of the information collected to the specific context of the enquiry

	• 
	• 
	• 

	use various methods to present evidence from enquiries, including using digital techniques where appropriate

	• 
	• 
	• 

	interpret, critically analyse and evaluate a wide range of written, visual, physical and oral evidence, including factual, philosophical and interpretative evidence 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	interpret findings in order to draw, present and justify substantiated conclusions 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	reflect on and evaluate the effectiveness of enquiries 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	reflect on and evaluate the application of digital tools in enquiries.


	Progression step 5
	Learners need to experience:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	a range of stimuli that aim to enthuse and inspire them to imagine and be curious, and to explore, discover and question 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	a range of opportunities to enquire and to learn outdoors, as well as indoors, including both physical and digital learning 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	using a range of different visual, oral, written and physical sources 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	engagement in enquiries, individually and collaboratively 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	engagement with philosophical questioning 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	enquiries focusing on learners’ locality, Wales and the wider world in the past and present 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities for self-reflection as they consider how their enquiry may add meaning to their life and may contribute to their sense of their place in the world. 


	Learners need to know: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	appropriate methodologies for the collection of data and evidence  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	the similarities and differences between enquiry methods in each subject area. 


	Learners need to know how to and be able to: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	undertake enquiries that are focused on interdisciplinary as well as subject-focused questions and issues

	• 
	• 
	• 

	observe and use prior knowledge to ask and frame appropriate questions

	• 
	• 
	• 

	gather evidence from a range of sources gained from outdoor learning, and primary and secondary research

	• 
	• 
	• 

	identify the relevance of the information collected to the specific context of the enquiry

	• 
	• 
	• 

	use various methods to present evidence from enquiries, including using digital techniques where appropriate

	• 
	• 
	• 

	interpret, critically analyse and evaluate a wide range of written, visual, physical and oral evidence, including factual, philosophical and interpretative evidence 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	interpret findings in order to draw, present and justify substantiated conclusions 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	reflect on and evaluate the effectiveness of enquiries 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	reflect on and evaluate the application of digital tools in enquiries.


	In addition to the above at Progression step 5, in their discipline-specific enquiries learners should have opportunities to undertake the following. 
	Geography
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Enquiries linked to environmental and geographic events and themes, which includes fieldwork and learning outside the classroom, use of geographical information systems, gathering quantitative and qualitative data, and statistical analysis of numerical data.


	History
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Historical enquiries that would include developing an understanding of the use and value of written, visual, and physical evidence (including first-hand or primary evidence, as well as secondary sources) to explain how and why historical interpretations are formed.


	Religious education
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Enquiries exploring complex philosophical questions about the meaning and purpose of life. This includes engaging with Ultimate questions raised by the world around them, their own life experiences and aspects of religion, as well as using sources of wisdom and philosophy. 


	Business studies and social studies
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Enquiries linked to business and economic themes, using forms of media, data, case studies and market research.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Enquires exploring contemporary and controversial social issues, people’s views and perspectives on social issues, and the ways that people participate in society and social action.


	WHAT MATTERS INHUMANITIES
	 

	Events and human experiences are complex,and are perceived, interpreted and representedin different ways.
	 
	 

	Learners in Wales are forever trying to make sense of the world around them, a world they encounter though a variety of perspectives. Humanities encourages them to critically review the ways the events and experiences of that world are represented and interpreted, using this information to construct their own informed perspectives.  
	Learners understand how various factors can influence their own and others’ perceptions and interpretations, while also developing an appreciation of how narratives and representations are constructed, and exploring how and why interpretations may differ. As they develop a critical understanding of a range of interpretations and representations, they will be better placed to evaluate their validity, and to foster a more holistic understanding of events, experiences and the natural world. This will enable le
	Learning
	Principles of progression
	Principles of progression are the basis on which the achievement outcomes have been developed and should guide the progression of learning within the area of learning and experience.
	This area of learning and experience will help learners gain:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	increased sophistication of conceptual understanding, whereby learners see beyond a list of facts and engage with those ideas that underpin the disciplines that make up Humanities, and how these interrelate in different contexts

	• 
	• 
	• 

	increased depth of knowledge, characterised by linking new learning to existing knowledge, developing a more sophisticated understanding and resolving the conflicts that can emerge from different points of view  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	an ability to work with an increasing number of more sophisticated sources of information

	• 
	• 
	• 

	more sophisticated use of relevant skills, including appropriate use of subject-specific terminology 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	increasing independence and self-regulation.


	Progression step 1
	Achievement outcomes
	I can communicate my ideas about my own experiences.  
	I can recognise that my feelings, actions and opinions can be different from those of others. 
	I can understand personal events in the past, present and future are significant to me.  
	I can form and express my opinion about familiar issues and recognise that my opinion has value to me. 
	I have had opportunities to discuss my opinions about things I have experienced with other people.
	Progression step 2
	Achievement outcomes
	I can recognise other people’s viewpoints about familiar events or experiences.  
	I can recognise that not everything will stay the same and that time can cause opinions to change. 
	I can understand that other people explain things in different ways, and I can consider the merits of these different viewpoints and explanations. 
	I can describe my feelings, actions and opinions, and explain how they are different from those of others. 
	I can form an opinion about something that is important to me, considering my own ideas and those of others.
	I have had opportunities to discuss my opinions and ideas with other people.
	Progression step 3
	Achievement outcomes
	I can give evidence for an argument or viewpoint and present counterarguments.
	I have been able to infer people’s opinions, viewpoints and interpretations from sources and evidence.
	I can recognise that people have different opinions about the significance of people, events and experiences in the past and present.
	I can recognise, accept and understand that people have different opinions and viewpoints about an issue, and am able to compare different interpretations of the same issue. 
	I can recount the evidence people use to interpret events and issues in different ways.  
	I have been able to form, express and discuss my own opinion on issues, after considering some evidence and the views of others.
	I have discussed my own and others’ responses to questions about life, experiences and the world, including consideration of Ultimate questions, and I have discussed these issues with people who do not always have the same opinion as I have.
	I understand that people’s views and opinions may change over time.
	I can explain how some aspects of the past have been represented and interpreted indifferent ways.
	 

	Progression step 4
	Achievement outcomes
	I can explain reasons people may have or may use to explain events and issues in different ways.
	I can understand that interpretations are influenced by a range of factors. 
	I can explain some reasons why people have different opinions about the significance of people, events and experiences in the past and present, and can form my own opinions of their significance.
	I can infer and evaluate interpretations and viewpoints from a range of sources and evidence.  
	I can draw on a range of interpretations to come to a reasoned personal perspective. 
	I can express, justify and discuss my personal opinions in debates and in writing. 
	I can appreciate that my interpretations are influenced by my identity, experiences and beliefs.
	I can understand that interpretations, including my own, can change over time, especially in the light of new evidence or when approached from a different perspective.
	I can see that some interpretations and opinions have greater validity than others.  
	I can explain how interpretations can influence people’s actions, traditions and forms of expression.
	Progression step 5
	Achievement outcomes
	I can accept that questions about life, experiences and the world are complex and that responses are often partial and inconclusive, and I can discuss accordingly. 
	I can analyse the impacts of different perspectives in response to questions about life, experiences and the world on my own life and on the lives of others. 
	I can explain and analyse a range of reasons why people have different opinions about the significance of people, events and experiences in the past and present, and can form, defend and justify my own opinions of their significance.  
	I can critically evaluate the validity of interpretations by considering how they are shaped and influenced by place and belief, and how they can change over time.  
	I have investigated what influences and shapes my own interpretations, and I can explain how my views are influenced by social, cultural and historical contexts.  
	I can appreciate the varied lenses through which one views the world and recognise the limitations of my own perspective.  
	I have begun to challenge my own values and perspectives.   
	I can evaluate the credibility and validity of a range of perspectives and use this evaluation to support the development of my own informed, justified and balanced judgements about life, events and experiences. 
	I can integrate new or revised perspectives into my own thinking.  
	I can infer subtle interpretations from sources and evidence.  
	I have explored how people’s interpretations and views have led to certain actions.   
	I have had opportunities to form, express and discuss personal opinions about a range of issues across the Humanities.
	I can form, justify, and support my own interpretations.  
	I have had opportunities to discuss, analyse and evaluate the interpretations offered by others.  
	I have explored the complexity of local, national and global issues, and engaged with multiple perspectives relating to these issues.  
	I have used different perspectives to explore issues.
	I have had opportunities to engage in formal and informal debates on a range of current and controversial topics.
	When learners are engaged in discipline-specific enquiries, the following should be added to Progression step 5.  
	Geography
	I can understand and describe how geographical interpretations are influenced by a range of factors.  
	I can explain how interpretations of place, landscapes, environments and cultures may changeover time.  
	 

	I can understand how people’s interpretations of place, landscapes, environments and cultures influence their actions.  
	I can express and justify my viewpoints about a variety of places, landscapes, environments and cultures in Wales and the wider world, and understand that my views may change over time. 
	History
	I can explain how and why interpretations of historical events have changed over time and explain why historians form different interpretations of events.
	I can form, express and support my own interpretations of historical events. 
	I can understand how my own identity, experiences, opinions, and beliefs can affect my own interpretations and understanding of historical events. 
	I can adapt or change my interpretations of historical events in the light of new evidence. 
	Religious education
	I can critically evaluate specific aspects of religion and world views, considering the different interpretations of religious teachings and the impact of these upon me, other individuals, local and global society. 
	I can analyse, interpret and evaluate layers of meaning in religious expression, e.g. symbolism, pilgrimage, rituals, rites of passage, ceremonies, literature, art, dance and music. 
	I have been able to form, express and support my opinion on a range of Ultimate questions. 
	I can express and justify my feelings with integrity and maturity, demonstrating clearly how whatI have learned has impacted on my own beliefs and values. 
	 

	Business studies and social studies
	I can understand how political, economic and social ideologies influence my own and other people’s interpretations of the roles and functions of business in society.
	I can understand that there is a range of interpretations of social issues that inform how society is structured.
	I have engaged with diverse viewpoints and perspectives on social issues and used these insights to strengthen my own decisions and opinions.
	Planning for learning
	Links within this area of learning and experience
	This section suggests where learning can be enriched through drawing links between other what matters statements across the Humanities Area of Learning and Experience. It also suggests where different elements of learning could be considered together in order to support more holistic learning.
	Developing an enquiring mind enables learners to explore and investigate the world, past, present and future, for themselves.
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Understanding that interpretations and viewpoints can develop from specific enquiries. 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Interpretations presented by specific sources and evidence. 


	Our natural world is diverse and dynamic, influenced by physical processes andhuman actions. 
	 

	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Interpretations and viewpoints on the relationship between humans and the natural world,e.g. climate change.
	 



	Human societies are complex and diverse, and are shaped by human actions and beliefs.
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Historical interpretations of people and events.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Interpretations linked to political ideologies.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Interpretations linked to religions and world views.


	Informed, self-aware citizens engage with the challenges and opportunities that face humanity, and are able to take considered, ethical and sustainable action. 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	An individual’s viewpoint of their own role and responsibility as a citizen. 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Differing interpretations of the key challenges and opportunities facing humanity.


	Links with other areas of learning and experience
	This section suggests where learning can be enriched through drawing links between other what matters statements across all the areas of learning and experience. It also suggests where different elements of learning could be considered together in order to support more holistic learning.
	Expressive Arts
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Expressive arts act as mediums for the expression of interpretations and viewpoints.  


	Health and Well-being
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	How individuals perceive and interpret events and experiences in different ways. 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	How citizenship is linked to and impacted by social influences. 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	How the values and norms of individuals form a collective identity and collective values.


	Languages, Literacy and Communication 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Literature as a medium of expression for interpretations. 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Identity and language. 


	Mathematics and Numeracy
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Interpreting data, i.e. economic trends.


	Science and Technology
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Interpretations of scientific discoveries and their impact on the world.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Perceptions of the natural world.


	Experiences, knowledge and skills
	In this what matters statement, learners should explore concepts including seeking meaning, Ultimate and philosophical questions, representations, perspectives, historical interpretations, significance, validity and making judgements.
	Progression step 1
	Learners need to experience:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to engage with a range of issues in their local community to develop their own perspective on their locality 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	stimuli that enthuse and inspire them to be curious about, engage with and explore their locality 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	a range of opportunities to form and express opinions 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	a range of opportunities to hear and discuss alternative opinions 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	a range of opportunities to access interpretations of issues, e.g. through engaging with guest speakers and visiting places of interest 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	accessing interpretations and perspectives through a variety of physical and digital media 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	a range of symbolic stories, rituals, artefacts, art, dance, drama, music and food. 


	Learners need to know: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	what opinions are, and recognise that they and others have opinions.


	Learners need to know how to and be able to: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	discuss and express their opinions about their experiences or issues that are familiarto them
	 


	• 
	• 
	• 

	recognise that their opinions, and the opinions of others, have value

	• 
	• 
	• 

	use words, signs or symbols to communicate observations, thoughts and feelings.


	Progression step 2
	Learners need to experience:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to engage with a range of issues in their local community to develop their own perspective on their locality 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	stimuli that inspire and enthuse them to be curious about, engage in, and explore complex and controversial issues in order to make sense of the world   

	• 
	• 
	• 

	a range of opportunities to form and express opinions 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	a range of opportunities to hear and discuss alternative opinions 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	a range of opportunities to access interpretations of issues, e.g. through engaging with guest speakers and visiting places of interest 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	accessing interpretations and perspectives through a variety of physical and digital media 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	a range of opportunities to engage with Ultimate questions  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	a range of symbolic stories, rituals, artefacts, art, dance, drama, music and food.  


	Learners need to know how to and be able to: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	offer their own ideas and make connections  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	explore, find out about and discuss issues and events from within and across the Humanities disciplines  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	to form and express their own opinions on issues  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	communicate their observations, thoughts and feelings using words, signs or symbols 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	recognise that people have different opinions and viewpoints and that they may differ from their own.


	Progression step 3
	Learners need to experience:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to engage with a range of issues in their local community to develop their own perspective on their locality 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	stimuli that inspire and enthuse them to be curious about, engage in, and explore complex and controversial issues in order to make sense of the world 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	a range of opportunities to form and express opinions

	• 
	• 
	• 

	a range of opportunities to hear and discuss alternative opinions 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	collaborative discussion on a wide range of varied viewpoints and interpretations, including opportunities for formal and informal debates 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	a range of opportunities to access interpretations of issues, e.g. through engaging with guest speakers and visiting places of interest   

	• 
	• 
	• 

	accessing interpretations and perspectives through a variety of physical and digital media 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	a range of opportunities to engage with Ultimate questions 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	a range of symbolic stories, rituals, artefacts, art, dance, drama, music and food. 


	Learners need to know: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	that people have different opinions and recount the evidence used for these opinions  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	how sources and evidence can provide interpretations  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	how sources and evidence are used to form and justify people’s interpretations.  


	Learners need to know how to and be able to: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	explore local, national and global issues, and engage with multiple perspectives relating to these issues 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	engage with a range of issues and compare different interpretations of the same event or issue, and consider how people differ in their views of significant people, events or changes

	• 
	• 
	• 

	form, express and discuss opinions  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	engage with interpretations presented in sources, and use these interpretations to support their own interpretations  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	explore layers of meaning within symbolic representations.


	Progression step 4
	Learners need to experience:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to engage with a range of issues in their local community to develop their own perspective on their locality 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	stimuli that inspire and enthuse them to be curious about, engage in, and explore complex and controversial issues in order to make sense of the world  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	a range of opportunities to form and express opinions 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	a range of opportunities to hear and discuss alternative opinions 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	collaborative discussion on a wide range of varied viewpoints and interpretations, including opportunities for formal and informal debates  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	a range of opportunities to access interpretations of issues, e.g. through engaging with guest speakers and visiting places of interest  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	accessing interpretations and perspectives through a variety of physical and digital media 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	a range of opportunities to engage with Ultimate questions

	• 
	• 
	• 

	a range of symbolic stories, rituals, artefacts, art, dance, drama, music and food. 


	Learners need to know: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	what makes an interpretation valid

	• 
	• 
	• 

	how interpretations are shaped and formed

	• 
	• 
	• 

	how selection of evidence influences interpretations and opinions.  


	Learners need to know how to and be able to: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	explore the complexity of local, national and global issues, and engage with multiple perspectives relating to these issues  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	explore different interpretations of people, societies, periods of time and events; the role of businesses; religious and non-religious world views, beliefs, values, sources and sacred texts; places, landscapes, cultures and environments  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	form, express and discuss personal opinions about a range of issues across the Humanities

	• 
	• 
	• 

	draw on a range of interpretations and opinions to come to a reasoned personal perspective  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	use different perspectives to explore issues 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	engage with interpretations found within a range of sources and use these to support or contradict their own interpretations and responses  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	explore how people have differing interpretations relating to the significance of events, people, changes and experiences

	• 
	• 
	• 

	explore layers of meaning within symbolic representations.


	Progression step 5
	Learners need to experience:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to engage with a range of issues in their local community to develop their own perspective on their locality 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	stimuli that inspire and enthuse them to be curious about, engage in and explore complex and controversial issues in order to make sense of the world  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	a range of opportunities to form and express opinions 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	a range of opportunities to hear and discuss alternative opinions 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	collaborative discussion on a wide range of varied viewpoints and interpretations, including opportunities for formal and informal debates  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	a range of opportunities to access interpretations of issues, e.g. through engaging with guest speakers, and visiting places of interest 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	accessing interpretations and perspectives through a variety of physical and digital media 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	a range of opportunities to engage with Ultimate questions  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	a range of symbolic stories, rituals, artefacts, art, dance, drama, music and food.  


	Learners need to know: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	the range of factors that contribute to the validity of interpretations

	• 
	• 
	• 

	how interpretations are shaped and formed

	• 
	• 
	• 

	how selection and judgements about the validity of evidence influences interpretations and opinions.  


	Learners need to know how to and be able to: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	explore the complexity of local, national and global issues and engage with multiple perspectives relating to these issues  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	explore a wide range of different interpretations of people, societies, periods of time, and events; role of businesses; religious and non-religious world views, beliefs, values, sources, sacred texts; places, landscapes, cultures and environments 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	investigate and understand what influences and shapes their own interpretations and opinions and be able to draw on a range of interpretations and opinions to come to a reasoned personal perspective 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	explore how and why interpretations are shaped and formed and how they can change over time  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	explore how and why people have differing interpretations relating to the significance of events, people, changes and experiences  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	evaluate the validity and credibility of interpretations through discussion of how interpretations are shaped and how they can change over time

	• 
	• 
	• 

	explore how people’s interpretations and viewpoints have impacted upon their actions.   

	• 
	• 
	• 

	form, express and discuss personal opinions about a range of issues across the Humanities

	• 
	• 
	• 

	discuss, analyse and evaluate the interpretations offered by others

	• 
	• 
	• 

	use different perspectives to explore issues 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	explore multiple perspectives and alternative visions for the future 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	engage with interpretations found within a wide range of sources, and use these to support and defend their own interpretations and responses.


	When planning discipline-specific learning, the following should be added to the above at Progression step 5. 
	Geography
	Learners need to know: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	different interpretations of geographical themes

	• 
	• 
	• 

	how interpretations may vary depending upon an individual’s culture, socioeconomic status, age, gender, education, travel experiences, etc. 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	how representations of place, cultures and environments change through time, e.g. in cultural geography, the representation of place, environments and cultures through music, literature, films, etc.  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	how people’s perceptions influence how they interact with places, environments and cultures

	• 
	• 
	• 

	the significance of different viewpoints and perceptions in understanding change in physical and human environments at all scales from Wales to the wider world.   


	History
	Learners need to know: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	how people and past events in Wales and the wider world have been interpreted in different ways

	• 
	• 
	• 

	how and why historians have come to their interpretations

	• 
	• 
	• 

	how and why historians can form different interpretations of the same event or person 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	how different viewpoints and interpretations have impacted upon events in history.  


	Learners need to know how to and be able to: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	apply appropriate methods of evaluating the validity of historical interpretations. 


	Religious education
	Learners need to know: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	perceptions, interpretations and representations of religious and non-religious world views, beliefs and practices, symbolism, pilgrimage, rituals, rites of passage, ceremonies, literature, art, rituals, dance and music

	• 
	• 
	• 

	about interpreting and evaluating texts, sources of wisdom and authority and other evidence.  


	Learners need to know how to and be able to: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	articulate clearly and coherently personal beliefs, ideas, values and experiences while respecting the right of others to differ.


	Business studies and social studies
	Learners need to know: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	political, economic, business ideologies and perspectives

	• 
	• 
	• 

	the contributions made by Welsh, the United Kingdom, European and global business individuals in the past and present

	• 
	• 
	• 

	how the economic decisions of business and industries has impacted on experiences and perspectives

	• 
	• 
	• 

	interpretations of social issues and social inequality

	• 
	• 
	• 

	viewpoints and interpretations of society through the ‘lenses’ of identity, multiculturalism, gender and sexuality.


	WHAT MATTERS INHUMANITIES
	 

	Our natural world is diverse and dynamic, influenced by physical processes and human actions. 
	Learners will have opportunities to nurture curiosity about the natural world and understand how and why it changes. This in turn helps learners to identify what makes a place distinct and develop an awareness of the interconnections between humans and their environment. Consequently, learners are in a better position to make connections between the past and present, and to imagine possible futures. 
	Through understanding a variety of physical processes, and their causes and effects, learners will appreciate how places, environments and landscapes change within Wales and the wider world. They will also develop their understanding of how human actions in the past and today affect the natural world and how the natural world impacts on humans. This will heighten learners’ awareness of how the future sustainability of our world is influenced by the impact of human actions. It will also encourage learners in
	Learners will explore a range of beliefs and philosophies about the natural world, and how they influence people’s interactions with the world. They will learn also how experiencing the wonder of the natural world can contribute to their spiritual development and well-being, and cultivate a sense of place and senseof belonging, as embodied in the Welsh word cynefin.
	 

	Learning
	Principles of progression
	Principles of progression are the basis on which the achievement outcomes have been developed and should guide the progression of learning within the area of learning and experience.
	This area of learning and experience will help learners gain:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	increased sophistication of conceptual understanding, whereby learners see beyond a list of facts and engage with those ideas that underpin the disciplines that make up Humanities, and how these interrelate in different contexts

	• 
	• 
	• 

	increased depth of knowledge, characterised by linking new learning to existing knowledge, developing a more sophisticated understanding and resolving the conflicts that can emerge from different points of view  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	an ability to work with an increasing number of more sophisticated sources of information

	• 
	• 
	• 

	more sophisticated use of relevant skills, including appropriate use of subject-specific terminology 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	increasing independence and self-regulation.


	Progression step 1
	Achievement outcomes
	I can recognise where places are and how they are distinct from and similar to each other. 
	I can communicate my feelings about the natural world.
	Progression step 2
	Achievement outcomes
	I can describe the distinct physical features of places, environments and landscapes in Wales and the wider world.
	I can recognise some religious and non-religious beliefs about the natural world and how this could influence the way people interact with the world.  
	I can identify some significant spaces, places and phenomena within the natural world. 
	I can describe how people’s actions and the natural world impact upon each other, both in the past and present.
	Progression step 3
	Achievement outcomes
	I can describe and locate places, environments and landscapes, including distinctive features and landforms, using map skills where appropriate. 
	I can describe patterns of distribution of features in the natural world and begin to give reasons for these patterns. 
	I can show understanding of the causes and effects of the events and physical processes that shape places, environments, landscapes and people.
	I can describe how human actions have led to both continuity and change in the natural world in different periods of history.
	I can describe how physical processes have impacted upon human societies in history and how they have led to change and continuity.
	I can show understanding of the concept of sustainability. 
	I can describe a range of religious and non-religious world views about the natural world. 
	I can describe some religious and non-religious practices associated with significant spaces, places and phenomena within the natural world. 
	I can describe how beliefs can impact on human action on the natural world. 
	I can communicate my views and feelings about the natural world and the part I play in it.
	Progression step 4
	Achievement outcomes
	I can explain the complex features of places, environments and landscapes at a variety of scales, using map skills where appropriate.  
	I can describe the distribution and changing patterns of places, spaces and environments over time, and the connections between them.  
	I can explain the causes and effects of change on places, environments, landscapes and people over time, considering interconnections between factors.  
	I can explain patterns of continuity and change in the natural world in different periods of history.  
	I can explain the significance of the impact of physical processes upon human societies in the past and present.  
	I can understand the responsibility that humans have to create a sustainable natural world. 
	I can examine a broad range of religious and non-religious world views about the natural world and the responsibility humanity has towards it. 
	I can describe a range of religious and non-religious practices associated with significant spaces, places and phenomena within the natural world. 
	I can explain some religious and non-religious world views about the nature of life and death and beliefs about life after death and the concept of Ultimate Reality.
	Progression step 5
	Achievement outcomes
	I can give comprehensive descriptions and explanations of places, environments and landscapes, including distinctive features and landforms, and apply this knowledge to unfamiliar environments. 
	I can create maps, select and utilise a variety of appropriate complex map skills to accurately locate places, environments and landscapes, including use of sophisticated digital geographical information systems. 
	I can account for distinctive patterns of distribution, at different scales, of features within the natural world. 
	I can select and evaluate the suitability of digital and other methods used to locate places, environments, landscapes and spatial patterns of distribution. 
	I can evaluate the environmental cost of business activity and suggest strategies as to how different businesses can respond to environmental issues.  
	I can comprehensively explain a broad range of physical processes that have contributed to the formation of the natural world. 
	I can explain and critically evaluate connections between the causes and effects of change on places, environments, landscapes and people.
	I can critically evaluate the sustainability of strategies to reduce the risk and impact of physical processes on people and their environment. 
	I can evaluate and explain the patterns of continuity and change in the relationship between humans and the environment in the past and present, and the impact each has upon the other in a range of contexts and at a range of scales, and can suggest possible strategies to reduce these impacts. 
	I can understand and explain how environments can become threatened.  
	I can understand and explain the consequences of living in an unsustainable way and suggest possible sustainable futures.  
	I can critically evaluate a broad range of religious and non-religious world views on the nature of the natural world and the responsibility humanity has towards it. 
	I can evaluate a range of religious and non-religious practices associated with significant spaces, places and phenomena within the natural world. 
	I can explain and evaluate a range of significant religious and non-religious world views about the concepts of Ultimate Reality, the nature of life and death, and beliefs about life after death.
	Planning for learning
	Links within this area of learning and experience
	This section suggests where learning can be enriched through drawing links between other what matters statements across the Humanities Area of Learning and Experience. It also suggests where different elements of learning could be considered together in order to support more holistic learning.
	Developing an enquiring mind enables learners to explore and investigate the world, past, present and future, for themselves.
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Enquiries focusing on the relationship between humans and the natural world.


	Events and human experiences are complex, and are perceived, interpreted and represented in different ways.
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Interpretations of changes to the natural world.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Interpretations of human responsibility towards the natural world.


	Human societies are complex and diverse, and are shaped by human actions and beliefs.
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	The relative impact of different societies at different times on the natural world.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	How the natural world has impacted upon the evolution of human societies and contributed towards change.


	Informed, self-aware citizens engage with the challenges and opportunities that face humanity, and are able to take considered, ethical and sustainable action. 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Environmental challenges facing humanity, including climate change.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	An individual’s role and responsibility in environmental protection. 


	Links with other areas of learning and experience
	This section suggests where learning can be enriched through drawing links between other what matters statements across all the areas of learning and experience. It also suggests where different elements of learning could be considered together in order to support more holistic learning.
	Expressive Arts
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	The natural world as a stimulus for Expressive Arts. 


	Health and Well-being
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	The contribution of the natural world to our health and well-being. 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Environmental factors that affect health and well-being. 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Food production and sustainability.


	Languages, Literacy and Communication 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	The natural world as a stimulus for literature and creative writing. 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Cultural empathy and sensitivity. 


	Mathematics and Numeracy
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Use of appropriate equipment to measure accurately. 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Scale. 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Time and chronological ordering.


	Science and Technology
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	The role of science in explaining the world around us and how it was formed. 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	The impact of scientific and technological development on the natural world.  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Living things and their place in the natural world.  


	Experiences, knowledge and skills
	In this what matters statement, learners should explore the concepts of place, space, environment, physical processes, significance, cause and effect, and change and continuity.
	Progression step 1
	Learners need to experience:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	outdoor learning, which includes exploration and first-hand experiences of places, environments and landscapes, to help them understand how the natural world works (this should include the learner’s own locality) 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to develop a curiosity about and an appreciation of the natural world

	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to experience a sense of awe and wonder, and to reflect upon the natural world and their connection to it.


	Learners need to know how to and be able to: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	identify the distinctive features of places, environments and landscapes through first-hand exploration 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	communicate their feelings and ideas about the features of familiar places 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	recognise change within familiar places at different times of year 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	recognise some of the effects that humans have on places, environments and landscapes

	• 
	• 
	• 

	express their feelings about the natural world.


	Progression step 2
	Learners need to experience:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	outdoor learning, which includes exploration and first-hand experiences of places, environments and landscapes, to help them understand how the natural world works (this should include the learner’s own locality)  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to develop a curiosity about and an appreciation of the natural world

	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to experience a sense of awe and wonder, and to reflect upon the natural world and their connection to it. 


	Learners need to know how to and be able to: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	locate places, environments and landscapes using a variety of resources 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	recognise distinctive physical features of environments, and identify the similarities and differences between them  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	recognise that places change over time and suggest some reasons for this   

	• 
	• 
	• 

	show awareness of some religious and non-religious world views about the natural world, including about the origins of the natural world 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	describe how people’s beliefs influence the way they act towards the world 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	describe some of the effects that humans as consumers and producers have on places, environments and landscapes

	• 
	• 
	• 

	describe how the natural world has impacted on people and their environments in the past and present 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	express their feelings about the natural world.


	Progression step 3
	Learners need to experience:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	outdoor learning, which includes exploration and first-hand experiences of places, environments and landscapes, to help them understand how the natural world works (this should include the learner’s own locality) 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to develop a curiosity about and an appreciation of the natural world 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to experience a sense of awe and wonder, and to reflect upon the natural world and their connection to it. 


	Learners need to know how to and be able to: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	show understanding of the physical features of places, environments and landscapes in Wales and the wider world 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	use annotated maps and diagrams when appropriate

	• 
	• 
	• 

	create simple maps and utilise a variety of map skills to accurately locate places, environments and landscapes, using digital and other methods 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	describe the distribution and changing patterns of places, spaces and environments over time, using appropriate digital and other map skills  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	identify significant past events and describe how they have changed places, environments and landscapes 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	identify how the natural world has impacted on humans in the past and present in both positive and negative ways  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	explain how physical processes have contributed to the formation of physical landscapes  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	describe what sustainability means in a variety of contexts, such as how our actions may lead to the creation of threatened environments if we do not live in a sustainable way in Wales and the wider world 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	describe a range of religious and non-religious beliefs about the natural world and how these could influence the way people form beliefs and interact with the world  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	describe religious and non-religious beliefs about the interconnection between humans and the environment, and about human responsibility for the natural world  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	communicate their feelings and viewpoints about their interactions with the natural world.


	Progression step 4
	Learners need to experience:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	outdoor learning, which includes exploration and first-hand experiences of places, environments and landscapes, to help them understand how the natural world works (this should include the learner’s own locality)

	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to develop a curiosity about and an appreciation of the natural world 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to experience a sense awe and wonder, and to reflect upon the natural world and their connection to it. 


	Learners need to know: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	about a range of themes and concepts, including agricultural and industrial change, climate change, consumerism, economic and environmental sustainability, employment, nature, natural hazards and disasters, migration, myths, legends and stories, pilgrimage, pollution, population, resource scarcity, sacred places, settlements, trade, war and conflict 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	about the impact of businesses and of people’s actions as producers and consumers on the natural world

	• 
	• 
	• 

	about the influence of political groups and institutions on the natural world

	• 
	• 
	• 

	the causes and effects of physical processes that shape places, environments and landscapes

	• 
	• 
	• 

	the causes and effects of change to places, environments, landscapes and people over time, including economic, political, technological and social factors

	• 
	• 
	• 

	that a range of physical processes interact to develop distinctive landscapes at a rangeof scales
	 


	• 
	• 
	• 

	about sustainability in the context of strategies to reduce the risk and impact of physical processes on people and their environment

	• 
	• 
	• 

	about a variety of factors that have and continue to have a positive and negative impact on the environment in Wales and the wider world.


	Learners need to know how to and be able to: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	give detailed descriptions of place, environments and landscapes, including distinctive features and landforms, and type and nature of human communities 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	create and utilise a variety of maps, using their map skills to accurately locate places, environments and landscapes, and exploiting digital and other methods, including geographical information systems

	• 
	• 
	• 

	describe and explain patterns and reasons for changes in spatial distribution of settlements and features, such as migration, population or industrialisation

	• 
	• 
	• 

	explain a range of religious and non-religious practices associated with significant spaces, places and phenomena in the natural world  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	describe some religious and non-religious world views about the concepts of Ultimate Reality, the nature of life and death, and beliefs about life after death

	• 
	• 
	• 

	describe religious and non-religious world views about change, cause and effect, and the interconnection between humans and the natural world  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	explain how a range of world views inform opinions about the sustainability of the world, including religious and non-religious world views 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	explore a range of beliefs, ethics and philosophies about the natural world and how they influence people’s interactions with the world 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	articulate their experiences and appreciation of interacting with the natural world and the effect this has had upon them  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	use annotated maps and diagrams appropriately 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	explore a range of local environments and experience opportunities to develop their curiosity about and appreciation of them.


	Progression step 5
	Learners need to experience:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	outdoor learning, which includes exploration and first-hand experiences of places, environments and landscapes, to help them understand how the natural world works (this should include the learner’s own locality) 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to develop a curiosity about and an appreciation of the natural world 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to experience a sense of awe and wonder, and to reflect upon the natural world and their connection to it. 


	Learners need to know: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	about a range of themes and concepts, including agricultural and industrial change, climate change, consumerism, economic and environmental sustainability, employment, nature, natural hazards and disasters, migration, myths, legends and stories, pilgrimage, pollution, population, resource scarcity, sacred places, settlements, trade, war and conflict 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	about the impact of businesses and of people’s actions as producers and consumers on the natural world

	• 
	• 
	• 

	about the influence of political groups and institutions on the natural world

	• 
	• 
	• 

	the concept of sustainability in the context of strategies to reduce the risk and impact of physical processes on people and their environment, such as the way governments, businesses and other organisations respond to environmental issues

	• 
	• 
	• 

	about a range of religious and non-religious beliefs, teachings and practices associated with significant spaces, places and phenomena in the natural world

	• 
	• 
	• 

	about religious and non-religious world views about change, cause and effect regarding the natural world, which may include ideas about interconnectedness and dependent origination

	• 
	• 
	• 

	about the positive and negative impacts of humans on the natural world in the past and present, in Wales and the wider world

	• 
	• 
	• 

	about the impact of the natural world on humans, in the past and present, in Wales and the wider world.


	Learners need to know how to and be able to: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	give comprehensive descriptions and explanations of place, environments and landscapes, including distinctive features and landforms, and type and nature of human communities  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	create, utilise and evaluate the appropriateness of a variety of complex maps and use their map skills to accurately locate places, environments and landscapes, through methods which include sophisticated digital geographical information systems  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	evaluate the suitability of digital and other methods used to locate spatial patterns of distribution  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	explain the causes of distinctive patterns of distribution, at different scales, of features in the natural world 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	describe the distribution and changing patterns of places, spaces and environments over time and the connections between them

	• 
	• 
	• 

	describe and explain the development of a range of physical features, environments and landscapes in Wales and the wider world  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	explain that a range of physical processes interact to shape distinctive landforms at a range of different scales 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	develop a critical understanding of the impact of human actions on a range of places, environments and landscapes 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	critically evaluate a range of strategies to reduce the risk and impact of physical processes on people and their environment  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	explain how human actions may lead to the creation of threatened environments if we do not live in a sustainable way  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	critically evaluate a variety of factors that have and continue to have an impact on the environment in Wales and the wider world, such as climate change and the consequences of living in an unsustainable way  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	evaluate the causes and effects of change to places, environments, landscapes and people over time, including economic, business, political, technological and social factors, having an understanding of how these link to sustainability

	• 
	• 
	• 

	evaluate a range of religious and non-religious world views about the concepts of Ultimate Reality, the nature of life and death, and beliefs about life after death 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	evaluate a range of religious and non-religious beliefs, ethics and philosophies about change, cause and effect, and the interconnection between human experience, behaviour and the natural world, taking into account how they influence people’s interactions with it

	• 
	• 
	• 

	explain how a range of world views inform opinions about the sustainability of the world, including religious and non-religious world views  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	explain and assess the significance of historical changes and events on the natural world 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	explore a range of environments and experience opportunities to develop their curiosity about and appreciation of them 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	articulate their experiences of interacting with the natural world and the effect this has had upon them.


	WHAT MATTERS INHUMANITIES
	 

	Human societies are complex and diverse,and shaped by human actions and beliefs.
	 

	An appreciation of identity, heritage and cynefin can influence learners emotionally and spiritually and help build a sense of self and of belonging. Through an understanding of themselves, learners develop their own identity and an awareness of how they, as individuals, can shape the communities in which they live. Consequently, learners will come to realise that the choices we all make, individually and collectively, can have major impacts.  
	Learners will develop an understanding of the complex, pluralistic and diverse nature of societies in Wales and the wider world. Over time, these societies have evolved, experiencing continuity and change that has affected, and continues to affect, their own and other people’s lives. This evolution is driven by the interplay between a range of factors, including human actions and beliefs, and physical forces. Humanities builds an understanding of the causes, consequences and significance of the changes and 
	Humanities encourages a critical understanding of how societies in Wales and the wider world are organised, structured and led. Societies are characterised by a range of cultural, economic, legal and political norms and values. They are also dynamic, both driving and reacting to changes on a local, national and global scale. Learners will explore the connections between such societies in the past and present. They will also be encouraged to explore – and develop a tolerant and empathetic understanding of – 
	Learning
	Principles of progression
	Principles of progression are the basis on which the achievement outcomes have been developed and should guide the progression of learning within the area of learning and experience.
	This area of learning and experience will help learners gain:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	increased sophistication of conceptual understanding, whereby learners see beyond a list of facts and engage with those ideas that underpin the disciplines that make up Humanities, and how these interrelate in different contexts

	• 
	• 
	• 

	increased depth of knowledge, characterised by linking new learning to existing knowledge, developing a more sophisticated understanding and resolving the conflicts that can emerge from different points of view  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	an ability to work with an increasing number of more sophisticated sources of information

	• 
	• 
	• 

	more sophisticated use of relevant skills, including appropriate use of subject-specific terminology 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	increasing independence and self-regulation.


	Progression step 1
	Achievement outcomes
	I can sequence events that happened over a short period of time to show I understand that some things change over time. 
	I can identify special times, events and traditions in my community and in the wider world. 
	I can identify significant events that have happened to me in the past.
	I can show an awareness of who I am and that I am similar and different to others. 
	I can talk about similarities and differences between people in my community.
	I can show an awareness that I am part of different communities.
	Progression step 2
	Achievement outcomes
	I can sequence events and understand that the past can be divided into periods of time.  
	I can recognise similarities and differences between people’s lives in both the past and present.
	I can identify aspects of my community, and how some of them may have been different inthe past.
	 

	I can identify some causes and consequences of events and changes in the past and present.
	I can recognise some factors that contribute to my identity and the ways I am similar and different to others. 
	I can describe special times, events, traditions and people in my community and in the wider world, and can explain their importance.
	I can understand that societies in Wales and the wider world are made up of diverse groups of people. 
	I can show an awareness of the different beliefs that people have. 
	I can recognise the importance of the different rules, roles and responsibilities within the various communities to which I belong.
	Progression step 3
	Achievement outcomes
	I can use scaled timelines to order events, and use these to describe how societies have changed or stayed the same over time in Wales and the wider world. 
	I can use common terms to describe periods and passage of time.
	I can link and order multiple causes or consequences of significant events.
	I can demonstrate that the consequences of decisions and events can be both positive and negative. 
	I am aware of my identity and respect that others have a different identity.
	I can recognise some factors that contribute to my identity and appreciate the ways I am similar and different to others. 
	I can explain the importance of special times, events and traditions in my community and in the wider world, and can communicate my feelings about them. 
	I can understand that different experiences, religions, world views, beliefs and practices contribute to the diverse societies in Wales and the wider world. 
	I can understand the diversity of cultures and societies that exist beyond my own experience, and appreciate the importance of language, beliefs and values in the formation of cultural identities.
	I can respond sensitively to ideas about communities and cultures.
	Progression step 4
	Achievement outcomes
	I can use my understanding of chronology to explain and analyse how different societies have changed or stayed the same over time in Wales and the wider world.
	I can identify significant turning points that influence change in society and explain how these can have positive and negative effects on people’s lives.
	I can categorise and explain causes and consequences of past events, recognising the complex and contested nature of explanation. 
	I can explain ways in which my own and others’ identity is expressed, 
	I can explain the impact that the actions and decisions of those in positions of authority and power can have on people’s lives.
	I can understand that there are tensions within communities and societies, and I can respond sensitively when discussing them.
	I can explain and evaluate people’s contributions to Welsh society and the wider world.
	I can understand that past human behaviour and relationships influence cultural diversity.
	I can explain ways in which diverse communities can live together cooperatively for the common good.
	I can make meaningful connections and comparisons between societies.
	Progression step 5
	Achievement outcomes
	I can use my detailed understanding of the nature and extent of change and continuity over an extended period of time to critically analyse how cultures have adapted and changed.
	I can compare and contrast significant turning points, using various criteria that examine the positive and negative on people’s lives.
	I can analyse and explain how various causal factors interrelate over a range of time scales, and how the significance of these factors may be contested.  
	I can analyse and explain the significance and consequences of changes in a range of societies in the past and present. 
	I can explain the complex nature of my own and others’ identity, how these identities are formed and how they impact on people’s behaviour.
	I can critically analyse a range of complex similarities and differences between diverse societies in the past and present, including through reference to geographical location, culture, religion, politics, world views and the economy. 
	I can evaluate the significance of the relationships between a wide range of societies,their connections and interdependencies. 
	 

	I can explain the causes and nature of inequalities between and within societies.
	Planning for learning
	Links within this area of learning and experience
	This section suggests where learning can be enriched through drawing links between other what matters statements across the Humanities Area of Learning and Experience. It also suggests where different elements of learning could be considered together in order to support more holistic learning. 
	Developing an enquiring mind enables learners to explore and investigate the world, past, present and future, for themselves.
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Enquiries focusing on how societies are diverse and plural.  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Enquiries focusing on social sameness and difference.  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Enquiries focusing on change and continuity.   


	Events and human experiences are complex, and are perceived, interpreted and represented in different ways.
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Historical interpretations.  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Interpretations linked to political ideologies.  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Interpretations linked to religions and world views.  


	Our natural world is diverse and dynamic, influenced by physical processes andhuman actions. 
	 

	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	The relative impact of different societies at different times on the natural world.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	How the natural world has impacted upon the evolution of human societies and contributed towards change.


	Informed, self-aware citizens engage with the challenges and opportunities that face humanity, and are able to take considered, ethical and sustainable action. 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Justice and fairness in societies. 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Economic development of societies.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Political structures in societies.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	The nature of citizenship.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Social roles and responsibilities.


	Links with other areas of learning and experience
	This section suggests where learning can be enriched through drawing links between other what matters statements across all the areas of learning and experience. It also suggests where different elements of learning could be considered together in order to support more holistic learning.
	Expressive Arts
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	The importance of expressive arts in shaping culture and societies in the past and present.  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Explore the arts from various times, cultures and societies. 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Explore our own and other cultures.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	The role of expressive arts as a media for expression of interpretations and representations. 


	Health and Well-being
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Social values and norms in societies.  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Social influences on individuals. 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	How individuals perceive and interpret events and experiences in different ways.   


	Languages, Literacy and Communication 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Literature from a range of cultures and societies.  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	The influence of literature in shaping culture in societies.  


	Mathematics and Numeracy
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Data to illustrate social differences and inequalities.  


	Science and Technology
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	The role of digital technology in modern societies.  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	The influence of science and technology on economies of different societies now and in the past.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	The influence of inventions and discoveries on the evolution of human societies.


	Experiences, knowledge and skills
	In this what matters statement, learners should have opportunities to explore concepts including chronology, change and continuity, diversity, cause and effect, interconnectedness, community, identity and belonging, authority and governance.
	Progression step 1
	Learners need to experience:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to explore and observe aspects of the communities they are a part of, such as their classroom, school, family and local area, through stories, celebrations, objects, events and traditions, and to communicate their feelings about them

	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to explore and appreciate key celebrations, traditions and ways of life in Wales and the wider world 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	outdoor learning and opportunities to visit museums; historical sites; places of political, religious or spiritual significance; geographical features or sites; and businesses or retailers.


	Learners should be able to:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	use simple timelines to sequence events that they are familiar with over a short timescale, and use appropriate key words to estimate, measure and describe the passage of time

	• 
	• 
	• 

	recognise themselves and familiar people

	• 
	• 
	• 

	observe and explore aspects of their community and local area

	• 
	• 
	• 

	recall and communicate information about events in their lives

	• 
	• 
	• 

	identify some of the ways that children and young people in the past have had different lives to them.


	Progression step 2
	Learners need to experience:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to explore and observe aspects of the communities they are a part of, such as their classroom, school, family and local area, through stories, celebrations, objects, events and traditions, and to communicate their feelings about them

	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to explore and appreciate key celebrations, traditions and ways of life in Wales and the wider world 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to use digital technology to participate in virtual visits and to communicate with a range of people in a global community

	• 
	• 
	• 

	outdoor learning and opportunities to visit museums; historical sites; places of political, religious or spiritual significance; geographical features or sites; and businesses or retailers.


	Learners should know: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	that there are some features which are characteristic of certain periods in history  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	the similarities and differences between the way people live and have lived in different times and different places, including a specific understanding of how children and young people in the past may have had different lives from children and young people today.


	Learners should know how to and be able to:  
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	show an awareness of time and of change over time, and use common terms for the passing of time 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	sequence events and show an understanding that the past can be divided into periods of time

	• 
	• 
	• 

	recall and communicate information about events in their lives or the lives of others

	• 
	• 
	• 

	compare and contrast aspects of their lives with a time in the past or people in a different place.


	Progression step 3
	Learners need to experience:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to explore and engage with their communities and beyond, through stories, celebrations, objects, events and traditions, and to communicate their feelings about them

	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to explore and engage with key celebrations, traditions and ways of life inWales and the wider world 
	 


	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to use digital technology to participate in virtual visits and to communicatewith a range of people in a global community
	 


	• 
	• 
	• 

	outdoor learning and opportunities to visit museums; historical sites; places of political, religious or spiritual significance; geographical features or sites; and businesses or retailers.


	Learners should know:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	about the history and diversity of the communities of which they are part 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	that societies are diverse and change over time, and that these changes can be positiveand negative for different groups and in different situations
	 


	• 
	• 
	• 

	that societies have been and continue to be organised and led in different ways 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	how people’s lives differ within societies, and in different places and at different times,and be able to give reasons for these differences 
	 


	• 
	• 
	• 

	about ways in which diverse communities can live together cooperatively for thecommon good
	 


	• 
	• 
	• 

	about ways in which commitment and identity are expressed 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	how businesses and economies have been shaped and changed over time, and theimpact they have had on societies
	 


	• 
	• 
	• 

	the main causes and effects of changes in societies past and present 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	about a variety of individuals and groups of people, both celebrated and less well known,who have had an impact on societies 
	 


	• 
	• 
	• 

	that not everyone shares the same beliefs and that this can cause conflict and disagreement.


	Learners should know how to and be able to:  
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	develop a chronological map of the past and compare and contrast characteristic features of different periods

	• 
	• 
	• 

	recognise the impact of different religions and world views on societies in the past and present

	• 
	• 
	• 

	respond sensitively to ideas about communities and cultures. 


	Progression step 4
	Learners need to experience:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to explore and engage with their communities and beyond, through stories, celebrations, objects, events and traditions, and to communicate their feelings about them

	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to explore and engage with key celebrations, traditions and ways of life in Wales and the wider world 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to use digital technology to participate in virtual visits and to communicate with a range of people in a global community

	• 
	• 
	• 

	outdoor learning and opportunities to visit museums; historical sites; places of political, religious or spiritual significance; geographical features or sites; and businesses or retailers.


	Learners need to know: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	about the history and diversity of the communities and societies of which they are part

	• 
	• 
	• 

	the variety of ways in which societies are and have been organised and governed 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	connections and comparisons between periods of time in order to develop a chronological map of the past 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	how and why societies and people’s lives have changed or stayed the same, and be able to explain and make judgements about the significance of change and continuity 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	about the diverse nature of religions and world views, beliefs, practices and customs in different societies, and their impact

	• 
	• 
	• 

	how and why people’s lives differ within societies and in different places and at different times, including a focus on the lives, experiences and beliefs of ordinary people in a range of different societies at different times 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	the causes, effects and nature of a range of changes in societies

	• 
	• 
	• 

	about a range of ways in which diverse communities can live together cooperatively for the common good

	• 
	• 
	• 

	about ways in which commitment and identity are expressed

	• 
	• 
	• 

	about people and groups of people who have had an impact on societies 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	about the diverse nature of societies, including about their beliefs, practices and customs; cultural institutions; ethnicity; equality and inequality; justice; religion and world views; rights; migration; population; religious, political, social, cultural, business, community and charity figures of all genders and orientations; social, political and economic ideologies, organisations and structures 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	about the nature and extent of change over time, including about changing political systems and leadership, along with democracy and devolution; industrial and agricultural change; innovation and technological development; invasion, protest and rebellion; peace and conflict; population change and migration; trade.


	Learners should be able to:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	describe and explain characteristics of a range of different societies, including their similarities and differences, both in the past and present, in Wales, the United Kingdom, Europe and other parts of the world

	• 
	• 
	• 

	respond sensitively and insightfully to ideas about communities and cultures, including unity and plurality within and across religions, world views and politics.


	Progression step 5
	Learners need to experience:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to explore and engage with their communities and beyond, through stories, celebrations, objects, events and traditions, and to communicate their feelings about them

	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to explore and engage with key celebrations, traditions and ways of life in Wales and the wider world 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to use digital technology to participate in virtual visits and to communicate with a range of people in a global community

	• 
	• 
	• 

	outdoor learning and opportunities to visit museums; historical sites; places of political, religious or spiritual significance; geographical features or sites; and businesses or retailers.


	Learners need to know: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	about the history and diversity of the communities of which they are part

	• 
	• 
	• 

	about ways in which commitment and identity are expressed within a wide range of societies and cultures

	• 
	• 
	• 

	the similarities and differences between societies in the past and present in Wales, the United Kingdom, Europe and in other parts of the world 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	how and why people’s lives differ in different places and at different times, ensuring a focus on the lives, experiences and beliefs of ordinary people in a range of different societies at different times, including those who may traditionally have been under-represented in the study of the Humanities

	• 
	• 
	• 

	about the diverse nature of societies, including about their beliefs, practices and customs; cultural institutions; ethnicity; equality and inequality; justice; religion and world views; rights; migration; population; religious, political, social, cultural, business, community and charity figures of all genders and orientations; social, political and economic ideologies, organisations and structures 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	about the nature and extent of change over time, including about changing political systems and leadership, along with democracy and devolution; industrial and agricultural change; innovation and technological development; invasion, protest and rebellion; peace and conflict; population change and migration; trade.


	Learners need to know how to and be able to: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	use an increasingly detailed chronological map or framework to make meaningful connections and comparisons between characteristics of different periods of time, which will allow learners to recognise the dynamics of continuity and change over periods of varying lengths, and relate patterns and trends to larger historical processes

	• 
	• 
	• 

	analyse and evaluate causes and consequences of decisions and events, and of change and continuity, including economic, political, technological, religious and non-religious world views, cultural and social factors 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	critically analyse a range of ways in which diverse communities can live together co-operatively for the common good 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	respond sensitively and insightfully to religious and non-religious world views about society, communities and cultures, and understand how these can be interpreted in different times, cultures and places.


	WHAT MATTERS INHUMANITIES
	 

	Informed, self-aware citizens engage withthe challenges and opportunities that facehumanity, and are able to take considered,ethical and sustainable action.
	 
	 
	 

	Learners will develop an understanding of their roles as citizens and the importance of creating a just and sustainable future for themselves and their communities in an interconnected world. It encourages learners to be active, informed, and responsible citizens, who are able to identify with and contribute to their local, national and global communities, now and in their future lives.  
	Humanities will invite learners to identify and engage with past, contemporary and anticipated challenges and opportunities facing themselves, their local community, Wales and the wider world. They will also come to understand the nature of economic, environmental and social sustainability, justice, interconnectedness and authority, and realise the significance of living in and contributing to a fairer and more inclusive society. Learners will develop not only an awareness of their own rights, but also of t
	Questioning and evaluating existing responses to challenges and opportunities will help learners develop as self-aware, informed, ethical global citizens who critically reflect on their own beliefs and values. They will be able to consider the impact of their actions when making choices and exercising their democratic rights and responsibilities. Learners will also be able to justify their decisions when acting socially, politically, economically and entrepreneurially. This will enable learners to take comm
	Learning
	Principles of progression
	Principles of progression are the basis on which the achievement outcomes have been developed and should guide the progression of learning within the area of learning and experience.
	This area of learning and experience will help learners gain:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	increased sophistication of conceptual understanding, whereby learners see beyond a list of facts and engage with those ideas that underpin the disciplines that make up Humanities, and how these interrelate in different contexts

	• 
	• 
	• 

	increased depth of knowledge, characterised by linking new learning to existing knowledge, developing a more sophisticated understanding and resolving the conflicts that can emerge from different points of view  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	an ability to work with an increasing number of more sophisticated sources of information

	• 
	• 
	• 

	more sophisticated use of relevant skills, including appropriate use of subject-specific terminology 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	increasing independence and self-regulation.


	Progression step 1
	Achievement outcomes
	I can recognise basic morals and rules in communities that are familiar to me. 
	I can recognise that my actions and those of others have consequences. 
	I can show some awareness of challenges and opportunities faced by myself, my familyand friends.
	 

	I can take care of the environment and other people in a variety of ways.
	Progression step 2
	Achievement outcomes
	I can describe basic morals and rules in a range of contexts.  
	I can describe the positive and negative effect of my actions and those of others.  
	I can talk about challenges and opportunities faced by myself, people in Wales and the wider world, and describe how people respond to them.
	I can understand the difference between wants, needs and rights.  
	I can recognise some ways that I and others have a positive and negative impact on the environment and a range of communities.
	I can recognise how responding to challenges and opportunities can be of benefit to me and others.
	I have developed enterprising attitudes and skills when responding to a variety of challenges and opportunities.
	I have been part of a group engaged in responsible social action, in my local community, to effect positive change.
	Progression step 3
	Achievement outcomes
	I can recognise that people have the same rights, but that some are not treated equally and that there are organisations that campaign on their behalf.
	I can understand how people’s behaviour, actions and decisions are influenced by their viewpoint.
	I can understand the consequences of my actions, and the actions of others, and how these affect local, national and global issues. 
	I can identify how challenges and opportunities can link different people and countries.
	I can understand the causes and effects of past, contemporary and anticipated challenges and opportunities in a variety of contexts, and the responses to them.  
	I can describe the potential impact of my actions on myself and future generations.
	I have planned and taken an active role as a responsible citizen, in response to challenges and opportunities within my local community, Wales or the wider world.  
	I have been part of a group engaged in responsible social action, in my local community or in Wales, to effect positive change.
	Progression step 4
	Achievement outcomes
	I can understand the causes and consequences of injustice and inequality.
	I can explain the impacts of decisions made at local, national or global levels on people and the environment.
	I can explain how people’s different beliefs and experiences impact upon moral and ethical decision-making.
	I can explain the connections between past, contemporary and anticipated challenges and opportunities faced by people in Wales and the wider world.
	I can explain the importance of current human rights issues and movements in Wales and the wider world, and the importance of individuals, organisations and societies in protecting or denying people’s rights.
	I have identified, planned and taken action as a responsible citizen in my local community, or in Wales or the wider world, to effect positive change, individually or collaboratively.
	I can assess the impact and evaluate the effectiveness of my actions on myself and future generations, suggesting improvements.
	I can understand that when I take social action it benefits my self-development as well as benefiting other people.
	Progression step 5
	Achievement outcomes
	I can analyse the underlying causes of injustice and inequality and how governments andnon-government organisations respond to them.
	 

	I can use disciplinary lenses when exploring challenges and opportunities faced by people in Wales and the wider world.
	I can evaluate other people’s viewpoints and responses to past, contemporary and anticipated challenges and opportunities, understanding the impact that they may have on moral and ethical decision-making.
	I can synthesise a range of responses to complex challenges and opportunities, to form an independent, coherent and substantiated conclusion.
	I can evaluate the underlying causes of current human rights issues and movements in Wales and the wider world, and the various factors that undermine or support people’s rights.
	I can utilise the skills needed to contribute effectively to the world of work and my anticipated career path for the future.
	I have taken an active role in raising awareness of challenges and opportunities locally, nationally or globally.
	I can identify, plan, take action and evaluate the role I play as a responsible citizen in my local and wider community, Wales and the wider world, individually or collaboratively.
	I can evaluate the impact and effectiveness of my actions and the actions of others, identify specific strengths and weaknesses, and plan strategic improvements.
	I can critically evaluate how my own beliefs and actions contribute to my role as an ethical, informed citizen and the benefit this has upon me and my self-development.
	Planning for learning
	Links within this area of learning and experience
	This section suggests where learning can be enriched through drawing links between other what matters statements across the Humanities Area of Learning and Experience. It also suggests where different elements of learning could be considered together in order to support more holistic learning.
	Developing an enquiring mind enables learners to explore and investigate the world, past, present and future, for themselves.
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Enquiries focused on developing understanding of challenges and opportunities facing humanity.  


	Events and human experiences are complex, and are perceived, interpreted and represented in different ways.
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	An individual’s view of their own role and responsibility as a citizen.  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Differing interpretations of the key challenges and opportunities facing humanity. 


	Our natural world is diverse and dynamic, influenced by physical processes andhuman actions. 
	 

	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Environmental challenges facing humanity, including climate change.  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	An individual’s role and responsibility in environmental protection.  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	The impact of actions on the environment. 


	Human societies are complex and diverse, and shaped by human actions and beliefs.
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Justice and fairness in societies. 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Economic development of societies.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Political structures in societies.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	The nature of citizenship.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Social roles and responsibilities.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Impact of actions on society. 


	Links with other areas of learning and experience
	This section suggests where learning can be enriched through drawing links between other what matters statements across all the areas of learning and experience. It also suggests where different elements of learning could be considered together in order to support more holistic learning.
	Expressive Arts
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Ways of expressing and representing the themes of rights, respect, equality and justice through Expressive Arts.


	Health and Well-being
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	The importance of decision-making to support ethical and sustainable responses to challenges and opportunities.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Recognising appropriate behaviours in different situations.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Responding sensitively to the needs of others.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Developing relationships to support citizenship.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Social influences and citizenship.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Understanding rights, respect and equity.


	Languages, Literacy and Communication 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	Discussion of social issues.


	Mathematics and Numeracy
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	An individual’s economic role, including being financially literate.


	Science and Technology
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	The scientific, technological and digital challenges facing humanity. 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Potential scientific and technological solutions to the challenges facing humanity. 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	Digital interdependence.

	• 
	• 
	• 

	The digital economy.


	Experiences, knowledge and skills
	In this what matters statement, learners should explore concepts including economic, environmental and social sustainability; citizenship; power and authority; interconnectedness; justice and equality; rights; and social action and responsibility.
	Progression step 1
	Learners need to experience:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to discuss and engage with challenges and opportunities in their locality, Wales or the wider world

	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to plan and participate in social action in response to challenges and opportunities locally, nationally and globally 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to demonstrate care, responsibility, concern and respect when considering the challenges and opportunities that face humanity, including the sustainability of the planet 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to develop a sense of empathy with people on a local, national or global scale 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to engage with local groups, organisations and businesses. 


	Learners need to know:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	the concepts of right and wrong and of fair and unfair in a familiar context

	• 
	• 
	• 

	that other people’s actions can have an impact on them and that their actions also impact on others

	• 
	• 
	• 

	some of the challenges and opportunities facing themselves and their communities.


	Learners need to know how to and be able to:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	participate in actions and events in response to challenges and opportunities in their immediate environment.


	Progression step 2
	Learners need to experience:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to discuss and engage with challenges and opportunities in their locality, Wales or the wider world

	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to plan and participate in social action in response to challenges and opportunities locally, nationally and globally

	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to demonstrate care, responsibility, concern and respect when considering the challenges and opportunities that face humanity, including the sustainability of the planet 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to develop a sense of empathy with people on a local, national or global scale  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to engage with local groups, organisations and businesses 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to be enterprising and develop entrepreneurial skills. 


	Learners need to know:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	the importance of the rules, roles and responsibilities in the various communities that they belong to

	• 
	• 
	• 

	what is right and wrong and what fairness means in a range of contexts 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	that their actions and the actions of others can impact positively and negatively on other people and the environment

	• 
	• 
	• 

	that the actions of people and groups in the past have led to changes in people’s lives 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	the challenges and opportunities facing themselves, Wales and the wider world  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	the difference between wants, needs and rights, and how needs might inform people’s rights 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	that children have rights and that these are set out in the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC)

	• 
	• 
	• 

	the importance of respecting the rights of others

	• 
	• 
	• 

	sustainable and unsustainable responses to challenges and opportunities, including how ethical trading and the work of organisations and charities can have an impact on themselves and communities, and how people damage or improve the environment in different ways. 


	Learners should know how to and be able to:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	develop enterprising attitudes and skills through participating in events in their locality

	• 
	• 
	• 

	participate in social action in response to challenges and opportunities in their locality.


	Progression step 3
	Learners need to experience:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to discuss and respond to past, contemporary and anticipated challenges and opportunities in Wales and the wider world 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to plan and participate in social action in response to challenges and opportunities locally, nationally and globally 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to demonstrate care, responsibility, concern and respect when considering the challenges and opportunities that face humanity, including the sustainability of the planet 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to develop a sense of empathy with people on a local, national or global scale, and understand the impacts of inequality and injustice

	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to engage with groups, organisations and businesses when planning and taking social action 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	exploring local, national and international groups, organisations and businesses and the ways they are responsible for and respond to the challenges and opportunities faced by their locality, Wales and the wider world 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to be enterprising and develop entrepreneurial skills.


	Learners need to know: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	the concepts of fairness and equality

	• 
	• 
	• 

	the difference between wants, needs and rights, and how needs might inform human rights

	• 
	• 
	• 

	that children have human rights and that these are set out in the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC)

	• 
	• 
	• 

	the importance of respecting the rights of others 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	the challenges to human rights on a local, national and global scale in the past and present

	• 
	• 
	• 

	the work of organisations campaigning for equality for all and for human rights

	• 
	• 
	• 

	the impact of their own and others’ actions, which can have local, national and global consequences, such as the way consumer actions can affect the environment and people’s quality of life   

	• 
	• 
	• 

	their responsibility for the environment, including how their own and others’ lifestyles impact on the planet and on other people  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	the influence of people’s viewpoints on their behaviour, actions and decisions  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	how challenges and opportunities facing Wales and the wider world may be linked to other people and places 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	the causes of past, contemporary and anticipated challenges and opportunities 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	the significance of past and contemporary challenges and opportunities 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	the different ways in which social change has been effected in the past 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	about consequences of the sustainable and unsustainable ways in which people respond to challenges and opportunities, including the benefits and drawbacks of ethical trading and the work of organisations and charities  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	societal, political, economic and environmental sustainability, and the importance of sustainable relationships for the future 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	about some beliefs, teachings and practices that influence social action.


	Learners need to know how to and be able to:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	develop enterprising attitudes and skills through planning and participating in events in their local community

	• 
	• 
	• 

	plan and participate in social action in response to challenges and opportunities on a local, national or global scale.


	Progression step 4
	Learners need to experience:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to discuss and respond to past, contemporary and anticipated challenges and opportunities in Wales and the wider world 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to plan and participate in social action in response to challenges and opportunities locally, nationally and globally 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to demonstrate care, responsibility, concern and respect when considering the challenges and opportunities that face humanity, including the sustainability of the planet 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to develop a sense of empathy with people on a local, national or global scale and to understand the impacts of inequality and injustice (from Progression step 3 onwards) 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to engage with groups, organisations and businesses when planning and taking social action  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	exploring local, national and international groups, organisations and businesses and the ways they are responsible for and respond to the challenges and opportunities faced by their locality, Wales and the wider world 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to be enterprising and develop entrepreneurial skills.


	Learners need to know: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	the different contexts in which inequality can exist, such as in gender, sexuality and race contexts  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	the difference between injustice and inequality  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	the causes and consequences of injustice and inequality  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	the importance of diversity and how diversity shouldn’t result in injustice or inequality

	• 
	• 
	• 

	about human rights, including that children have human rights and that these are set out in the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC)

	• 
	• 
	• 

	the importance of respecting the rights of others  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	the challenges to human rights on a local, national and global scale in the past and present

	• 
	• 
	• 

	a range of ways in which social change has been effected in the past, and how these changes have impacted on people’s lives

	• 
	• 
	• 

	the interconnections between challenges and opportunities facing themselves, Wales and the wider world  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	that causes and consequences of past, contemporary and anticipated challenges and opportunities can be influenced by ethical and moral judgements and viewpoints  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	the power and authority of local, national, and global governance, and of non-government organisations, such as in environmental issues and in protecting or denying human rights  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	the use and misuse of power, including conflict, democracy, the imbalance of power between rich and poor countries, the significance of national and international organisations  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	the changing local, national and international economies, including how technology can have economic impact  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	their own and others’ environmental role and responsibility in creating a sustainable future 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	about the beliefs, teachings and practices that influence social action. 


	Learners need to know how to and be able to:  
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	utilise their enterprising attitudes and skills through planning and participating in a rangeof events
	 


	• 
	• 
	• 

	plan, participate in and evaluate their social action in response to challenges and opportunities locally, nationally and globally.


	Progression step 5
	Learners need to experience:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to discuss and respond to past, contemporary and anticipated challenges and opportunities in Wales and the wider world 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to plan and participate in social action in response to challenges and opportunities locally, nationally and globally 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to demonstrate care, responsibility, concern and respect when considering the challenges and opportunities that face humanity, including the sustainability of the planet

	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to develop a sense of empathy with people on a local, national or global scale, and to understand the impacts of inequality and injustice 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to engage with groups, organisations and businesses when planning and taking social action  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	exploring local, national and international groups, organisations and businesses and the ways they are responsible for and respond to the challenges and opportunities faced by their locality, Wales and the wider world 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	opportunities to be enterprising and develop entrepreneurial skills. 


	Learners need to know: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	the underlying causes of poverty and inequality and how they relate to policies, power and systems  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	the differing views on poverty, inequality and injustice 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	the consequences of national and international initiatives to tackle poverty and inequality 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	the underlying causes of past and contemporary human and children’s rights violations, and the political, legal, socio-cultural, religious and economic factors that support or undermine human rights in Wales and the wider world 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	about human rights, including that children have human rights and that these are set out in the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC)

	• 
	• 
	• 

	the challenges to human rights on a local, national and global scale in the past and present

	• 
	• 
	• 

	the causes and nature of the challenges and opportunities facing themselves, Wales and the wider world  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	the connections between complex past, contemporary and anticipated challenges and opportunities facing themselves, Wales and the wider world 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	the range of ways in which social change has been effected in the past, and how these have led to significant impacts upon societies and communities

	• 
	• 
	• 

	the importance of the role of individuals, including themselves, and the role of groups, including governments, businesses and non-government organisations, in the creation of a sustainable future

	• 
	• 
	• 

	how individuals, groups and organisations can collaborate when responding to challenges and opportunities  

	• 
	• 
	• 

	how the expansion of power and influence of countries or organisations may impact on the cultures, attitudes and experiences of those involved 

	• 
	• 
	• 

	how they can contribute to the world of work and the economy

	• 
	• 
	• 

	how morals, ethics, religion and world views affect people’s responses to challenges and opportunities and their engagement in social action.


	Learners need to know how to and be able to: 
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	utilise their enterprising attitudes and skills through planning and participating in a wide range of events, and evaluate the effectiveness of their own role   

	• 
	• 
	• 

	utilise their social and political literacy to build a conscious understanding of their own role and their responsibilities towards others and towards the environment

	• 
	• 
	• 

	respond sensitively to diverse perspectives and cultural norms.


	GLOSSARY

	Figure
	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   02
	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   02

	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   02
	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   02

	Figure
	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   04
	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   04

	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   04
	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   04

	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   06
	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   06

	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   07
	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   07

	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   08
	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   08

	Figure
	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   11
	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   11

	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   11
	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   11

	Figure
	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   12
	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   12

	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   12
	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   12

	Figure
	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   13
	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   13

	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   13
	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   13

	Figure
	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   14
	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   14

	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   14
	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   14

	Figure
	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   15
	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   15

	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   15
	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   15

	Figure
	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   16
	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   16

	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   16
	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   16

	Figure
	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   20
	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   20

	Figure
	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   21
	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   21

	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   21
	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   21

	Figure
	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   32
	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   32

	Figure
	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   46
	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   46

	Figure
	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   58
	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   58

	Figure
	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   70
	Draft Curriculum for Wales 2022: Humanities   70





	11 RESPONSES TO THE NEW  CURRICULUM FOR WALES  2022 CONSULTATION
	12 GWYNEDD SCHOOLS SELF EVALUATIONS - SPRING TERM 2019
	SE Edmwnd Prys 01 2019
	SE Dolbadarn 02 2019

	13 GWYNEDD SCHOOLS SELF EVALUATIONS - SUMMER TERM 2019
	SE FAENOL 05 2019
	SE Brynerau 05 2019

	14 SACRE ANNUAL DRAFT  REPORT 2017-18
	15 HIGHLIGHT ISSUES FOR INFORMATION
	English WASACRE minutes Cardiff 26/03/19
	NAPIRE response to ESTYN Thematic Review
	Humanities Newsletter


